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This report marks the second year in which Consolidated Infrastructure 
Group (CIG) has undertaken its annual reporting processes in accordance 
with the requirements of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) and the 
recommendations of the King III Code of Corporate Governance in  
South Africa.

In the preparation of this integrated annual report, the management of CIG 
has made a concerted effort to include the most significant non-financial 
considerations and impacts arising from the core activities of the Group. As 
such, management is confident that this report represents an improvement 
on the Group’s 2011 integrated annual report, which covered the period 
1 September 2010 to 31 August 2011, and which was our first integrated 
report.

The report covers the period 1 September 2011 to 31 August 2012, and is 
prepared for the benefit and information of all the Group’s stakeholders, as 
identified in the stakeholder table on page 8.

The report complies with the GRI standards for a Level C integrated annual 
report. Information regarding the specific indicators covered in the report 
can be found in the GRI table that appears in the 2012 integrated report 
folder located in the Financial Archives under the Investors section on the 
CIG website as follows: www.ciglimited.co.za.

In order to verify its compliance with the GRI’s Level C reporting standard, 
as well as to test for adherence to generally accepted principles for 
effective reporting, including the GRI’s G3 Guidelines, the report has been 
subjected to a process of independent third party assurance, undertaken by 
Integrated Reporting and Assurance Services (IRAS). Within this process, 
IRAS provides assurance over the materiality of the report, in accordance 
with AccountAbility’s AA1000AS standard, and also verifies that the report 
is compliant with the GRI’s Level C standard. The assurance statement 
prepared by IRAS following this process can also be found on the CIG 
website.

THE SCOPE AND BOUNDARY OF THE REPORT
This report covers the operations of CIG in their entirety, both within South 
Africa and abroad. It includes all divisions and subsidiaries of the company, 
as illustrated in the Group structure diagram on page 4. 

In light of the fact that the majority of CIG’s revenue, profits and future 
prospects arise from activities taking place in the power and electricity 
sector, the principal focus of this report is on the activities of the Group’s 
power subsidiary, Consolidated Power Projects (Pty) Ltd (Conco). At the 
same time, however, the activities of the Group’s Building Materials division 
are, wherever relevant, included in the report.

The report includes disclosures on both the financial and non-financial 
aspects of the organisation. Financial information is reported in accordance 
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2008, the Listings Requirements 
of the JSE Limited (JSE), International Financial Reporting Standards 
and the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting 
Practices Committee, while non-financial disclosures attempt to cover the 
most material issues faced by the Group with respect to environmental 
and social sustainability as exhaustively as possible, within the constraints 
imposed by the availability or non-availability of information in these areas. 

No significant changes were made between the 2011 and 2012 integrated 
annual reports with regard to the scope, boundary, or measurement 
methods applied in the report. As mentioned above, however, this report 
includes a more comprehensive overview of the non-financial aspects of 
CIG’s operations and activities than was the case in 2011.

With regard to the availability of non-financial data, over the four years of 
its existence the Group has not collected or maintained significant amounts 
of consolidated data regarding non-financial aspects of the operations 
taking place within its subsidiary operations. As a result, in instances where 
insufficient data exists to address various quantitative indicators included in 
the GRI G3 Guidelines, the report instead focuses on relevant policies and 
practices that have been implemented within the Group and its subsidiaries, 
particularly those related to regulatory compliance in various areas. 

This report contains no re-statements of any information included in the 
Group’s 2011 integrated annual report. 

No significant changes have taken place to the size, structure or ownership 
of the Group, or to the parameters of the report, during the period under 
review. As is apparent from the financial sections of the report, however, 
the Group achieved significant growth during the 2012 financial year in 
revenue, profitability, market capitalisation and confirmed orders for 2013 
and beyond. 
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PERFORMANCE
HIGHLIGHTS

7,5%

23,0%

Revenue grew by 7,5%, from R1 445 million in 2011 to R1 554 million. Trading margins remained stable at 
28%, assisted by the increase in business from outside South Africa. 

Profit for the year improved by 23%, from R111 million to R137 million, while headline earnings improved by 
19% from R114 million to R136 million.

REVENUE / R1 554 MILLION

PROFIT / R137 MILLION
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Earnings per share of 116,5 cents and headline earnings per share of 116,1 cents represent an increase of 
19,1% and 15,5% respectively over 2011.

TENDERS AWAITING ADJUDICATION WORTH R6,1 BILLION

80,0%CONCO’S EBITDA GROUP CONTRIBUTION

The power and electricity sector continues to be the core sector for CIG, contributing 82% of the Group’s 
revenue and earnings.
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CAPABILITIES

RENEWABLES

DEVELOPMENT MANUFACTURE SERVICE OPERATIONS MAINTENANCE

CONVENTIONAL

TRANSMISSION

DISTRIBUTION

POWER

VALUE CHAIN

ABOUT  
CIG 

Consolidated Infrastructure Group is an infrastructure-focused 
holding company.

The company was initially listed on the JSE’s AltX as Buildworks 
in November 2007. The name was changed to Consolidated 
Infrastructure Group (CIG) and the listing was migrated to the 
Main Board of the JSE in September 2010.

The Group’s principal area of activity is in the power and electricity 
sector, operating under its wholly owned subsidiary, Consolidated 
Power Projects (Pty) Ltd (Conco). 

Conco is the leading provider, both in South Africa and on the 
African continent, of turnkey solutions in the power and electrical 
industry. Its core business is the development of turnkey high 
voltage substations, high voltage overhead lines, and advanced 
protection and automation systems. Within South Africa, in line 

with the Department of Energy’s Renewable Energy Independent 
Power Producers (REIPP) scheme, Conco is focused on the 
provision of these services to renewable energy projects approved 
under the scheme, particularly those in the wind industry.

CIG has a lesser exposure to the heavy building materials sector, 
through its subsidiaries Drift Supersand (Pty) Ltd (DSS or Drift 
Supersand) and West End Claybrick (Pty) Ltd (WECB or West 
End Claybrick). Together these operations comprise the Group’s 
Building Materials division. 

DSS is a Gauteng-based supplier of aggregrates (sand, gravel 
and stone) to the construction sector, in particular the road 
construction industry. WECB manufactures a range of claybricks 
and rooftiles that are distributed throughout Gauteng, the North 
West province and the Free State.

OUR MISSION 
CIG’S MISSION IS TO CREATE LONG-TERM 
SUSTAINABLE VALUE FOR SHAREHOLDERS 
AND OTHER RELEVANT STAKEHOLDERS IN 
A SOCIALLY RESPONSIBLE MANNER, WITH 
PRODUCTS AND SERVICES USED TO BUILD 
THE WORLD AROUND US.

OUR POWER VALUE CHAIN SEEKING INFRASTRUCTURE SERVICES
The Group intends to proactively pursue investment opportunities 
in the services sector although asset owning opportunities that 
present themselves will be given appropriate consideration.

SERVICES
EPC, O&M, waste

ASSETS
Up-, mid- and 
downstream

Proactive Passive

CIVIL Building Materials

POWER
Conco
Conco O&M*

OIL AND GAS AES*

MINING

TRANSPORT

TELECOM

WATER

OUR VISION 
OUR VISION IS TO BE A LEADING PROVIDER OF 
INFRASTRUCTURE-RELATED PRODUCTS AND 
SERVICES ON THE AFRICAN CONTINENT AND 
BEYOND.

READ MORE ABOUT 
OUR STRATEGY ON 
PAGES 5 AND 15

OUT OF  
FOCUS 

STRATEGIC 
FOCUS 
AREA 

* Investments in progress

•  Development, manufacturing and 
distribution are not attractive to CIG 
due to payback period, competition 
and margins; respectively

•  CIG will be an owner-operator in a 
business with clear synergies to core 
business

•  South African Renewables is the 
potential entry point for a Pan-African 
IPP footprint

Potential 
for small, 
opportunities 
acquisitions

Potential 
for small, 
opportunities 
acquisitions
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READ MORE ABOUT CIG’S OPERATIONS 
ON PAGES 10 AND 11

GROUP
OPERATIONAL
FOOTPRINT

AFRICA IS AT THE START OF A 20 – 30 YEAR 
INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT BOOM...
•  Six of the world’s ten fastest growing economies are now located in sub-

Saharan Africa.

•  Infrastructure investment is largely responsible for this acceleration in 
economic growth.

•  Across all sectors, infrastructure investments in Africa average returns of 
15% to 20%.

•  For private companies, infrastructure will be worth US$200 billion in annual 
revenue by 2020.

•  According to the 2010 ‘Doing Business’ report issued by the International 
Finance Corporation (IFC), 17 of the top 20 places to do business in Africa 
are Commonwealth countries.

Africa’s infrastructure deficit
The African urban population is set to grow from 0,4 billion in 2000 to  
1,2 billion in 2050, driving huge demand for infrastructure. Currently:

•  40% of the population lacks access to safe water and 60% lacks basic 
sanitation.

•  Only 30% of the rural population in sub-Saharan Africa has access to all-
season roads.

•  Only 30% of the African population has access to electricity.

•  Africa has the lowest telephone penetration – 14% (world average is 
52%) and the lowest internet penetration – 3% (world average is 14%).

•  Based on assessments by the Programme for Infrastructure Development 
in Africa, total infrastructure investments for Africa are estimated at 
US$360 billion up to the year 2040.

•  Even if major potential efficiency gains are captured, Africa would still 
face an infrastructure funding gap of US$31 billion a year, mainly in 
power.

A FOCUS ON AFRICA
Given the massive backlog in energy infrastructure across 
Africa, as well as the ongoing trend towards urbanisation and 
the increasing demand for the continent’s resources, CIG has 
identified the continent as a key market for Conco in particular. 

At CIG, we believe in the potential of Africa, and we have set 
ourselves a goal of playing as large a role as we can in the “African 
growth story” over the next several decades.

We see a growing trend towards African-based infrastructure 
development companies such as Conco, which can provide high 
levels of operational excellence, customer-oriented service, local 
procurement and local skills development. The diverse and often 
challenging operating environments found across the continent 
favour those companies with scalable core operating platforms 
and proven abilities to partner with local stakeholders. 

Conco’s track record and experience of operating across 
the continent for the past 18 years, including in a number of 
geographically inhospitable and politically volatile regions, place 
the company in a highly favourable position to take advantage of 
these trends. 

We also see the continuing growth and evolution of local 
companies in the countries in which we operate. These companies 
will increasingly play a pivotal role as local partners for Conco in 
the execution of its projects. 

As Africa continues to invest in its infrastructure, CIG is committed 
to playing an ongoing role in shaping the continent’s future.

CIG’s operational footprint stretches across sub-Saharan 
Africa, with plans already in place to expand into North 
Africa and the Middle East. The Building Materials division 
operates only in South Africa, while the Power division 
provides the Group’s footprint across the continent. 

Conco is the largest turnkey developer of high voltage 
electric substations in sub-Saharan Africa. Clients include 
African utilities, South African municipalities, industrial 
operations and mining houses. 

The company has operated successfully in 19 African 
countries and has from 2011 strategically targeted 50% 
of its revenue to be generated from outside South Africa.

2012 operations
Historical operations
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GROUP  
STRUCTURE 

POWER
DIVISION

100% 100%

100%

100%

BUILDING MATERIALS 
DIVISION

Conco is focused on the provision of much-needed infrastructure 
to sub-Saharan Africa, Africa and the Middle East. Because of its 
unique ability to manage all engineering requirements “in-house” 
– from design and supply through to installation, commissioning 
and project management – the company is able to create, turnkey, 
high voltage power solutions within cost parameters, to deadline 
and in line with First World specifications. Conco has consequently 
earned the enviable reputation of being able to match innovation 
with economy.

WEST END CLAYBRICK
West End Claybrick supplies products throughout Gauteng, Free 
State and the North West province. The division produces top-
quality face, semi-faced and plaster claybricks and a range of 
concrete rooftiles.

DRIFT SUPERSAND
Drift Supersand produces 1,3 million tons of crushed sand 
and stone a year and supplies aggregates to a wide range of 
commercial and civil contractors. Aggregate includes sand, gravel 
and crushed stone and is a major component of concrete.

100%
DRIFT 

SUPERSAND  
(PTY) LTD

100% DRIFT SUPERSAND MINING   
(PTY) LTD

CONSOLIDATED POWER 
MAINTENANCE AND

 INVESTMENTS (PTY) LTD

CONSOLIDATED POWER 
MAINTENANCE 

(PTY) LTD

WEST END 
CLAYBRICK  
(PTY) LTD

CONSOLIDATED
POWER PROJECTS  
(PTY) LTD

60% 90%

80%

100%

100%

100%

100%

CONPOWER 
ELECTRICITY 
LTD
 
Nigeria

CONSOLIDATED 
POWER PROJECTS 
(ZAMBIA) LTD 
 
Zambia

100% 99,9%

CONCO MOZAMBIQUE 
LIMITADA

 
Mozambique

CONSOLIDATED POWER 
PROJECTS NAMIBIA  
(PTY) LTD

Namibia

100% 100%

CONSOLIDATED 
POWER PROJECTS 
TANZANIA LTD 
 
Tanzania

CONSOLIDATED 
POWER PROJECTS  
LTD 
 
Kenya

CONSOLIDATED POWER 
PROJECTS (LIMITED 
LIABILITY COMPANY) 
 
Saudi Arabia

CONSOLIDATED POWER 
PROJECTS DRC SPRL

 
DRC

CONSOLIDATED 
POWER SWAZILAND 
(PTY) LTD

Swaziland

CONSOLIDATED  
POWER PROJECTS  
(PTY) LTD

Uganda

CONSOLIDATED POWER  
PROJECTS AND  
INVESTMENTS (PTY) LTD

Botswana

CONCO POWER  
PROJECTS (GHANA) LTD

 
Ghana

100% 100%
BLEND OF 
PERFECTION  
(PTY) LTD

REGAL BRICKS
(PTY) LTD

90%
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STRATEGIC
PRIORITIES  

For the 2012 financial year, the board of directors (board) and 
management of CIG identified a number of strategic priorities for 
the Group and its divisions. Over the course of the year, significant 
financial and institutional resources were directed towards the 
achievement of various targeted objectives under each of these 
strategic priorities, and in this regard, progress has generally 
been satisfactory. 

The strategic priorities identified for 2012 were as follows: 

A FOCUS ON THE “BIG 5” IN AFRICA AND 
THE MIDDLE EAST, NAMELY SOUTH AFRICA, 
NIGERIA, GHANA, ANGOLA AND SAUDI ARABIA 
In South Africa, Conco continues to be a preferred supplier to 
Eskom, in terms of the extension and ongoing maintenance of 
the national electricity grid. The company has also won projects 
in Ghana, Nigeria, Angola and Kenya. A number of opportunities 
exist in Saudi Arabia, and it is expected that some of these will be 
realised by Conco in the next several years. 

RENEWABLE ENERGY 
In South Africa, the Department of Energy’s REIPP programme 
has targeted an initial renewable energy generation capacity 
of 3 725MW, across a variety of technologies including wind, 
concentrated solar thermal, solar photovoltaic, hydropower 
and biomass/biogas. Conco is excellently positioned to provide 
connectivity for a number of these projects, as reflected by the 
company’s order book for the 2013 financial year and beyond. 
The approval process for project submissions under the REIPP 
programme has progressed slower than initially anticipated, 
leading to some unforeseen issues for Conco’s management, 
particularly in terms of the company’s investment in additional 
capacity to execute these projects. 

INVESTMENTS IN INFRASTRUCTURE AND 
ENERGY 
Apart from CIG’s current activities in power generation and 
building materials, the Group is actively seeking investment 
opportunities in other areas related to infrastructure and energy. 
Over the past financial year, the company has significantly 
increased its capacity to invest, and the board has mandated 
senior management to investigate the opportunities that exist 
for mergers and acquisitions in relevant sectors. In this regard, 
a pipeline of potential opportunities has been created, and 
satisfactory progress is being made in several areas. 

DELIVERY OF ADDITIONAL SOLUTIONS
For the first time in the history of Conco, the company has 
invested significant resources in the creation of a business 
development function. Through the course of the 2012 financial 
year, this function became fully staffed and is operating effectively. 

Ongoing projects include a procurement initiative and a focus on 
developing partnerships with financiers, where appropriate and 
necessary. Under this initiative, CIG has in a number of instances 
acted as a facilitator between project developers and financial 
institutions which might have an interest in funding the projects 
in question.

For the 2013 financial year, CIG has identified the following 
strategic objectives:

STRATEGIC GROWTH OF 
SUBSIDIARIES

CIG aims to accelerate its growth by applying appropriate 
strategic, operational and financial levers, in order to 
navigate current market conditions and outperform its 
competition. Specifically, the Group aims to increase its 
market share in the Big 5, successfully execute the projects 
it has been awarded in the renewable energy sector, and 
expand product lines within the Building Materials division.

TRANSFORMATIVE  
INVESTMENTS

The Group will actively seek and acquire infrastructure-
related companies and projects that can significantly enhance 
its strategic and financial value. Multiple investments 
are planned for the financial year, with the first being the 
acquisition of a stake in a waste management company in 
Angola. This acquisition process was initiated in the 2012 
financial year, and should be completed in 2013. In addition, 
significant resources will be allocated to the identification of 
similar investment opportunities.

FORMATION OF A PAN-AFRICAN 
GROWTH ENGINE

It is the vision of CIG to create a Group support which extends 
its reach, adds management capacity to its subsidiaries and 
corporatises new investments. The objective in this regard is 
to make the whole greater than the sum of its parts. Specific 
priorities include the creation of a Business Intelligence 
function at Group level, and to optimise the Group’s corporate 
and capital structures. 
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MATERIAL
ISSUES  

The report is compiled in accordance with a comprehensive 
materiality assessment process undertaken by the senior 
management of CIG. Under this process, key risks and 
opportunities are identified, measured and managed through 
various mechanisms, beginning with high-level discussions at the 
board level, and followed by a process of analysis by relevant 
board committees, most notably the risk committee. In addition, 
senior management within the various divisions of the Group 
play a central role in the development of strategies aimed at 
addressing material issues and taking advantage of significant 
opportunities for growth. 

The table below sets out the most material issues identified for the reporting period, as well as the actions taken by the Group to address 
these, and the outcomes of these actions.

Material issue Relevant stakeholder Potential impact Actions taken Outcomes

Group strategic 
direction – definition, 
future acquisitions

CIG board, executives and senior 
management

Missed opportunities 
for diversification, 
mergers and 
acquisitions

Focus on strategic direction in board 
meetings, mandate to senior 
management to seek acquisition 
opportunities

Opportunities for 
diversification and 
acquisitions identified, 
to be pursued in 2013 
financial year

Capital adequacy for 
expansion plans or 
infrastructure 
investments

CIG board and senior management Inadequate finance 
available to execute 
expansion plans or 
take advantage of 
opportunities

R500 million medium-term note 
programme implemented, line of 
credit secured with the Industrial 
Development Corporation (IDC)

Adequate capital and 
loan financing 
available for 
expansion in 2013 

Risks related to 
corruption in overseas 
operations

Boards of CIG and Conco, senior 
management of CIG and Conco, 
risk committee, risk manager, 
current and potential clients, Conco 
project staff and overseas agents, 
suppliers, foreign governments

Termination of 
contracts, financial 
penalties, criminal 
convictions, 
reputational impacts

Anti-corruption policies, codes of 
conduct under development, 
relevant training to be provided to 
key staff members in 2013 financial 
year

Risk related to 
corruption has been 
mitigated to 
acceptable levels

Risks related to 
anti-competitive 
behaviour in South 
African operations

CIG board and senior management, 
boards and senior management of 
divisional operations, risk 
committee, risk manager, current 
and potential clients, staff, suppliers, 
South African government

Termination of 
contracts, financial 
penalties, criminal 
convictions, 
reputational impacts

Policies and codes of conduct 
related to anti-competitive behaviour 
are being updated and are subject 
to further development. Appropriate 
training has been provided to key 
executives and management by 
legal experts who developed a 
bespoke course for the Group.  
The Group risk register has been 
amended to include specific risks 
which deal with relevant aspects of 
anti-competitive behaviour and key 
controls to prevent anti-competitive 
behaviour have been designed and 
implemented. Follow-up training will 
be provided

Risk related to 
anti-competitive 
behaviour has been 
mitigated to 
acceptable levels

King III compliance in 
terms of formalisation 
of various board and 
management policies 
and practices

CIG board and senior management Non-compliance  
with King III 
recommendations

IOD King III compliance tool 
implemented, and the baseline 
assessment completed. A review of 
the results and refinement of the 
assessment process will be 
concluded in the first quarter of 
2013. Enhanced induction and 
formal training for current and new 
board and senior management to be 
undertaken in 2013 

Risk of non-
compliance with  
King III has been 
significantly reduced

The Group has implemented a highly detailed and robust risk 
management system, which integrates seamlessly with the 
internal audit, IT governance, business continuity, the compliance 
and insurance programmes thus forming the basis of the 
combined assurance programmes. The risk management system 
and processes are now mature and continue to prove extremely 
valuable in the identification, categorisation, assessment, 
quantification and treatment of material risks to the organisation 
and its activities. 
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Material issue Relevant stakeholder Potential impact Actions taken Outcomes

Delays in the 
implementation of  
REIPP projects 
(Conco)

Boards of CIG and Conco, senior 
management of Conco, current and 
potential clients (project owners), 
equipment suppliers and agents

Financial implications  
– delays in contract 
execution and 
payments, lack of staff 
availability 

Ongoing consultations with 
Department of Energy and project 
owners, securing of future supplies 
of plant and equipment

Contracts awarded 
post year-end, to be 
executed in the 2013 
financial year

HR issues:
• Attracting and 

retention of key 
staff

• Skills shortages

• Succession 
planning

CIG board and senior management, 
boards and senior management of 
divisional operations, HR directors 
and management, unions

Reduced operational 
efficiency and ability to 
execute signed 
contracts, reduced 
ability to expand 
operations

Various training and capacity-
building projects implemented, 
retention strategies have been 
developed 

Turnover of key staff 
much lower than 
competitors. The next 
generation of 
management have 
been identified. 
High-potential 
candidates recruited

IT governance and 
security including best 
current practice and 
development report

Boards and senior management of 
CIG and divisional operations, 
operational management and staff, 
clients, equipment suppliers

Reduced strategic and 
operational efficiency, 
delayed reporting, 
inaccurate financial 
records, reduced 
growth potential

Development and implementation of 
an integrated IT strategy by suitably 
qualified industry recognised expert

Performance in IT 
governance and 
security has improved 
significantly in financial 
year

Environmental 
impacts:
• Dust pollution 

(Building Materials)

• Life of mine 
rehabilitation 
(Building Materials)

• Post construction 
site cleanup and 
rehabilitation 
(Power)

Boards and senior management of 
divisional operations, project 
managers and project staff, SHEQ 
directors and management, 
community members, neighbours, 
government (national/provincial/
local), clients, civil society

Fines/sanctions; 
production disruptions 

Environmental policies developed, 
measurement and compliance 
mechanisms implemented

Risk of major 
environmental 
incidents has been 
mitigated to 
acceptable levels in 
line with the Group’s 
appetite for risk

Legislative compliance 
– social and labour 
plans (Building 
Materials)

DSS board and senior 
management, HR directors and 
management, managers and 
employees, unions, community 
members,  government (national/ 
provincial/local), clients, civil society

Fines/sanctions; 
production disruptions 

Social and labour plans developed 
and submitted to Department of 
Mineral Resources. Audits and a 
risk evaluation by qualified 
specialists in the field have been 
concluded. Additional working 
capital to be raised in 2013 financial 
year

Risk of legislative 
non-compliance has 
been significantly 
reduced

Community 
engagement 

Senior management at divisional 
level, project staff, community 
members, clients, civil society

Negative community 
reaction to operations, 
operational or 
production disruptions, 
sanctions for 
contractual non-
performance

Community engagement plans 
developed and implemented  
– both ongoing and project-specific  
CSR projects and initiatives 
developed and implemented

Risk of negative 
perceptions/reactions 
on the part of local 
communities has been 
mitigated to 
acceptable levels
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STAKEHOLDER
ENGAGEMENT  

CIG places particular emphasis on maintaining excellent relations 
with all stakeholders, at both Group and divisional level. The 
Group is committed to identifying and engaging with a wide range 
of stakeholders, and to expanding its activities in this regard 
beyond the traditional scope of activities related to shareholders 
and employees. 

Stakeholder groups are identified for CIG on the basis of the 
classical definition of an organisational stakeholder, namely 
an individual or group who either affects an organisation or is 
affected by the organisation. 

The process of identifying relevant stakeholder groups begins 
at the level of CIG senior management, in consultation with the 
board’s audit and risk committee and the company’s external 
risk consultant. This process takes place primarily through 
consideration of the principal risks and opportunities identified 
for the Group. These risks and opportunities are analysed to 
determine the groups of internal and external stakeholders that 
might have an impact on, or be impacted by, CIG’s activities in 
various regions and industries. 

Below is a table detailing the principal stakeholder groups identified, in approximate order of priority, the method and frequency of 
engagement, the key issues raised from the process, and the material issues  

Stakeholder group Method and frequency of engagement Key issues raised Link to material issues

Shareholders Legislated communication (SENS 
announcements), AGM and other 
required meetings, annual shareholder 
presentations

Profitability, corporate governance and 
regulatory compliance, risk 
management, growth prospects 

Group strategic direction, capital 
adequacy, King III compliance

Lenders/capital 
providers

Contractually required information flow, 
meetings as required

Return on investment, capital adequacy, 
profitability, corporate governance, 
regulatory compliance, risk 
management, growth prospects

Group strategic direction, capital 
adequacy, King III compliance

Employees Annual performance management 
processes, HR-related processes, joint 
employer-employee committees 
(quarterly/biannually/annually)

Remuneration and incentivisation, staff 
retention, skills development, career 
development, CSI/CSR initiatives

Group strategic direction, risks related 
to corruption, risks related to anti-
competitive behaviour, HR issues,  
IT governance and security, 
environmental issues

Unions Negotiated processes, legislated 
collective bargaining processes

Employee salaries and benefits, 
contracting, working conditions

HR issues

Customers Tender processes, contractually 
determined engagement processes

Project execution, security of supply of 
products and services, service levels, 
corruption

Risks related to corruption, risks related 
to anti-competitive behaviour, IT 
governance and security, environmental 
issues, legislative compliance

Suppliers of 
equipment and/or 
services

Contractually determined engagement 
processes, technical collaboration 
processes

Payment security, intellectual property 
protection, future prospects

Delays in implementation of REIPP 
projects, environmental issues, 
legislative compliance

Government Legislated reporting and communication 
processes (quarterly/bi-annually/
annually), national development 
processes

Regulatory compliance, employment 
creation and security, infrastructure 
development programme, CSI/CSR 
initiatives

Delays in implementation of REIPP 
projects, environmental impacts, 
legislative compliance

Local communities Direct engagement with CIG agents 
and/or project managers

Employment creation, skills transfer, 
community development, CSI/CSR 
initiatives

Environmental impacts: legislative 
compliance, community engagement

Civil society Engagement with senior management 
of CIG and divisional operations, direct 
engagement with Conco project staff

Environmental impacts, corruption, 
labour issues, social impacts, CSI/CSR 
initiatives

Environmental impacts: legislative 
compliance, community engagement

In a similar fashion, the respective management teams of 
the Group’s subsidiary companies are tasked with identifying 
those stakeholder groups relevant to their operations. Once the 
process of identifying relevant stakeholder groups is completed, 
senior management representatives are tasked with creating an 
effective engagement process for each of these groups. This 
process comprises the identification of key issues for and by each 
stakeholder group, the development and execution of a targeted 
engagement process around these issues, the implementation 
of agreed-upon outcomes from this process, and a process of 
comprehensive reporting on the success of these outcomes. 

The degree of relevance of various stakeholder categories 
for CIG, and the level of engagement with each category, 
are generally determined according to a classic risk analysis 
methodology, undertaken by the Group’s chief financial officer, 
in consultation with the Group’s external risk consultant. This 
prioritisation process incorporates an analysis of the potential 
impacts associated with each of these categories for the activities 
and profitability of the Group, as well as by the likelihood of these 
potential impacts being realised.
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POWER DIVISION
Power is by far the most significant division of CIG, providing 82% 
of the Group’s revenue and 80% of EBITDA in the reporting period. 
In the 2012 financial year, revenue remained relatively flat, primarily 
due to implementation delays in the company’s active markets, 
with growth of 3%, from R1 242 million to R1 280 million. However, 
EBITDA improved by 8%, from R166 million to R179 million. 

The profile of the company’s revenue shifted considerably during 
the financial year, with relatively weak spending in the South 
African municipal sector being offset by a fivefold increase 
in revenue from the South African transportation sector, with 
sizeable tenders being won from Transnet, the national rail and 
ports enterprise. 

The areas of primary focus for Conco during the financial year were 
to continue the growth of its international operations, particularly in 
Africa, retain its position as a leading service provider to Eskom in 
South Africa, and take advantage of the significant opportunities for 
new business arising from the REIPP programme. 

Progress against these objectives was generally satisfactory, with 
revenue derived from outside South Africa increasing from 35% to 
42%. This figure is expected to increase over a period of several 
years, as the company grows its international capacity.

Eskom remains a major client for Conco, with three of the  
10 largest projects undertaken by the company during the 2012 
financial year being on behalf of various Eskom divisions. This 
includes the first 400kVA distribution line project ever undertaken 
by Conco, which also represents the single largest project 
undertaken by the company during the 2012 financial year, 
contributing R121 million to the company’s revenues. 

With regard to the renewable energy sector, delays on the part 
of the South African Department of Energy in awarding REIPP 
contracts meant that this sector did not contribute any revenue 
to Conco during the 2012 financial year. A number of contracts 
were however concluded between Conco and project developers, 
with a total value of over R600 million. These are included in the 
company’s confirmed order book. In addition, renewable energy 
tenders worth approximately R400 million are included in the 
figure for tenders awaiting adjudication. 

In terms of future objectives, Conco will continue to measure its 
performance against the three-year objectives identified in CIG’s 
2011 integrated annual report, as described opposite.

With regard to future prospects, Conco is extremely well positioned 
to take advantage of the continued growth in infrastructure 
development across the African continent. This is borne out by 
the company’s order book for the upcoming financial year, which 
stood at R2 billion at the end of the 2012 financial year, while the 
figure for tenders awaiting adjudication stood at R6,1 billion. 

DIVISIONAL 
OVERVIEW
CONTINUED

PROTECTION AND AUTOMATION:  
A KEY STRENGTH
One of the most significant ways in which Conco is able 
to differentiate itself in the area of substation construction 
lies in the expertise and capacity that exists within the 
company in the field of protection and automation. 
Unlike the majority of its competitors, which operate as 
both original equipment manufacturers and providers 
of turnkey solutions, Conco sees itself primarily as a 
systems integrator. Due to the fact that the company does 
not manufacture any of its own components, its engineers 
and project managers are free to explore all options in 
order to provide the best possible solutions, based on 
prevailing conditions and client requirements. 

This practice of integrating components and equipment 
from a variety of manufacturers means that Conco has 
over an extended period developed a unique expertise 
in the field of protection and automation. This term 
refers to the process of ensuring that the components 
and management systems that make up Conco’s high-
voltage electrical substations are sufficiently robust to 
manage extreme conditions such as those found across 
Africa, to require minimal amounts of maintenance and to 
deal with various fluctuations in electricity supply. It also 
refers to the capacity of these substations to operate as 
independently from direct human control as is possible, 
and in instances where direct intervention is required, 
to be managed remotely, using the most appropriate 
communications technologies. 

Conco’s Protection and Automation division operates 
in four distinct areas, namely design, engineering, 
manufacture and commissioning. The division is home 
to an in-house design office managed by expert design 
engineers, a team of dedicated commissioning engineers 
and an array of highly advanced testing equipment 
focusing on both Factory Acceptance Testing (FAT) and 
Site Acceptance Testing (SAT). This broad range of 
capabilities ensures that Conco is in a position to provide 
the maximum value to its clients from the planning phase 
of projects, in terms of advice regarding project design 
and equipment specifications, through the process of 
manufacture and  factory testing, to the conclusion phase 
of installation, commissioning and on-site testing.

The strength of Conco’s capability in this field is evident 
from the fact that on a number of occasions, the company 
has been called upon to complete and commission 
substation projects for which they were not the initial 
preferred bidder. 
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BUILDING MATERIALS DIVISION
CIG’s Building Materials division, comprising DSS and WECB, 
exhibited significant growth in both revenue and earnings in the 
2012 financial year, following a relatively stagnant period in the 
preceding two years. Revenue for the division increased by 35%, 
from R203 million to R273 million, while EBITDA increased 107% 
from R28 million to R58 million. 

Key considerations for the financial year were to increase both 
operational efficiency and the degree of integration between 
DSS and WECB. This was achieved through the consolidation 
of a number of operational and management functions within 
the division, as well as through internal transfers of various key 
management personnel between the two companies. 

For the 2013 financial year, the division will focus on further 
improving operational efficiencies and consequently profitability. 
Furthermore, CIG will actively pursue acquisition opportunities 
in the building materials sector, in order to increase production 
capacity and diversify the product range of the division. 

Top 10 projects undertaken by Conco during the 2012 financial year

Client Project description Division Country
Value 

R’million

Eskom Holdings Eros Vuyani 400kV  OHL South Africa 121 
Newmont Ghana Gold AYKEM 11kV substations SS Ghana 66
City of Cape Town 12kV switchgear SS South Africa 57
Exxaro Coal 11kV distribution systems SS South Africa 53
Ghana GRIDCO Ghana smelter SS Ghana 50
Eskom Distribution Corinth – Umlazi 132kV OHL South Africa 34
Eskom Holdings Kusile 400kV loops OHL South Africa 27
White Nile Sugar Corporation WNSC Kenana SS Sudan 25
Ethekwini Municipality Indoor gas insulation SS South Africa 25
Rural Electrification Agency Mpanga rural electrification SS Uganda 23

OHL  Overhead lines SS  Substations

Conco’s future objectives

Objective Strategy

Revenue growth target 
of 20% – 30% p.a. 
(EBITDA growth faster 
with favourable mix and 
operating leverage)

 Incentive compensation tied almost 
entirely to EBITDA growth

 Further develop revenue stream from 
renewable energy projects in South Africa

Geographic diversification  Increase operational capacity in Africa and 
Middle East

Diversification by project 
type and customer

 Increased participation in renewable 
energy projects (both inside and outside 
South Africa)

Increased focus on mining and transport 
sectors

PROJECT EXECUTION  
IN AFRICA
For Conco’s projects on the African continent, execution 
generally comprises both offshore and onshore elements. 
The offshore elements are for the most part performed 
by Conco representatives in South Africa, and include 
aspects such as tendering, contract negotiation, design, 
procurement and project management. Onshore elements 
are executed by the Conco operations in various 
countries and comprise the construction, installation and 
commissioning of projects. These activities generally 
take place under the control and supervision of a project 
manager and a core installation team.

Wherever possible, local suppliers are contracted to 
perform specific tasks such as civil construction. Local 
labour is sourced from surrounding areas, as part of the 
Conco policy to empower local communities with skills. 
These local employees receive on-the-job training as 
well as strict instruction and monitoring with regard to 
issues such as safety procedures and quality control. In 
the event of further projects or additional activities in a 
particular country or region, these local employees form 
the nucleus of a skilled team which can in turn be used to 
transfer skills to additional members of local communities.

READ MORE ABOUT OUR  
SUSTAINABILITY INITIATIVES  
ON PAGE 14



“COMMITTED TO THE PROMOTION OF 
GOOD CORPORATE GOVERNANCE”

GOVERNANCE  



JOINT CHAIRMAN AND 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S 
STATEMENT

•  As at year-end, the first R270 million raised to finance the 
growth expected from the alternative energy sector had not 
yet been deployed into any projects. The Group obtained a 
Moody’s credit rating of Baa2.za as part of the programme.

CIG’s financial position remains strong due to strict contract 
management, with advance and progress payments negotiated 
upfront. Working capital management has remained an area of 
key focus. The current ratio has improved from 1,48 to 2,64 times, 
and in a year-on-year comparison there has been a reduction in 
the trade and contract receivables over 60 days.  

As a result of the substantial increase in the Group’s order book 
and growth in tenders awaiting adjudication (including renewable 
energy work), sufficient working capital and guarantee facilities 
have to be in place for successful delivery of results. Accordingly, 
the Group continues in its efforts to engage with bankers and 
other providers of debt capital, in order to ensure appropriate 
levels of facilities are in place at all times. On 30 November 2011 
the Group raised R50 million in cash by placing 5,2 million shares 
with selected institutions at R9,80 per share and in addition, 
secured a R100 million revolving credit facility with the Industrial 
Development Corporation (IDC) which at year-end remained 
unutilised. 

The Building Materials division delivered an improved performance 
for the year. The division increased its market share and recorded 
a significant increase in operating profit for the period. 

DIVISIONAL OVERVIEW 
Power division
Substations and high voltage electrification work
Conco, a market leader in its field, continued with its excellent track 
record and delivered solid results for the year. Revenue from the 
division increased by 3% from R1 242 million to R1 280 million, 
while EBITDA improved 8% from R166 million to R179 million.

Conco secured a sizeable 33% increase in its order book from 
R1,5 billion to R2 billion.

IN SPITE OF THE ONGOING TURBULENCE IN THE GLOBAL 
ECONOMY, CIG HAS ACHIEVED STEADY PROGRESS OVER THE 
PAST YEAR, BENEFITING FROM THE CONTINUED DEMAND FOR THE  
UPGRADING OF AGEING ELECTRICAL NETWORKS AND THE ROLL-
OUT OF NEW ELECTRICAL PROJECTS IN SOUTH, WEST AND EAST 
AFRICA.

DEAR STAKEHOLDER
It is with great pleasure that we present CIG’s integrated annual 
report for the 2012 financial year. 

In South Africa, the Group increased its market share from the 
infrastructure development and spend of Eskom and Transnet. 
The South African municipal market, traditionally a key source of 
revenue for Conco, has pulled back on spend over the past year, 
although their requirement to refurbish their ageing electrical grid 
remains. 

In the alternative energy sector, Conco’s South African expertise, 
track record and ability to execute the complex electrical work 
are fundamental for the successful implementation of the REIPP 
procurement programme. A number of agreements with wind and 
solar developers were concluded during the year.   

The Group expanded its service offering and established a 
separate operations and maintenance division. Incubated 
at Conco, the new division intends to supply the prescribed 
operational and maintenance services to turbine wind farms and 
solar parks on a long-term basis.   

FINANCIAL RESULTS
•  Revenue grew by 7,5%, from R1 446 million in 2011 to  

R1 554 million. Trading margins remained stable at 28%, 
assisted by the increase in business from outside South Africa. 

•  The power and electrification sector continues to be the core 
sector for CIG, contributing 82% of the Group’s revenue 
and earnings, and 80% of earnings before interest, taxation, 
depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA).

•  Profit for the year improved by 23%, from R111 million to  
R137 million, while headline earnings improved by 19% from 
R114 million to R136 million.

•  Earnings per share of 116,5 cents and headline earnings per 
share of 116,1 cents represent an increase of 19,1% and 
15,5% respectively over 2011.

•  The debt-to-equity ratio increased from 10% to 32%, as additional 
funds were raised through the successful implementation of a 
R500 million medium-term note programme in June 2012.
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JOINT CHAIRMAN AND 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S 
STATEMENT
CONTINUED

New business increased fivefold out of the South African 
transportation sector, where sizeable tenders were won 
from Transnet for the upgrade and electrification of existing 
infrastructure across South Africa. These tender projects involve 
the electrification upgrade of the existing Metrorail network and 
port structures, the bulk of which will be executed during 2013. 
Conco also secured a number of three-year contracts with some of 
South Africa’s leading municipalities to upgrade ageing electrical 
infrastructure, but overall work stemming from the South African 
municipalities was otherwise disappointing.  

The company maintains a development programme for new 
operating capacity and has an enhanced profile throughout 
the African continent, allowing it to win and execute work as 
and when it becomes available. During the 2012 financial year, 
tenders were won to build and upgrade electrical substations in 
Botswana, Namibia, Swaziland, Mozambique, Angola, Ghana, 
Kenya, Tanzania, and Uganda. 

Long-term power demands in the Middle East are still evident and 
although challenging, the Saudi Arabian office based in Al-Khobar 
remains active in seeking and tendering for opportunities. 

Renewable energy
Conco concluded agreements with wind and solar energy 
developers and where applicable, with turbine manufacturers, for 
the provision of the electrical work required to connect renewable 
energy projects to the main electrical grid, known as “Balance of 
Plant Electrical” work. These orders are subject to certificates to 
proceed, which are issued when the developers reach financial 
closure with the relevant regulatory authorities. In the first round 
of the REIPP procurement programme, Conco signed contracts 
of R600 million and has letters of intent with other developers and 
turbine manufacturers for additional work. 

Operations and maintenance
Management recognised an opportunity to provide ongoing 
maintenance to renewable energy turbines farms and solar 
parks. After due consideration, the Group established a separate 
operations and maintenance company, to be incubated at Conco. 
Pius Gumbi, the previous chairman of the South Power Pool 
and chief executive officer of Swaziland Electric Company, was 
appointed as CEO. The company intends to secure work to serve 
as a locally headquartered independent service provider on 
behalf of the developers and original equipment manufacturers, 
which will have the additional benefit of providing the Group with 
a stream of annuity income. It is anticipated that, once financially 
stable and self-sufficient, Conco O&M will be established as a 
separate legal entity within the Power division.

Developing skills 
In order to overcome a potential skills constraint, Conco 
implemented the Conco Skills Academy to educate and train 
quality young engineers. A recruitment drive to increase our skills 
base was undertaken and over the past year thirteen interns were 
enrolled in our programme.

Building Materials division
The Building Materials division had a successful year and 
gained market share, particularly in the rooftile market. Revenue 
increased 35% from R203 million to R273 million, while EBITDA 
increased 107% from R28 million to R58 million.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
CIG is committed to the promotion of good corporate governance 
and executes its duties in accordance with its board charter 
and the King III principles. During the financial year, the Group 
assessed its corporate governance practices against King III, and 
achieved an AA rating. 

The various board committees operated effectively throughout 
the year, with the transformation and sustainability committee 
reconstituted as the social and ethics committee. 

The board now includes five independent non-executive directors 
and an appropriate balance exists between executive directors, 
non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors. 

SUSTAINABILITY 
In developing the Group’s organic growth strategy and setting 
objectives for the next three years, CIG remains committed 
to creating a business that is sustainable environmentally, 
economically and within the society in which we operate. 

Our involvement in the renewable energy sector is expected to 
grow substantially in 2013, as various renewable energy projects 
are executed in South Africa. By positioning ourselves as a 
Balance of Plant provider to renewable energy project developers, 
we intend to place the Group at the forefront of delivering ‘green 
energy’ on the continent. 

The Group maintains the highest standards in its execution of 
its work and ensures all sites are rehabilitated within regulated 
levels at all times. Each of the Group’s operating companies is 
expected to comply at all times with relevant environmental and 
social regulations.

By recognising the important contribution that our employees 
make to the continued success of our business, CIG prides itself 
on maintaining exemplary standards with regard to health and 
safety, and extensive audits are performed, both internally and 
through external consultants, to ensure we continuously improve 
our health and safety standards.

In spite of our best efforts in this area, we were saddened during 
2012 to lose a member of the Conco team to an industrial accident. 
The board and management extend their heartfelt condolences 
to the family of the victim. This tragedy further reinforces our 
commitment to providing the safest possible working environment 
for all employees. 
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By establishing a dedicated Conco Skills Academy at the Conco 
offices in Midrand, the Group has provided an opportunity to 
members of the broader community to actively acquire the project 
skills required for our industry. We strive to transfer skills to all local 
employees who participate in our various projects on the continent. 

STRATEGY 
Details of CIG’s progress against its objectives for the past year 
are included in this report, and the board and management are 
satisfied with the progress that was achieved. 

Management remains committed to delivering on the Group’s 
organic growth strategy and objectives for the next three years, 
and remains confident that these objectives and growth strategies 
will result in the Group continuing to deliver excellent returns to 
all stakeholders. 

The key objectives identified for 2013 are: the strategic growth 
of the Group’s subsidiaries; the execution of transformative 
investments and acquisitions; and the formation of a pan-African 
growth engine for the Group.

BLACK ECONOMIC EMPOWERMENT 
CIG continues to benefit from its long-term strategies regarding 
black economic empowerment (BEE). There were no internally 
funded schemes reliant on dividends, interest and hurdles and the 
BEE partners could continue to hold their equity without liquidity 
pressure. 

According to the Code of the Broad-Based Black Economic 
Empowerment Act of 2003, dealing with the measurement of 
ownership, CIG has an effective BEE shareholding in excess  
of 35%. 

The Group remains committed to improving its implementation 
of the Code across each operating division, and will continue its 
efforts to improve in aspects where we are currently lagging. 

SHARES ISSUED
On 30 November 2011, the Group placed 5,2 million shares 
(4,6% of shares in issue) for cash at R9,80 per share, to selected 
institutions. The proceeds raised will be used to bolster expected 
working capital requirements to facilitate further growth. 

The increased number of shares has been used in calculating the 
earnings per share, diluted and fully diluted earnings per share 
for the year.

DIVIDEND POLICY 
The dividend policy will be reviewed periodically, taking into 
account prevailing circumstances and future cash requirements. 
At present, all earnings generated by the Group will be utilised 
to fund future growth, and no dividend has been declared for the 
2012 financial year.

CHANGES TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The former chairperson of the board, Peter Baird, resigned on  
10 January 2012, and was replaced by Frank Boner. 

Panos Voutyritsas and Nathan Mintah stood down from the board 
on 23 August 2012, and were replaced by Kofi Bucknor and  
Judy Nwokedi.

The board thanks the retiring directors for their valuable 
contributions to the growth and success of the Group over the 
past four years, and looks forward to the contributions of the new 
directors.

PROSPECTS 
The current order book at Conco, together with higher than 
expected levels of bidding, tenders awaiting adjudication and 
the prospects of the Department of Energy’s renewable energy 
tender process, places the Group on a very solid foundation to 
deliver growth and financial reward for our shareholders.

The Group’s geographical mix of about 60% supply into South 
Africa and 40% supply into Africa provides a robust buffer against 
the volatility of the market place. The continent continues to 
experience higher than average growth rates, which are expected 
to accelerate with the demand for minerals, oil, gas and food 
security. Favourable demographics and increasing population 
growth rates, together with increasing urbanisation and purchasing 
power, will increase the opportunities for Conco and the Group.

The Group’s new investment into operating and maintaining wind 
turbines could provide an additional upside to our already strong 
domestic foothold in the renewable market, as well as provide the 
potential for annuity income.

The Group is actively pursuing acquisitions in South Africa and on 
the African continent which are synergistic to the current business 
lines, or are transformative in nature, across the infrastructure 
services sector.  

APPRECIATION 
The directors and management of CIG wish to thank all staff for 
their focused efforts and loyalty over the past year. We also thank 
our clients, business partners, advisors, suppliers, shareholders 
and other stakeholders for their ongoing support and faith in the 
Group. We would also like to extend a special word of thanks to 
our investors and creditors for sharing in our vision of sustainable, 
renewable energy and world-class infrastructure for the African 
continent. 

By order of the board 

F Boner  RD Gamsu 
Chairperson  Chief executive officer 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

THE BOARD IS THE FOCAL POINT OF THE COMPANY’S CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE SYSTEM, AND IS ULTIMATELY ACCOUNTABLE AND 
RESPONSIBLE FOR KEY GOVERNANCE PROCESSES AND FOR THE 
SUSTAINED GROWTH AND PERFORMANCE OF THE GROUP.
As at the end of the 2012 financial year, the CIG board of directors was composed as follows: 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Raoul Gamsu (43) 

Chief executive officer 
BAcc, CA(SA) 

Raoul is the founder of the Group. In 1990 he qualified with a 
BAcc from the University of the Witwatersrand.  

Raoul worked from 1994 to 2007 in various corporate roles with 
Bidvest, Rebhold, Rebserve and Mvelaphanda culminating in 
his appointment as the chief operating officer at Rebserve and 
Mvelaphanda. 

In May 2007 he was responsible for leading the consortium which 
created and subsequently listed CIG. 

Ivor Klitzner (44) 

Executive director (finance and strategy)
BComm, CA(SA) 

Ivor graduated from the University of Cape Town and completed 
his articles with Ernst & Young in 1993. He was financial director 
at Hallmark Hemdon (Pty) Ltd, before leaving them in 2000 to join 
M&IC Distributors (Pty) Ltd, a subsidiary of Brandcorp Holdings 
Ltd, as financial director. Ivor was instrumental in assisting with 
the listing of CIG in 2007. 

Bernard Berelowitz (62) 

Chairman of Consolidated Power Projects
NDip Elec Eng

Bernard’s career started in 1973 as a young engineer with Hubert 
Davies Construction (Pty) Ltd (later Cullinan Holdings Ltd) after 
receiving his National Diploma in Electrical Engineering. In 1981 
he was a company appointed executive as well as divisional 
manager, Substations. Bernard helped grow the substation 
division from R1 million per annum to an approximate R20 million 
per annum in the period before he left. 

Conco was founded in October 1986 with Bernard at its helm. 
Conco is a construction company specialising in turnkey projects 
involving design, supply, construction, testing and commissioning 
of high voltage substations and power lines. in addition it has 
divisions in protection, automation and wind farms. Conco’s 
green legacy began with the building of the first grid-connected 
wind farm in the southern hemisphere in Crookwell, Australia, and 
thereafter it was awarded the contract for the Darling wind farm in 
the Cape, South Africa. 

Conco has built a formidable reputation as an electrical 
infrastructure development company, driven by qualified 
engineers, with an impressive footprint in South Africa and Africa. 
In the 26 years under Bernard’s leadership Conco has grown 
to a company employing 1 075 employees and achieved an 
impressive turnover of approximately R1,3 billion per annum. 

# By invitation

READ MORE ABOUT BOARD 
MEETING ATTENDANCE  
ON PAGE 20

AUDIT AND RISK
COMMITTEE 

REMUNERATION
AND NOMINATIONS
COMMITTEE 

SOCIAL AND ETHICS
COMMITTEE 

#

#
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Frank Boner (66)* 

Chairman 
CA(SA) 

Frank qualified as a chartered accountant and served as 
managing partner of an accounting firm (now Horwarth Leveton 
Boner). He was joint managing director of Reichmans Ltd prior 
to its sale to Investec Bank where Frank subsequently served as 
manager of Investec’s corporate asset-based finance division. In 
1998 Frank joined Global Capital (Pty) Ltd, a boutique investment 
banking and private equity firm and has been responsible for 
negotiating and concluding many investment transactions. Frank 
is the current CEO of Global Capital and sits on the board of all 
investee companies where he focuses predominantly on financial 
and strategic issues.

Frank was elected board chairperson on 10 January 2012 and is 
also non-executive director of Mazor Group Ltd where he sits on 
the remuneration and audit committees.

Kofi Bucknor (58)^

BSc (Bus Admin), MBA (Finance) 

Kofi currently serves on the boards of Newmont Mining 
Corporation, Chirano Gold Mines (Ghana), National Investment 
Bank (Ghana), and CNIA Assurances (Morocco). He is chairman 
of Ghana’s Investment Advisory Committee which advises on the 
management of part of the country’s oil revenues. He formerly 
served as a director of Ashanti Goldfields Corporation and 
Ecobank Transnational Corporation, and is a former chairman of 
the Ghana Stock Exchange. Kofi was previously the managing 
partner of private equity firm, Kingdom Zephyr Africa Management 
and continues in that role in the firm’s successor, Kingdom Africa 
Management.

Alex Darko (59)* ̂  

FCCA, MSc (MIS) 

Alex is a seasoned business executive and management consultant 
with over 30 years’ experience in Europe, USA and Africa. He 
was the Group CIO at AngloGold Ashanti from 2005 to 2010 and 
CIO and financial controller of the Exploration & Group Projects 
divisions at Ashanti Goldfields before Ashanti’s merger with 
AngloGold. Prior to this, Alex worked for a number of organisations 
in the UK. This includes 14 years at Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 
(D&B), the global leader in business information services. Positions 
held at D&B include divisional director of finance, European Head 
of Accounting Re-engineering and director of UK Shared Services 
(a function he pioneered in the Group). 

He is a non-executive director and chairman of the audit and risk 
and social and ethic committees at Mazor Group. Alex consults 
to organisations on business and cultural transformation, change 
management, executive coaching and mentoring and the 
development and implementation of business strategy. 

Anthony Dixon (66)*

CA(SA), FinstD 

During a 29-year career with Coopers & Lybrand (Pricewaterhouse-
Coopers), Tony Dixon became regional chairman – KwaZulu-
Natal and a long-serving member of the firm’s National Executive 
and Governing Board. 

From 1995 to today Tony has held a number of executive and non-
executive directorships on a number of major listed and unlisted 
boards including one of South Africa’s largest short-term insurance 
companies – Guardian National Insurance Company before its 
merger with Santam. These directorships included the positions 
of managing director, financial director and chairman. He has 
considerable audit committee experience. Tony was the executive 
director of the Institute of Directors for the four years from 2004 to 
2007. He is acknowledged as an expert in corporate governance 
and has been instrumental in establishing the Institute of Directors 
in South Africa as the recognised custodians of corporate 
governance in the country. For a number of years he provided 
the secretariat role to the King Committee of which he is currently 
a member. He has presented on corporate governance matters 
at numerous seminars. Tony is an independent non-executive 
director of Allied Technologies Ltd (Altech) and Santova Ltd. 

Robert Horton (41)*

CA(SA), BComm (Accounting and Information Systems) (UCT)

Rob has served as non-executive director of unlisted companies 
operating in the building supplies, consumer goods, distribution 
and technology sectors. He has acted in an executive capacity 
in a number of companies within these sectors throughout his  
15-year track record as an African private equity professional. 
Rob worked in the oil and gas sector at Masefield in London 
where he was responsible for East African operations. 

In 1998 he moved back to South Africa and worked in corporate 
finance before joining a leading private equity firm providing 
development and buyout capital to small and medium sized 
enterprises. In 2010 he joined a pan-African private equity fund 
manager where he focused largely on West and North African 
opportunities. Since 2012 Rob has been investing funds into high 
growth opportunities on the African continent. 

Judi Nwokedi (54)*

BSocSc

Judi has a distinguished business and community development 
career. She is a consultant at AREVA. Prior to joining AREVA, 
she was chief executive of Motorola Sub-Saharan Africa. She is 
the vice chair of the largest pan-African film market, Sithengi. She 
serves on the board of the University of Witwatersrand – Institute 
for the Advancement of Journalism. She is the chairperson of 
African Spirit (Pty) Ltd.

* Independent
^ Ghanaian
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COMMITMENT AND APPROACH
CIG is a public company incorporated in South Africa under the 
provisions of the Companies Act and the Regulations thereto, 
and is listed on the JSE. In this regard, the board of directors is 
committed to ensuring that the company is governed appropriately. 

The company complies with the principles of the Code of Corporate 
Practices and Conduct as recommended in the Third Report of 
the King Commission on Corporate Governance in South Africa, 
published in 2009 and commonly referred to as “King IIl”, as well 
as with the spirit and form of the obligations that exist in terms of 
the Listings Requirements of the JSE.

During the financial year under review, CIG’s chief financial officer, 
with the assistance of the company’s external risk consultant, 

subjected the company’s corporate governance regime to a 
full review using the Institute of Directors South Africa (IoDSA) 
Governance Assessment Instrument. Overall, the company 
achieved an AA rating which indicates “High application” of the 
principles and recommendations of King lll.  

Over the course of the upcoming financial year, the Group’s 
senior management will implement a number of initiatives aimed 
at further strengthening the application of King III principles. 
Specifically, areas of focus in this regard include the formalisation 
of various board policies and procedures, the implementation of a 
formal process for assessing the performance of board members, 
and increased involvement on the part of the board in areas 
of strategy implementation, as well as in the development and 
management of the company’s organisational culture. 

THE BOARD RECOGNISES THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE COMPANY 
TO CONDUCT ITS AFFAIRS WITH PRUDENCE, TRANSPARENCY, 
ACCOUNTABILITY, FAIRNESS AND IN A SOCIALLY RESPONSIBLE 
MANNER.

OVERALL SCORE – KING III COMPLIANCE AND APPLICATION*
 Principles and recommendations
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ER Board composition
Remuneration

Governance office bearers
Board role and duties

Accountability
Performance assessment

Board committees
Group boards

AAA
AAA
AA
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SCORESTATUS CATEGORY
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Applied Explained and compensated for

Highest applicationAAA
High applicationAA

Not applied

Notable applicationBB
Moderate applicationB

Application to be improvedC
Low applicationL

*  According to the IoDSA Governance Assessment Instrument

THE KING III ASSESSMENT 
REPORT IS AVAILABLE ON 
www.ciglimited.co.za
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
CIG is led by a unitary board of directors, constituted as required 
by the Companies Act and the company’s Memorandum of 
Incorporation. 

Board leadership
The board chairperson is an independent non-executive director, 
whose role is clearly defined and separate from that of the chief 
executive officer and the other executive directors. 

In accordance with the Group’s board rotation policy, the 
chairperson will remain in place for a maximum of three years, 
following which he or she will be expected to resign from the 
board and stand for re-appointment. If re-appointed to the board, 
the former chairperson can then be re-elected at the discretion of 
the board. 

During the 2012 financial year, Peter Baird resigned as board 
chairperson, and Frank Boner was appointed as chairperson with 
effect from 10 January 2012. 

Board appointments
Board appointments are conducted in terms of a transparent 
process by the board as a whole, free from any dominance by 
any one particular shareholder. 

During the 2012 financial year, three directors resigned from the 
board, including, as mentioned above, the board chairperson 
Peter Baird. The other resignations were Panos Voutyritsas and 
Nathan Mintah, with these two individuals being replaced on the 
board by Kofi Bucknor and Judi Nwokedi. 

Board composition
The board comprises nine directors, of whom three are executive 
directors and the remainder non-executive directors. All but 
one of the non-executive directors are considered independent 
according to the criteria determined by King III, with the exception 
being a board representative of Kingdom Zephyr Holdings, one 
of the Group’s major shareholders. The composition of the board 
is intended to ensure a balance of authority in decision-making 
processes, such that no one individual or group of individuals can 
dominate the board’s decision-making.

Non-executive directors are selected on the basis of their 
skills, business experience, reputation and qualifications. 
These individuals collectively bring to the board a wealth 
of skills, knowledge and experience from their own fields of 
business, ensuring that the board’s consideration of matters of 
strategy, policy and performance are always robust, informed 
and constructive. The terms and conditions of appointment of 
each of the non-executive directors are contained in a letter of 

appointment which, together with the board charter, forms the 
basis of the director’s appointment. 

Independence
The independence of CIG’s non-executive directors is tested 
on a regular basis to ensure that no conflicts of interests and 
no business or other relationships exist which might materially 
affect the ability of any director to act independently and in the 
best interests of the company. At least once every year, CIG 
solicits details of its directors’ interests in the Group, their external 
shareholdings and any other directorships that they hold, in order 
to determine the existence of any actual or potential conflicts 
of interest. A register containing the directors’ declarations of 
interest is maintained by the company secretary and is available 
for inspection by any of the directors. In addition, the agenda at 
each scheduled board meeting allows the board to consider any 
conflicts arising from changes to the directors’ declarations of 
interests. The board has satisfied itself that no relationships exist 
which could adversely affect the classification of its independent 
non-executive directors, and accordingly that the classification of 
each of the directors is appropriate. 

Directors’ period of office, re-election and 
retirement
In terms of the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, one-
third of the non-executive directors retire by rotation at each 
annual general meeting. Directors who retire may, if eligible, 
offer themselves for re-election. The names of the directors who 
retire by rotation at the next annual general meeting appear in 
the notice of the annual general meeting issued by the company.

Directors appointed during a reporting period hold office until the 
next annual general meeting, at which they retire and become 
available for re-election.

Non-executive directors have no fixed term of appointment. In 
line with King III recommendations, however, such non-executive 
directors will after a period of nine years’ unbroken service on 
the board, be subjected to an independent review to determine 
whether or not they remain independent. 

There are no fixed term service contracts in place for the 
executive directors and their tenure is subject to the normal terms 
and conditions upon which they are appointed by the company as 
members of senior management.

Director induction, training and access to 
information
Newly appointed directors are required to participate in an 
induction programme coordinated by the chairman and the 
company secretary. In addition to providing an orientation 
regarding the Group’s operations, this induction programme 
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serves to provide information to directors regarding their fiduciary 
duties and relevant statutory and regulatory frameworks, as well 
as to introduce these directors to the senior management of the 
Group and its subsidiary companies. The programme also makes 
directors aware of relevant policies related to dealing in the 
company’s securities, the duty to declare conflicts of interest and 
the company’s code of conduct.

The company secretary is responsible for ensuring that 
directors are kept abreast of relevant legislative and regulatory 
developments, as well as of any significant information impacting 
the Group’s operating environment. Training sessions for non-
executive directors are held as required and according to the 
availability of these directors. These sessions are generally 
presented by senior management representatives of the Group 
and its various subsidiary companies, or by external subject 
experts, and are designed to keep directors updated regarding 
developments within the Group and the territories in which it 
operates, as well as any other relevant matters.

In the 2013 financial year, it is the intention of the Group to 
further formalise the structures and processes associated with 
the training offered to non-executive directors, particularly those 
directors who are newly appointed to the board.

To facilitate the proper functioning of the board, all directors 
have unrestricted access to all Group information, records, 
documents and facilities, through the office of the company 
secretary. In addition, non-executive directors have access to 
members of senior management and, where appropriate, are 
entitled to access the external auditors without these members of 
management being present. Directors, after discussion with the 
chairman, may also seek independent professional advice at the 
Group’s expense, should they deem it necessary for the proper 
execution of their directorial role.

Succession planning
The board has formalised a succession plan for the Group CEO, 
Conco CEO and Building Materials CEO. The nature of CIG’s 
operations, as well as the systems that have been implemented 
in the areas of IT governance and information management, mean  
that the board is confident of the Group’s ability to continue 
functioning smoothly even in the event of an inability on the part of 
any of the three executive directors to carry out their responsibilities. 

Board meetings
The board meets at least once every quarter. Additional meetings 
may be convened where circumstances necessitate.  

A table showing the attendance by directors at board and board 
committee meetings is set out below.

Board meetings are convened by formal notice to the directors. 
Efficient and timely methods of informing and briefing the board 
members prior to meetings have been developed, and members 
are generally afforded ample opportunity to study relevant 
material prior to meetings, and to request additional information 
from management where necessary.

Decisions taken at board meetings are decided by a majority 
of votes, with each director having one vote. Where resolutions 
need to be taken between board meetings, a written proposal is 
circulated to, and requires signature by all directors to be valid. 
A resolution passed in this manner is effective as at the date of 
signature of the last-signing director and is formally noted at the 
next board meeting.

Board meeting attendance
Directors’ attendance at board and committee meetings for the 
year under review are as follows:

Director

Years service 
(rounded off to 
nearest year)

Board meeting 
attendance

Committee meeting attendance

Audit  
and risk

Remuneration 
and nominations

Social  
and ethics

Peter Baird** (Chairperson) 3 1/2 – – –
Raoul Gamsu (Chief executive officer) 5 5/5 –  3/3^ –
Ivor Klitzner (Chief financial officer) 5 5/5  5/5^ – 4/4
Bernard Berelowitz (Executive) 4 2/5 – – –
Frank Boner 3 4/5 3/5  3/3* –
Anthony Dixon 5 5/5  5/5* 3/3 –
Panos Voutyritsas† 4 3/5 – – –
Nathan Mintah† 4 4/5 – – 3/4
Alex Darko      3 5/5 5/5 3/3  4/4*
Robert Horton 1 4/5 – – –
Kofi Bucknor# N/A – – –
Judi Nwokedi# N/A – – –

*  Indicates committee chairperson #  Appointed to board 28 August 2012
**  Resigned from board 10 January 2012 ^  By invitation of the committee
†  Resigned from board 23 August 2012
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Board committees
The board is assisted in the discharge of its duties and 
responsibilities by three committees, namely the audit and risk, 
remuneration and nominations, and social and ethics committees. 
At all times, however, the ultimate responsibility for the governance 
of the company’s affairs resides in the board, and it therefore does 
not abdicate its responsibilities to these committees.

The committees act within formalised terms of reference which 
have been approved by the board and reviewed to reflect the 
company’s application, where appropriate, of the principles 
embodied in King III and the statutory requirements of the 
Companies Act. The terms of reference set out the committees’ 
purpose, membership requirements, duties and reporting 
procedures.

Relevant legislative requirements, such as those incorporated 
in the Companies Act, are incorporated in the committee 
charters. Board committees and the members thereof may take 
independent professional advice at the company’s expense.

When appropriate, ad hoc committees can be constituted to 
facilitate the achievement of specific short-term objectives. 

At each board meeting, each committee is expected to provide 
full disclosure, transparency and reporting of its activities to the 
board, and the chairpersons of the committees avail themselves 
to respond to shareholders’ queries at each of the Group’s annual 
general meetings.

Audit and risk committee
The audit and risk committee is made up of three independent 
non-executive directors, one of whom acts as the committee 
chairperson. The committee members are all financially literate 
and familiar with issues related to the management and mitigation 
of organisational risk. The committee’s principal objectives are 
firstly to provide the board with additional assurance regarding 
the efficacy and reliability of the financial information used by 
the directors, to assist them in the discharge of their duties, 
and secondly to oversee the company’s activities related to the 
identification, measurement and mitigation of financial and non-
financial risk. The committee is required to provide satisfaction to 
the board that adequate and appropriate financial and operating 
controls are in place; that significant business, financial and 
other risks have been identified and are being suitably managed; 
and that satisfactory standards of governance, reporting and 
compliance are in operation.

Within this context, the board is responsible for the Group’s 
systems of internal financial and operational control. The executive 
directors will be charged with the responsibility of determining the 
adequacy, extent and effective operation of these systems. 

Comprehensive reviews and testing of the effectiveness of the 
internal control systems in operation are performed by external 
practitioners, who report to the audit committee. 

The audit and risk committee meets at least three times a year. 
Executives and managers responsible for finance, the heads 
of the internal audit and the external auditors also attend by 
invitation. 

The committee authorises engagements for non-audit services 
with the appointed external auditors or any other practising firm of 
auditors, after consideration of the following:

•  The essence of the work to be performed may not be of a 
nature which any reasonable and informed observer would 
construe as being detrimental to good corporate governance 
or in conflict with that normally undertaken by the accountancy 
profession.

•  The nature of the work being performed will not affect the 
independence of the appointed external auditors in undertaking 
the normal audit assignments. 

•  The work being done may not conflict with any requirement of 
IFRS or principles of good corporate governance. 

•  Consideration to the operational structure, internal standards 
and processes that were adopted by the audit firm in order to 
ensure that audit independence is maintained in the event that 
such audit firm is engaged to perform accounting or other non-
audit services to its client base. Specifically: 

 –  the company may not appoint a firm of auditors to improve 
systems or processes where such firm of auditors will later 
be required to express a view as to the functionality or 
effectiveness of such systems or processes; 

 –  the total fee earned by an audit firm for non-audit services 
in any financial year of the company, expressed as a 
percentage of the total fee for audit services, may not exceed 
35% without the approval of the board; 

 –  a firm of auditors will not be engaged to perform any 
management functions (e.g. acting as curator) without the 
express prior approval of the board. A firm of auditors may 
be engaged to perform operational functions, including 
that of bookkeeping, when such firm of auditors is not the 
appointed external auditors of the company and work is 
being performed under management supervision. 

The committee may delegate the approval of the appointment of 
a firm of auditors for non-audit services to management when the 
cumulative total budgeted cost for an assignment or assignments 
does not exceed R50 000 from the date of the last report-back of 
the use of the appointed external auditors or any other practising 
firm of auditors, to the audit committee. 

Management shall report back on the use of the appointed external 
auditors or any other practising firm of auditors at meetings of the 
committee. 
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Processes assurance assessment report

Processes

Three lines of defence assurance providers
First line of defence Second line of defence Third line of defence
Management- based 

assurance Risk and legal- based assurance Independent assurance
Control

self
assess-

ment
(CSA)

Manage-
ment

review
Special
projects

Risk
manage-

ment

Health
and 

safety
Com-

pliance
Special
projects

External
audit

Internal
audit

ISO
certifi-
cation

Con-
sulting
engi-
neers

Special
projects

Strategic
Board competency
Strategy and planning
Sustainability and corporate responsibility
Mergers and acquisitions
Corporate governance
Ethics
Capital adequacy
Operational
Corporate assets
Tender management
Financial
Information technology
Human resources
Procurement and supply chain management
Project and risk management
Production management
Due diligence
Quality assurance
Products and services
HSE and environmental management
Covenants
Treasury and funding
Sustainability
Environment
Business continuity and disaster recovery
Legal/statutory compliance
Integrated reporting
EHSS performace
 Extensive assurance  Limited assurance
 Moderate assurance  Not applicable

In the case of the “Third line of defence”, assurance activities 
generally rely on external expertise drawn from various fields 
including financial auditing, certification for ISO 9001 and other 
relevant standards, and engineering and other consulting services. 

From the diagram below, it is clear that extensive assurance has 
been undertaken for the majority of processes identified as relevant 
for the Group, and consequently that the risks inherent in these 
processes have generally been mitigated to acceptable levels. 

In this regard, two areas of particular focus during the 2012 
financial year were information technology governance and 
business continuity planning. These inter-related issues were 
identified in the Group’s risk matrix as being highly material, 
and as a result, significant resources were directed towards 
addressing these issues and mitigating the associated risks. 
Specifically, dedicated systems were installed to manage and 
retain critical documentation, records and institutional knowledge, 
with the primary objective of ensuring business continuity in the 
event of natural, IT-related or other disasters.  

Information relating to the use of non-audit services from the 
appointed external auditors of the company is disclosed in the 
notes to the annual financial statements. Separate disclosure of 
the amounts paid to the appointed external auditors for non-audit 
services, as opposed to audit services, are made in the annual 
financial statements.

Below is a diagrammatic representation of the Group’s combined 
assurance model. Within this model, the responsibility for 
assurance and risk mitigation activities lies with various individuals 
and organisations, according to the level of assurance required. 
The “First line of defence” consists primarily of assurance 
undertaken by representatives of the Group’s management, with 
assistance from relevant board committees and individual board 
members as required. 

The “Second line of defence” generally involves the Group’s 
external risk consultant, as well as drawing on specific expertise 
from within the Group’s operating divisions regarding areas of 
specific focus, such as health and safety or regulatory compliance. 
Where required, external expertise is also contracted to assist the 
board and management to effectively address areas of concern. 
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WITHIN CIG
CIG has since 2010 maintained an ongoing professional 
relationship with Risk Engineering Services, a 
Johannesburg-based corporate risk consulting practice. 
This company holds the South African distribution licence 
for KnowRisk, a corporate risk management software 
system developed by an Australian company, CorProfit 
Systems. KnowRisk is a fully scalable, completely 
electronic system, catering for enterprises of all sizes, and 
offering a high degree of flexibility in design, operation, 
oversight and reporting of risk management functions 
within any particular company or organisation. 

This flexibility is of particular value to CIG, given the 
diverse nature of the activities undertaken by the two 
divisions within the Group. The KnowRisk system has 
been fully implemented across the operations of the 
Group and its subsidiary companies. 

For each company, as well as for the Group as a whole, 
material risks are identified and categorised on an annual 
basis, according to both their likelihood of occurrence 
and the severity of their impacts in the event that they 
do occur. Appropriate and feasible mitigation actions 
are then developed and implemented for each of the 
identified risks, with the result that these risks are either 
terminated or eliminated, transferred outside the company 
in question or the Group as a whole, treated or mitigated 
to acceptable levels, or tolerated as being acceptable to 
the Group. 

The retention of a specialist risk consultant and the 
implementation of the KnowRisk system across the 
Group has proven to be of significant value, particularly 
in the context of attracting investment and securing new 
sources of finance. At any time, the management is able 
to demonstrate to its stakeholders clearly and concisely, 
with the aid of relevant, easily understandable graphs and 
tables, the extent of its risk mitigation activities, as well 
as the progress that has been achieved in terms of its 
targets in this area. 

The KnowRisk system is managed within CIG by the 
chief financial officer, who works closely with the risk 
consultant on an ongoing basis. The various reports and 
other outputs produced by the system are presented at 
the meetings of the Group’s audit and risk committee, as 
well as when appropriate to the entire board, in order to 
assist them in their decision-making processes. 

Remuneration and nominations committee
The board has established a remuneration and nominations 
committee made up of three independent non-executive directors, 
one of whom serves as the chairperson. The Group CEO 
participates in various activities and meetings of the remuneration 
committee by invitation. During the year under review, the 
committee met three times, with attendance at these meetings 
detailed in the table on page 20. 

The principal responsibilities of the committee are to determine 
the remuneration, incentive arrangements, profit participation and 
benefits of the executive directors and executive management. The 
committee is responsible for ensuring that levels of remuneration 
are sufficient to attract, retain and motivate executives of the calibre 
required for high-level management as well as key personnel 
positions. A global consulting firm is retained to ensure executives’ 
salaries are appropriately benchmarked against similar entities. It 
is also responsible for measuring the performance of the executive 
directors in discharging their functions and responsibilities. 

The committee is also responsible on an annual basis, for 
identifying and nominating suitable candidates for election to the 
Group’s board of directors, in accordance with the Group’s board 
rotation policy. In the year under review, two new directors were 
identified, nominated and elected to the board. 

Social and ethics committee
The social and ethics committee (formerly known as the 
transformation committee) is made up of two independent non-
executive directors and the chief financial officer. The committee 
met four times during the financial year, and as is the case with 
the other board committees attendance at these meetings is 
summarised in the table on page 20. 

The role of the social and ethics committee is to ensure that the 
Group’s activities are conducted in an ethical fashion, in accordance 
with accepted principles relating to social and environmental 
responsibility. Furthermore, the committee is charged with ensuring 
that the Group acts as a responsible corporate citizen, particularly 
in the context of the economic, social and environmental challenges 
facing both South Africa and the other countries in which the Group 
operates. 

INVESTMENTS
Investment opportunities as well as acquisition or disposal of 
assets are considered and approved by the board, either during 
regularly scheduled board meetings or, where necessary, at 
meetings specially convened for this specific purpose.

DIRECTORS’ DEALINGS
The Group and its directors comply with the JSE Listings 
Requirements in respect of trading in company shares. In terms 
of the company’s closed-period policy, all directors and staff are 
precluded from dealing in company shares during closed periods, 
which generally occur prior to the release of the Group’s interim 
and final results.
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During any other price-sensitive transactions, the same regulations 
regarding closed periods apply to all directors, office bearers and 
participants in the company’s share incentive schemes, as well as 
to any staff who may have access to price-sensitive information. 

A pre-approval policy and process for all dealings in company 
shares by directors and selected key employees is strictly 
followed. 

Details of any dealings in the company’s shares on the part of 
directors or the company secretary, are publicly available through 
the Stock Exchange News Service (SENS).

The company secretary regularly disseminates written notices to 
the directors, executives, and employees of the Group regarding 
insider trading legislation, and advises them of closed periods.

COMPANY SECRETARY
The principal function of the company secretary is to provide 
the board as a whole and the directors individually with detailed 
guidance as to the proper discharge of their responsibilities in 
the best interest of the company. All directors have unlimited 
access to the advice and services of the company secretary, 
who is accountable to the board for compliance with all board 
procedures, and for adherence to sound corporate governance 
practices and ethical principles.

The company secretary’s principal responsibilities to the board 
and the individual directors are to:

•  guide them in the discharge of their duties, responsibilities and 
powers;

•  provide information, advice and education on matters of ethics 
and good governance; and

•  ensure that their proceedings and affairs, and those of the 
company, are properly administered in compliance with all 
relevant legislation, in particular the Companies Act 2008 and 
the JSE Listings Requirements.

During the year the board has considered and is satisfied that 
the company secretary is competent and has the necessary 
qualifications and experience to perform the role of company 
secretary. By reviewing a disclosure of interests completed by 
the company secretary the board is satisfied that an arm’s-length 
relationship exists between the company secretary and the board 
of directors. The company secretary is a juristic person and the 
board has assessed and considered the individuals, shareholders 
and board of the company secretary in completing their annual 
assessment.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION 
WITH STAKEHOLDERS
The board strives to act at all times in an open and transparent 
manner, and to communicate effectively with all of the Group’s 
stakeholders. In this regard, the board continually seeks to 

improve upon its communication efforts through relevant 
disclosure of financial and other information. In this regard, 
reports, announcements and meetings with investment analysts 
and journalists, as well as the company website, are useful 
conduits for the dissemination of relevant information.

All board members, particularly the board chairperson and the 
chairpersons of the various board committees, are expected 
to attend the company’s annual general meeting, at which 
shareholders can use this opportunity to raise any issues that 
might be of concern to them. A summary of the proceedings of 
annual general meetings and the outcome of voting on the items 
of business are available on request from the company secretary. 

On a semi-annual basis, the board and senior management of the 
Group communicate specifically with targeted major shareholders 
through investor presentations held in various major centres in 
South Africa. The content of these presentations is simultaneously 
made publicly available on the Group’s website. 

With regard to communication between CIG employees and 
the board, various channels exist for communication between 
employees and senior management within the Group and its 
operating divisions, as mandated by legislation, company policy 
and best practice in the field of human resource management.  
At the same time, employees are able to contact board members 
directly, as and when appropriate, particularly in the event of 
serious concerns related specifically to senior management or 
the Group’s executive directors. 

Similarly, other stakeholders are welcome to communicate, once 
again as and when appropriate, with the chairpersons of the 
relevant board committees, in the event of serious concerns that 
are not adequately addressed by the Group’s senior management 
or executive. 

Any other interested parties may contact the board through the 
offices of the company secretary or the chief financial officer. 

REMUNERATION REPORT
The remuneration policy within CIG is reviewed on an annual 
basis by the remuneration and nominations committee as 
described above. This policy is designed to guide the committee 
in regulating the levels of compensation paid by the Group, and 
in applying these in a consistent and equitable manner across its 
various divisions and subsidiary companies.

The committee also oversees the compliance of the Group and 
its subsidiary companies with the Companies Act 2008 and the 
principles of the King III Code in the area of remuneration of 
directors and executives. In this regard, the committee makes 
use of the services of various external consultants, in order to 
determine appropriate levels of remuneration for the individuals 
occupying these positions. 

CORPORATE  
GOVERNANCE
CONTINUED
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Remuneration of directors and executives is determined on the 
basis of a number of principles, including the attraction, retention 
and motivation of the most suitable talent available to the Group, 
and the alignment of the financial interest of senior executives 
with those of shareholders as well as with the Group’s growth and 
business development strategies, as formulated by the board. It is 
also designed to strengthen the working relationships which exist 
between members of senior management and their subordinates 
within each of the Group’s subsidiaries. 

The decisions of the board and committee are implemented 
at subsidiary company level by various committees and/or 
individuals, in order to effectively manage issues such as staff 
retention, skills development and employment equity. 

The committee assists the board by overseeing the following 
activities:

•  Ensuring that the Group’s directors and senior executives are 
competitively rewarded for their individual contributions to the 
Group’s overall performance. The remuneration committee 
therefore ensures that the remuneration of the senior executive 
members of the Group is set by a committee of board members 
who have no personal interest in the outcomes of their decisions 
and who will give due regard to the interests of shareholders 
and to the financial and commercial health of the company;

•  Recommending an appropriate remuneration and reward 
framework (including salaries, benefits, share options and 
incentive schemes) to ensure that high-level management as 
well as key employees are appropriately engaged and retained. 
The framework considers guaranteed remuneration, short-term 
and long-term incentives and benefits.

In general, guaranteed remuneration is negotiated to be market-
related, with this element of total remuneration being assessed 
annually, in order to ensure that employees at various levels within 
the Group are remunerated appropriately. Variable remuneration 
is intended to incentivise and reward both collaborative effort 
and individual performance, and is utilised by management as a 
tool to attract and retain the qualified and competent employees 
required to effectively implement the Group’s strategies. 

The remuneration of non-executive directors takes place on 
a fee-per-meeting basis, with provision for additional monthly 
remuneration in the case of a significant degree of involvement 
in the day-to-day activities of the Group. Fees are proposed on 
an annual basis by the remuneration and nominations committee, 
on the basis they provide a reasonable and market-related return 
on the investment of time, effort and expertise on the part of the 
directors in discharging their responsibilities to the Group. 

The proposed directors’ fees for the 2013 financial year have been 
included as an item for approval at the annual general meeting to 
be held in April 2013. 

Directors’ emoluments are reflected in note 22 to the 
annual financial statements on pages 77 and 78.

Short-term incentive plan
The committee has introduced a short-term incentive plan (STIP) 
where the CEO, CFO and other senior executives will be awarded 
a cash bonus for measured performance against an agreed set of 
objectives, including financial objectives. 

These objectives are determined at the beginning of each 
financial year and the evaluation of performance against them is 
assessed on a weighted basis by the remuneration committee at 
the end of each financial year. The weighting of financial to non-
financial performance targets varies between 30% and 70% of 
overall performance. 

Financial performance is measured according to growth in 
EBITDA, increases in adjusted diluted HEPS or a combination 
of both, while non-financial performance is assessed against 
project completion deadlines and various other key performance 
indicators identified for each individual through discussion with 
their immediate superiors. 

The STIP is not guaranteed, unless 70% of the goals and objectives 
are achieved. Any STIP awarded below these performance levels 
is entirely at the discretion of the remuneration committee.

Long-term incentive plan
The committee has introduced a long-term incentive plan (LTIP) 
for management in order to align performance and profits achieved 
with the long-term interests of the company’s shareholders.  

The LTIP scheme takes the form of options that are equity settled 
in terms of the Buildworks Share Incentive Trust established and 
approved in 2007. The options vest over a four-year period, with 
a ten-year expiration date. The maximum number of options that 
can be granted under the LTIP scheme is currently limited to  
10 million shares. 

At the beginning of each financial year, LTIP participants will 
be granted options representing a percentage of their current 
guaranteed package for that year. The percentages will be 
determined by the remuneration committee. The strike price 
of the options will be calculated based on the volume weighted 
average price (VWAP) for the three months preceding the financial 
year. The vesting of the options will be over a four-year period. 
Actual amounts vested will be determined based on a pre-
determined year-on-year growth rate in pre-tax earnings per share 
excluding profit and losses on the sale of assets, depreciation 
and amortisation and any unrealised foreign exchange gains and 
losses. The number of options that vest in any one-year period will 
decrease linearly if the pre-determined growth rate is not achieved. 
Options not fully vested in any one year could still vest in any of the 
following years, provided the required cumulative growth target for 
the relevant period has been achieved. The maximum period of 
time for each potential vesting is a four-year cycle.
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OUR PEOPLE  



HUMAN CAPITAL
At the end of the 2012 financial year, the Group’s two divisions 
and three operating units employed 1 360 staff. Both the Power 
and Building Materials divisions rely at various times on short-term 
and temporary employees, dependent on business demands and 
the nature of projects being executed. 

Within Conco, the attraction of skilled and qualified talent remains 
one of the largest challenges facing the company. At the same 
time, as the demand for infrastructure development expertise and 
services within South Africa and on the African continent grows, 
the retention of existing staff becomes an increasingly challenging 
task. 

In order to effectively address these issues, the board, in 
consultation with the senior management of Conco, has 
implemented a targeted staff attraction and retention strategy. In 
addition, significant resources have been invested in increasing 
and improving the capacity of the human resources department 
within Conco, as evidenced by the appointment during 2012 of 
a new HR director, as well as the recruitment of a number of HR 
professionals in various capacities within the company. 

Within the Building Materials division, the relatively small number 
of skilled and management-level employees also implies high 
levels of susceptibility to the impacts of staff turnover amongst 
these employees. To combat this situation, both DSS and WECB 
have implemented various initiatives related to succession 
planning and information management, which have served to 
limit the potential impacts of loss or turnover within key positions. 
Furthermore, during the course of the financial year, a number of 
steps have been taken to integrate the management of the two 
operations comprising the Building Materials division.

With regard to the issue of ethnic and gender transformation in 
the workplace, and the policies of the South African government 
in the area of black economic empowerment, Conco is accredited 
as a Level 4 BEE contributor. Within the Building Materials 
division, WECB is a Level 8 contributor, while DSS received a 
“Satisfactory” rating according to the Mining Industry Scorecard. 
Over the past year, a concerted effort has been made to improve 
representation within the Group, particularly in terms of the 
expansion that has taken place within Conco. The success of 
this process is evident from the fact that both ethnic and gender 
representation has improved across almost all of levels of 
employment within the company.

Within the Building Materials division, transformation initiatives 
are of course a significant element of the social and labour 
plans that are required by the South African Department of 
Mineral Resources for both DSS and WECB. In this regard, a 
number of initiatives exist to promote representation within the 
two companies, particularly at the level of middle and senior 
management. These initiatives are aimed at effectively combining 

“CIG RECOGNISES THAT OUR PEOPLE 
LIE AT THE HEART OF OUR SUCCESS”
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training and capacity building initiatives with appropriate internal 
and external recruitment policies. 

This focus on improved representation will of course continue 
during 2013 and beyond, and it is CIG’s intention that in the future, 
each of its operating units will more closely reflect the ethnic and 
gender breakdown of South Africa’s population.

Local employment is also a priority for CIG, and each of the 
Group’s business units makes a concerted effort to, wherever 
possible, recruit employees from local communities. This is 
particularly relevant in the case of the Power division, since the 
projects undertaken by the division are often located in relatively 
remote areas, meaning that the collaboration of local communities 
is essential for their successful execution. 

As part of the Group’s drive to develop and retain the best talent 
available in the country, ongoing training is a priority.

Within the Building Materials division, a significant percentage 
of total training conducted was in terms of the Adult Basic 
Education and Training (ABET) programme conducted at DSS. 
This programme has been underway since 2008, and is open 
to all employees and their (adult) immediate families. A total 
of 34 employees and family members have participated in the 
programme over the past five years. 

The significant increase in training conducted within the Building 
Materials division between the 2011 and 2012 financial years, 
is due to the fact that for various operational reasons, the ABET 
programme was placed on hold for several months during the 
2011 financial year, only resuming in July 2011. 

Employee training 
All levels, including temporary employees

Hours Cost (R) % HDI

2012
Power division 1 568 2 518 453 86
Building Materials division 12 731 239 000 89

2011

Power division 1 354 2 313 000 80
Building Materials division 693 178 000 81

HDI Historically disadvantaged individuals

Within Conco, the majority of formal and specific training that 
takes place is focused on the development of relevant technical 
skills. This is of course complemented by extensive on-the-job 
training and mentorship at various levels. Conco is in the process 
of registering with the Construction SETA as an accredited 
training provider.

OUR PEOPLE
CONTINUED

TRAINING, RETAINING AND 
EMPOWERING OUR PEOPLE
At CIG, we take pride in our ongoing efforts to recruit, 
retain and empower the very best talent. As a result, we 
are extremely proud of those employees who have come 
to embody the success of the various programmes that 
we have implemented to achieve these objectives. 

Within Conco, the changes that have taken place within 
the company over the past several years, in terms of the 
acquisition by CIG and the transformation from a privately 
held business to the principal component of a publicly 
listed group, have provided significant opportunities 
to a number of employees, for advancement and even 
ownership of the company. 

This is particularly the case for two members of Conco 
senior management team, David van Zyl, the company’s 
chief executive officer and Slu Gesha, the chief operating 
officer. Both of these individuals have grown through the 
ranks of the company over more than a decade, and both 
were beneficiaries of various empowerment deals and 
employee share ownership programmes, as well as of 
Conco’s acquisition by CIG in 2007. As a result, they both 
now hold substantial shareholdings in CIG.

At other levels of the company, particularly those that 
relate to specialist and technical skills and knowledge, it 
is Conco’s policy to incentivise and reward employees at 
levels in excess of established market rates. This applies 
across all forms of remuneration, from basic salaries to 
performance incentives and share options. 

Furthermore, Conco places a high priority on continuing 
training and education within its workforce. Employees 
at all levels are encouraged to participate in technical 
and professional education programmes, and where the 
skills acquired are directly applicable to the company’s 
activities, Conco will in the majority of instances provide 
financial support to the employees in question. 

As discussed above, in 2012 Conco for the first time 
embarked on a technical learnership programme, in 
which 13 historically disadvantaged female engineering 
graduates were accommodated within the company for 
one year, with four of these learners offered permanent 
employment at the end of this period. The programme 
will be expanded in 2013 to accommodate a further eight 
graduates.
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During 2012, Conco implemented a specific training initiative 
known as the Conco Skills Academy. The first phase of this 
initiative involved the granting of learnerships to 13 high potential 
candidates, all previously disadvantaged and all female. These 
candidates were recruited directly from various technical tertiary 
institutions, and were selected from almost 1 000 applicants. 

Within this learnership programme, the training offered to the 
candidates included both in-depth practical engineering and 
technical training, and exposure to each of Conco’s principal fields 
of operation, namely substations, overhead lines and protection 
and automation.

In terms of the outcomes of the programme, Conco has offered 
permanent positions to the five best-performing candidates for the 
2013 financial year. The programme will also be repeated in 2013, 
with eight new interns being recruited. 

Employee engagement and collective bargaining
Within each of CIG’s business units, joint management-worker 
forums (or equivalent structures) have been established to 
address issues of common interest or concern. As a rule, these 
structures meet once every quarter, and the outcomes of their 
discussions and recommendations are presented to both senior 
management and employees for further discussion, ratification or 
implementation. 

In the case of Conco, at the end of the 2012 financial year, 50% 
of the permanent workforce was unionised. The sole officially 
recognised trade union within the division is the United Association 
of South Africa (UASA). Within the Building Materials division, 
employees within both DSS and WECB are represented by the 
National Union of Mineworkers (NUM), with the representation 
levels being 36% for DSS and 28% for WECB.

In general, relations between management and the union have 
remained cordial and collaborative, with no industrial actions 
undertaken by employees during the financial year under review. 

HEALTH AND SAFETY
The activities undertaken within the operating divisions of CIG 
are for the most part relatively hazardous in nature. This is 
particularly true of the Power division and its activities involving 
the construction and commissioning of high voltage substations 
and overhead lines. 

As a result, the issue of employee health and safety is, and 
will always remain, a matter of the highest priority for CIG. The 
Group’s operating divisions are constantly seeking to maintain 
and improve their safety records, and in this regard a number 
of specific programmes have been successfully implemented; in 
certain instances, these programmes have been operational for 
several years.

Within Conco, under the leadership of a highly experienced 
manager recruited from the mining industry in 2010, an 
integrated safety, health, environment, risk and quality (SHERQ) 
management system has been implemented. As part of this 
system, over the past financial year, the individuals responsible 
for the various elements of this system have been compelled to 
report on their respective activities on an integrated basis. 

Within this integrated system, every attempt is made to engage 
with all relevant stakeholders on an ongoing basis. Internally, this 
engagement has been broadened to include all elements of the 
project value chain within Conco, from tender submissions and 
design elements, through procurement and project execution 
to site verification and final sign-off. During the course of the 
financial year, a number of health and safety-related issues have 
been raised in the joint management-workers forum described 
above. External stakeholders engaged include clients, service 
providers, equipment suppliers and subcontractors.

Within the Building Materials division, extensive policies are in 
place to manage and monitor all safety and health-related issues, 
including those related to safety practices and procedures, 
personal protective equipment (PPE), road and vehicle safety, 
dust exposure, noise-induced hearing loss, and chronic conditions 
such as HIV/AIDS and tuberculosis. These issues are also 
discussed on an ongoing basis as required in joint management-
worker forums or similar structures. 

These programmes have brought about an improvement in the 
performance of both the Group’s operating divisions during the 
past financial year. 

In spite of these measures however, the Group did unfortunately 
experience a fatal accident during the course of the financial year. 
This incident occurred on 22 March 2012, at the Eros Vuyani 
overhead line project undertaken by Conco in the Eastern Cape 
province of South Africa. The deceased, Mr S Miya, was a limited 
duration contract employee recruited for the project. During 
the process of stringing a high-tension wire cable between two 
towers, a clamp holding the cable failed and Mr Miya was struck 
by the whiplashing cable. 

The subsequent investigation into the incident recommended 
the removal and testing of all similar clamps in use within Conco, 
as well as a change in the type of clamps used to secure high-
tension cables. Furthermore, additional safety-related training and 
observation was undertaken across the company. 

While nothing can make up for the loss of a loved one, Conco was 
in a position to compensate the family of Mr Miya, and to assist the 
family in obtaining additional compensation through a submission 
to the Department of Labour’s Compensation Commissioner. 
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In order to constantly improve the Group’s performance in the 
areas of safety, health and related issues, various standards 
and certifications are implemented on an ongoing basis. Within 
the Power division, an external ISO 9001 audit was undertaken 
in March 2012, and the certification awarded in July. Within the 
Building Materials division, WECB has been ISO 9001 certified 
since May 2010, while DSS underwent an audit of its safety, 
health and quality systems by the Aggregate and Sand Producers 
Association of South Africa (ASPASA) in March 2012, achieving a 
compliance score of above 80%.

In terms of HIV-related programmes, this remains an ongoing 
focus for the Group. In line with Department of Health guidelines, 
all employees are encouraged to know their status, and no 
discrimination is tolerated towards any employee based on his 
or her HIV status. Each of CIG’s operating units possesses an 
established HIV/AIDS policy, aimed at ensuring confidentiality with 
regard to employees’ HIV status, protecting the dignity of those 
employees affected by the disease, assisting such employees in 
accessing the necessary medical, health and lifestyle assistance 
to manage their condition, and maximising their opportunities to 
remain employed by the Group for as long as possible. 

Within Conco, up to the 2011 financial year, it was company 
practice to hold a Voluntary Counselling and Testing (VCT) day 
at the company’s head office for all employees. In the past year, 
however, the growth in the size of the company, as well as the 
wide geographical distribution of its projects, made this logistically 
impossible. As a result, while responsibility for the management 
of the various HIV awareness, testing and treatment programmes 
that are in place within Conco remains with relevant management 
representatives at the company’s head office, the implementation 
of these programmes has shifted somewhat to the health and 
safety officers located on the project sites in which Conco is 
engaged. 

Within the Building Materials division, similar policies exist with 
regard to HIV and AIDS. In addition, a number of initiatives related 
to both HIV/AIDS awareness and prevention of the spread of the 
disease are undertaken by both DSS and WECB on an ongoing 
basis. These include participation in the Department of Health’s 
condom distribution schemes, and various events related to 
World AIDS Day. 

In the 2013 financial year, it is CIG’s intention to capitalise on the 
progress that has been made to date in the area of health and 
safety, and to further enhance the Group’s performance in this 
sphere. 

OUR PEOPLE
CONTINUED
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In spite of the incomplete nature of the Group’s health and safety data for 
the financial year, management remains confident that all of the Group’s 
subsidiaries comply fully with relevant legislation, and that the Group’s 
record in this area compares favourably with those of competitors.
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AWARDS RECEIVED  
DURING 2012

A number of awards were received by the Group’s subsidiary 
companies. For the Exxaro Medupi Project (also known as 
the Grootgeluk Medupi Expansion Project), Conco received 
the “Contractor of the Month” award for the following months:

• September 2011 720 days lost time injury (LTI) free 

• December 2011 810 days LTI free

• March 2012 900 days LTI free

• April 2012  930 days LTI free

• May 2012  960 days LTI free

• June 2012 1 000 days LTI free

In addition, Eskom Power Delivery Projects, to which Conco 
is a major contractor for the 400kv Eros Vuyani Project, 
received an Award for Implementation Excellence from the 
South African Institute of Electrical Engineering (SAIEE) at 
the Institute’s Annual Awards held in November 2012. 
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OUR IMPACTS  
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ECONOMIC
Through its various operations in the field of physical infrastructure 
sector, CIG seeks to add significant economic value, not only to 
shareholders, but also to employees, clients, suppliers and the 
local communities in which it operates. Conco’s activities in the 
field of electrical infrastructure are a vital enabler of industrial 
development, employment and economic growth, as well as 
of social services such as education and health, particularly in 
regions in Africa which have historically not enjoyed access to 
electricity. The operations within the Building Materials division 
provide inputs to the construction sector, thereby assisting in the 
construction of factories, offices, homes, roads and a variety of 
other essential infrastructure. 

Value added statement
During the 2012 financial year, the Group significantly expanded 
its activities in the renewable energy generation sector, primarily 
as a result of the South African government’s REIPP programme. 
Conco successfully tendered for three out of the eight wind power 
generation projects announced in the first phase of the bidding 
process, and is still currently in negotiations with additional 
wind projects awarded in the first phase of the programme. 
Negotiations have commenced with several of the preferred 
bidders announced in the second phase of the process. At the 
end of the 2012 financial year, the value of confirmed orders 
for work related to the REIPP programme was in excess of  
R600 million, while the total generation capacity of the projects in 
which Conco will participate is over 330MW for wind energy and 
75MW for solar energy. In the case of the wind projects, this figure 
represents over 53% of the total generation capacity allocated to 
wind energy under Round One of the programme. 

Conco has also submitted proposals to a number of high-
value projects included in the second round of bidding for the 
REIPP project. These proposals represent potential revenue of 
approximately R400 million for the company, and are currently 
included in the figure for tenders awaiting adjudication. 

Conco and CIG are therefore well positioned, along with their 
partners in these projects, to make a significant contribution to 
the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions in South Africa. 

In terms of the risks and opportunities confronting CIG and 
its subsidiaries in the area of climate change, the potential for 
Conco to be involved in renewable energy projects is set to 
increase across the entire African continent. At the same time, 
within the Building Materials division, it is highly likely that the 
future predicted costs of the (non-renewable) energy and water 
used in these operations will increase substantially, as the 
future availability of these resources declines. It is however not 
anticipated that shortages or cost increases in these areas will 
in any way compromise production within the Building Materials 
division.

By their nature, the activities of CIG’s subsidiary companies hold 
significant indirect benefits for a number of stakeholder groups 
with which the Group engages. Conco, through its activities in the 
power sector, facilitates and maintains the supply of electricity to 
communities and commercial operations, often in regions which 
did not previously enjoy access to this vital service. Furthermore, 
the company’s activities provide employment in local communities 
in which its projects are located, and in addition to this, they 
transfer valuable skills to community members, which increase 
their chances of further employment in the future. Similarly, 
the operations comprising the Building Materials division 
provide significant employment to the communities around their 
operations, while their product contributes to the development 
of South Africa’s economy and society, through their use in the 
construction sector in the country. 

In line with the imperatives that exist within South Africa regarding 
social development, issues of corporate social responsibility 
(CSR) and corporate social investment (CSI) feature prominently 
in the activities of CIG. As might be expected, the majority of these 
activities were organised, managed and executed at a divisional 
rather than Group level.

Economic value generated and distributed table

2012
R’000

2011
R’000 Explanation

Direct economic value generated  1 574 986  1 468 786 
Revenues  1 574 986  1 468 786 Net sales plus revenues from financial investments and sale of assets.
Economic value distributed  1 462 305  1 338 013 
Operating costs  1 194 366  1 087 347 Payments to suppliers, non-strategic investments, royalties and 

facilitation payments.
Employee wages and benefits  187 965  163 337 Total monetary outflow for employees (current payments not future 

commitments).
Payments to providers of capital  32 481  25 817 All financial payments made to providers of the organisation's capital.
Payments to government (by country)  46 190  60 557 Gross taxes.
Community investments  1 304  955 Voluntary contributions and investment of funds in broader community

(including donations).
Economic value retained  112 681  130 773 

“THROUGH ITS VARIOUS OPERATIONS, CIG 
SEEKS TO ADD SIGNIFICANT ECONOMIC 
VALUE TO ALL STAKEHOLDERS”

OUR IMPACTS
CONTINUED



33
CONSOLIDATED INFRASTRUCTURE GROUP LIMITED 

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2012

Within the Building Materials division, the principal CSI project 
undertaken was the Stumblebloc brick-making project initiated 
by the Randfontein Municipality. This project aims to promote 
entrepreneurship and the creation of small, medium and micro 
enterprises (SMMEs) in the brick-making industry in the area. 
The project was supported by both WECB and DSS as part of 
their commitments under their respective social and labour plans. 
The total cost of the project was R500 000 and each operation 
donated a sum of R100 000 to this total.

At Conco, the company and its staff members continued to exhibit 
the levels of compassion and generosity that saw the company 
awarded the status of a Level 3 Gold Contributor by the South 
African Department of Social Development in August 2011. 
During the 2012 financial year, almost R1 million was donated 
by the company to various charities and CSI projects. Major 
beneficiaries include: 

•  The South African National Council for the Blind;

•  Cotlands: an organisation that provides shelter and care for 
orphans, abandoned and abused children:

•  SOS Children’s Village: an organisation that provides family 
based care for less fortunate children;

•  Hospice: an organisation that provides care for terminally ill 
patients; and

•  Groote Schuur Hospital: a hospital which provides care for 
many ill and less fortunate patients, both children and adults. 

In the majority of instances, the contribution of Conco and its 
employees is not limited to financial donations. Periodic visits are 
organised to the charities and projects, and staff members are 
encouraged to participate in these events. 

In 2012, Mandela Day, celebrated on 18 July 2012, provided 
a major focus for the company’s CSI-related activities. On that 
day, several Conco employees visited the Cotlands facility in 
Turffontein and the Banakekeleni Hospice in Alexandra, both in 
Johannesburg, with the objective of spending time with the children 
and adults to whom Conco provides support. Similarly, members 
of a Conco project team working in Northam in the Limpopo 
province of South Africa undertook a Mandela Day initiative to 
clean up an area surrounding the project, and managed to collect 
over 70 bags of refuse. 

IN THE FUTURE, CIG WILL CONTINUE TO SUPPORT ORGANISATIONS 
AND CAUSES CLOSE TO THE HEARTS OF ITS EMPLOYEES, AND 
WE HOPE TO INCREASE THE LEVELS OF PARTICIPATION AMONGST 
OUR STAFF MEMBERS IN VARIOUS ACTIVITIES BEING PLANNED 
FOR MANDELA DAY 2013.
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ENVIRONMENTAL
CIG and its subsidiary operations are committed to acting as 
environmentally responsible corporate citizens, through the 
development and implementation of policies and practices that 
both comply with national, provincial and local requirements and 
adhere to internationally accepted best practice in the sectors in 
which it operates. 

Within the Building Materials division, both DSS and WECB 
have been certified as being in full compliance with all relevant 
regulatory requirements, at national, provincial and local level. 
The principal environmental requirements applicable to these 
companies relate to dust control, water discharge, fossil fuel 
storage and solid waste disposal. 

As mentioned above, DSS is a member of ASPASA and as such, 
is audited by the organisation on a biannual basis. This audit takes 
place as two distinct components, one related to safety, health 
and quality, and the other related exclusively to environmental 
considerations. DSS underwent the environmental audit in March 
2012, and achieved a compliance score of above 80%. 

CIG is aware of only one relatively minor environmental incident 
within the Building Materials division. This incident occurred 
in February 2012 and involved a spillage of approximately  
50 – 100 litres of diesel fuel at the WECB fuel depot. An internal 
investigation by the safety officer at WECB determined that the 
responsibility for the incident lay with an external contractor that 
delivered the fuel to WECB. The contractor was held responsible 
for the cleanup of the spillage, which was undertaken to the 
satisfaction of WECB. Several months later, the contract with this 
service provider was not renewed due to a number of service-
related issues. 

In the case of Conco, the company finds itself in a somewhat 
unique situation with regard to environmental responsibility. As a 
rule, the primary responsibility for environmental considerations 
lies with the client or project developer, rather than with Conco as 
a contractor or service provider, and Conco is therefore generally 
not involved in the process of conducting environmental impact 
assessments or obtaining the necessary environmental approvals 
for the projects in which it participates. 

At the same time, however, the process of constructing electrical 
substations and overhead power lines does contain inherent 
environmental risks and impacts. As a result, Conco has found 
it to be to the company’s advantage to develop highly detailed 
environmental assessment and management methodologies, 
within the integrated SHERQ management system described 
above. These policies and procedures are applied during the 
execution of every project in which the company participates, 
and their value has been clearly demonstrated on a number of 
occasions, where they have placed Conco in a position to advise 

clients regarding potential environmental hazards and/or regulatory 
infringements which might otherwise have gone unnoticed. This 
process is an integral part of the proactive approach adopted by 
Conco in the execution of the contracts that it undertakes, as well 
as an example of CIG’s objective of adding value beyond its core 
activities. 

For the year under review, no detailed information exists within 
the Group for various environmental indicators, such as energy 
and water consumption, fossil fuel consumption, greenhouse gas 
emissions or materials usage and/or recycling. Taking materiality 
into consideration, this situation will be addressed, as per the 
Group’s requirements, in the upcoming financial year and beyond. 

CIG is not aware of any serious infringements on the part of 
its subsidiary companies of environmental regulations in South 
Africa or any other countries in which the Group operates. 
Similarly, no fines or sanctions have been imposed on the Group 
or its operating companies for contraventions of environmental 
regulations in any country in which it operates. 

SOCIAL
Human rights
CIG is committed to promoting and maintaining respect for human 
rights, as defined in the United Nations’ Universal Declaration of 
Human Rights, in all its activities and operating locations. In this 
regard, senior management and executives of all the Group’s 
operating companies have completed a detailed base line 
risk assessment to identify potential weaknesses and areas of 
potential improvement related to compliance with best practice 
and standards.

In line with this commitment, the company does not tolerate any 
activities on the part of its employees or sub-contractors that 
might contravene the basic human rights of any individual. Such 
activities might include child labour, forced or compulsory labour, 
or the contravention of the rights of indigenous peoples in the 
areas in which it operates. Furthermore, the Group supports the 
rights of its employees to freedom of association and collective 
bargaining, as enshrined in the South African Constitution. 

In this regard, a number of specific actions have been implemented 
by CIG and its operating divisions. Within Conco, community 
engagement is a key element of the company’s activities in the 
areas in which it operates, particularly in the context of recruitment 
of local labour. As a result, when operating on project sites either 
within or outside of South Africa, all employees are expected to 
adhere to a code of conduct which lays out standards regarding 
norms of accepted behaviours as well as guidelines regarding 
interactions with local communities and local authorities. 

Within both Conco and the Building Materials divisions, a number 
of measures have been implemented to reduce the risks of hiring 

OUR IMPACTS
CONTINUED
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underage employees, including documentary age verification and 
measures aimed at reducing employee substitution. 

Furthermore, CIG actively engages with its suppliers in this and 
other areas. Within Conco in particular, periodic site visits are 
undertaken to the manufacturing facilities of major suppliers, 
and a specific objective of these visits is to establish the level of 
adherence on the part of these suppliers to basic employment 
standards and basic human rights. 

During the year under review, no human rights-related clauses 
were included in supplier agreements, but it is the intention 
of CIG’s management, and that of its operating divisions, to 
constantly monitor this aspect of its supplier relationships, and 
wherever necessary, to include such clauses in new agreements 
concluded with suppliers in the future. 

An indication of the effectiveness of the Group’s efforts in this 
area is the fact that no fines or sanctions were levied against any 
of the operating divisions during the financial year. Furthermore, 
management is not aware of any incidents relating to human rights 
violations on the part of any of its employees, and neither have 
any operations or projects been identified as holding significant 
risk of such incidents occurring in the future.

Society
Within CIG, the areas of corruption and anti-competitive behaviour 
were identified as issues of significant potential risk during the 
2012 financial year. As a result, these issues feature prominently 
in the Group’s risk management framework and associated 
risk matrix. Significant attention on the part of executives and 
management was directed towards the mitigation of potential risk 
in this area. 

Issues of corruption are considered to be most relevant to Conco’s 
activities both inside and outside South Africa, while across both 
divisions, anti-competitive behaviour is deemed particularly 
relevant to CIG’s local operations. 

In the case of Conco, the vast majority of contracts won by 
the company take place on the basis of open tenders, and are 
therefore awarded on the basis of both price competitiveness and 
the ability to provide the most appropriate technical solution to the 
client in question. At the same time, however, corruption-related 
risks were identified as being highest in the company’s operations 
outside South Africa, particularly in terms of activities undertaken 
by the company’s appointed agents and representatives who 
operate in various African countries. 

In order to mitigate this risk, all agents are required to sign a 
code of conduct containing specific clauses which detail the 
company’s expectations with regard to statutory compliance in 
this area. In spite of this and other measures, however, Conco’s 

ability to control the actions of its external agents remains 
limited, and the statutory compliance risks associated with these 
individuals remain significant and subject to careful monitoring 
and management on an ongoing basis.

Within South Africa, CIG and its divisions remain susceptible to 
compliance-related risks relating to anti-competitive behaviour. In 
the case of Conco, this risk stems to a significant degree from 
the fact that there exist a limited number of companies capable 
of providing the type of high quality specialised services offered 
by Conco. This implies that the company finds itself operating in 
a niche market, with very few competitors bidding for projects in 
the power sector, and with significant potential for collusion and 
price-fixing, particularly at the levels of middle management and 
technical experts. 

In order to effectively address this issue and mitigate the company’s 
risk in this area to as great a degree as possible, Conco’s senior 
management and relevant members of the technical teams have 
been educated with regard to statutory compliance requirements, 
and in addition, are required to sign codes of ethical conduct. 
As mentioned above, however, the enforcement of these codes 
remains potentially problematic, and consequently the residual 
risk to the Group remains relatively high.

The first steps in the mitigation of these risks took place during 
the 2011 financial year, with the development of the detailed 
risk framework and the introduction of appropriate corporate 
policies and practices. Substantial training relating to these risks 
was also provided at the level of the Group’s board and senior 
management, and in the upcoming financial year, specific training 
regarding these issues will be provided to senior management 
within both the Group’s operating divisions, as well as to 
individuals in decision-making positions within Conco’s project 
execution teams. Furthermore, where appropriate, information 
regarding CIG’s policies and activities in these areas will be 
provided to equipment suppliers and offshore agents operating 
on behalf of Conco. 

As a result of these activities, it is anticipated that the risks 
associated with both corruption and anti-competitive behaviour 
within the Group’s operations will be significantly reduced to an 
acceptable level within the Group’s appetite for risk.

During the 2012 financial year, no external investigations were 
launched into the activities of CIG’s subsidiaries, and no fines or 
sanctions were levied against the Group or any of its operating 
companies in this field.

Product responsibility
CIG is committed to providing its clients with the highest quality 
products and solutions at competitive prices.
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In the case of the Building Materials division, the products of 
both DSS and WECB are certified as complying with accepted 
industry standards. DSS maintains an ongoing commercial 
relationship with Roadlab, a highly reputable civil engineering 
testing laboratory accredited by SANAS, the South African 
National Accreditation System. Roadlab maintains an ongoing 
presence at the DSS premises, and undertakes weekly tests on 
the company’s products. 

In the case of WECB, the company’s products are approved 
by the South African Bureau of Standards (SABS), while as 
mentioned above, its operational practices are in line with the  
ISO 9001 quality standard. 

Within Conco, the situation is somewhat different, in light of the fact 
that the company does not produce any equipment, but rather acts 
as an integrator of original equipment manufactured by various 
companies worldwide. As a result, the primary responsibility for 
compliance with various national and international standards 
related to safety, quality and operational efficiency generally lies 
with the equipment manufacturers, rather than with Conco. 

At the same time, however, by including various components or 
pieces of equipment in a particular solution provided to a client, 

Conco assumes a degree of responsibility for the performance of 
these components. In this regard, the Protection and Automation 
division within Conco plays a vital role in ensuring that all 
componentry and equipment included in a particular project adheres 
to both internal and external standards regarding performance, 
quality, safety, environmental risk and various other factors. 

Furthermore, in order to ensure the necessary levels of 
performance and reliability within the components selected for 
a particular solution, Conco actively engages with its suppliers 
on an ongoing basis, and wherever possible enters into supplier 
agreements that allow it to actively monitor the quality of 
component manufacturing processes through ongoing testing, 
supplier observance visits and various other measures.

This engagement with suppliers is a major factor in Conco’s 
continued success in the area of integration and implementation 
of customised turnkey power projects. 

CIG is not aware of any incidents of non-compliance with 
regulatory or voluntary codes, in any areas, related to the use of 
its products or services. Furthermore, no fines or sanction have 
been levied against the Group or its operating units in respect of 
the use or operation of its products or services. 

OUR IMPACTS
CONTINUED
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The directors are required in terms of the Companies Act of South Africa, 2008 (as amended) to maintain adequate accounting records 
and are responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial statements and Group annual financial statements and related 
financial information included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the annual financial statements and Group annual 
financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the Group as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and 
cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards. The external auditors are engaged 
to express an independent opinion on the annual financial statements and Group annual financial statements.

The annual financial statements and Group annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements 
and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the Group and place 
considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors to meet these responsibilities, the board of 
directors sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. The standards include the 
proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties 
to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the Group and all employees are required to maintain the 
highest ethical standards in ensuring the Group’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. 
The focus of risk management in the Group is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the Group. 
While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the Group endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, 
systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of internal control 
provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the annual financial statements. However, 
any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast for the year to 31 August 2013 and, in the light of this review and the current 
financial position, they are satisfied that the Group has or has access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently reviewing and reporting on the Group’s annual financial statements. 
The annual financial statements and Group annual financial statements have been examined by the Group’s external auditors 
and their report is presented on page 43.

The annual financial statements and Group annual financial statements set out on pages 44 to 100, which have been prepared 
on the going concern basis, were approved by the board of directors on 21 February 2013 and were signed on its behalf by:

IM Klitzner RD Gamsu
Financial director Chief executive officer

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES AND APPROVAL

For the year ended 31 August 2012, the company has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission all such returns 
as are required of a public company in terms of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended, and all such returns are true, correct and up 
to date in respect of the financial year reported on.

Probity Business Services (Pty) Ltd
Company secretary

21 February 2013

DECLARATION OF THE COMPANY SECRETARY



39
CONSOLIDATED INFRASTRUCTURE GROUP LIMITED 

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2012

The directors submit their annual report, which forms part of the annual financial statements of the company and the Group for the year 
ended 31 August 2012.

REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES
Main business and operations
 The Group is engaged in the establishment of electrical infrastructure in South Africa and the rest of Africa and the supply of heavy building 
materials to the construction industry. The operating results and state of affairs of the Group and company are fully set out in the attached 
annual financial statements and do not in our opinion require any further comment. Net profit of the Group was R136,9 million (2011: 
R111,1 million profit), after taxation of R51,1 million (2011: R43,3 million).

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Refer to note 36 for a detailed description of subsequent events.

AUTHORISED AND ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL
 The number of ordinary shares in issue at 31 August 2012 was 118,8 million (2011: 113,6 million). The number of shares issued but not 
listed at 31 August 2012 was 3 million (2011: 3 million). CIG consolidated the share capital on a 10 for 1 basis with effect from 20 June 
2011. During the year 5,2 million ordinary shares were issued to selected institutions. The unissued ordinary shares are under the control 
of the directors until the next annual general meeting.

BORROWING LIMITATIONS
 In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation of the company, the directors may exercise all the powers of the company to borrow money, 
as they consider appropriate. Subject to the solvency and liquidity test the borrowing powers of the directors are unlimited.

DIVIDENDS
No dividends were declared or paid to shareholders during the year.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the company during the year and to the date of this report are as follows:

Name Changes

RD Gamsu Executive (Chief executive officer)
IM Klitzner Executive (Financial director)
K Bucknor – Ghanaian Non-executive Appointed 24 August 2012
AD Dixon Independent – non-executive
P Voutyritsas – Greek Non-executive Resigned 24 August 2012
N Mintah – American Independent – non-executive Resigned 24 August 2012
B Berelowitz Executive
F Boner Independent – non-executive (Chairman)
P Baird – American Independent – non-executive Resigned 10 January 2012
A Darko – Ghanaian Independent – non-executive
R Horton Independent – non-executive
J Nwokedi Independent – non-executive Appointed 24 August 2012

INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES

Name of subsidiary
Net income/(loss) after tax

R’000

West End Claybrick (Pty) Ltd (1 204) 
Drift Supersand (Pty) Ltd 14 909
Consolidated Power Projects (Pty) Ltd 113 536
Consolidated Power Maintenance and Investments (Pty) Ltd  –

Details of the company’s investments in subsidiaries are set out in note 6.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
CONTINUED

SECRETARY
The secretary of the company is Probity Business Services (Pty) Ltd.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS
The following special resolutions were passed by shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 16 April 2012 and registered by the 
Registrar of Companies during the reporting period:

Special resolution number 1: Financial assistance to related or inter-related companies
“Resolved that, to the extent required by the Companies Act, the board of directors of the company may, subject to compliance with the 
requirements of the Memorandum of Incorporation, the Companies Act and the Listings Requirements, each as presently constituted 
and as amended from time to time, authorise the company to provide direct or indirect financial assistance in terms of section 45 of the 
Companies Act by way of loans, guarantees, the provisions of security or otherwise, to any of its present or future subsidiaries and/or 
any other company or corporation that is or becomes related or inter-related (as defined in the Companies Act) to the company for any 
purpose or in connection with any matter, such authority to endure until the next annual general meeting provided that such authority shall 
not extend beyond 15 months, and further provided that inasmuch as the company’s provision of financial assistance to its subsidiaries will 
at any and all times be in excess of 1% of the company’s net worth, the company hereby provided notice to its shareholders of that fact.”

Reason and effect
The reason for, and effect of, special resolution number 1 was to permit the company to provide direct or indirect financial assistance (within 
the meaning attributed to that term in section 45 of the Companies Act) to the entities referred to in special resolution number 1 above.

Special resolution number 2: Share repurchases
“Resolved that the directors be authorised in terms of the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, until this authority lapses at the next 
annual general meeting of the company unless it is then renewed at the next annual general meeting of the company and provided that this 
authority shall not extend beyond 15 months, to enable the company or any subsidiary of the company to acquire shares of the company 
subject to the Listings Requirements and the Companies Act.”

Reason and effect
The reason for special resolution number 2 was to afford directors of the company a general authority for the company (or a subsidiary 
of the company) to effect a buy-back of the company’s shares on the JSE. The effect of the resolution will be that the directors will have 
the authority, subject to the Listings Requirements and the Companies Act, to effect acquisitions of the company’s shares on the JSE.

AUDITORS
PKF (Jhb) Inc. will continue in office in accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act, 2008.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
 The audit and risk committee met four times during the year and the internal and external auditors presented formal reports to the committee 
and attended meetings by invitation. In accordance with the Companies Act, 2008, as amended, the committee reports as follows:

• The scope, independence and objectivity of the external auditors was reviewed.

•  The audit firm PKF (Jhb) Inc., and audit partner S Kock, are, in the committee’s opinion, independent of the company, and have been 
proposed to the shareholders for approval to be the Group’s auditor for the 2013 financial year.

• On an ongoing basis, the committee reviews and approves the fees proposed by the external auditors.

•  The appointment of the external auditor complies with the Companies Act, 2008, as amended, and with all other legislation relating to 
the appointment of external auditors.

•  The nature and extent of non-audit services provided by the external auditors has been reviewed to ensure that the fees for such 
services do not become so significant as to call into question their independence.

•  The nature and extent of future non-audit services have been defined and pre-approved.

•  As at the date of this report, no complaints have been received relating to accounting practices and internal audit of the company or to 
the content or auditing of the company’s financial statements, or to any related matter.
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 31 August 2012.

TERMS OF REFERENCE
The committee has adopted formal terms of reference that have been approved by the board of directors. The committee has conducted 
its affairs in compliance with its terms of reference and has discharged its responsibilities contained therein. 

MEMBERS, MEETING ATTENDANCE AND ASSESSMENT 
The committee is independent and consists of three independent, non-executive directors, Tony Dixon, Alex Darko and Frank Boner.  
It meets at least three times a year as per its terms of reference. 

The CFO, internal auditor, external auditor, corporate advisor and other assurance providers attend meetings by invitation only. 

During the year under review four meetings were held. Members’ attendance at these meetings is summarised in the table 
on page 20.

ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES
Statutory duties 
The committee’s role and responsibilities include statutory duties per the Companies Act, 2008, and further responsibilities assigned to 
it by the board. The committee executed its duties in terms of the requirements of King III and instances where the King III requirements 
have not been applied have been explained in the corporate governance statement, included elsewhere in the integrated report. 

External auditor appointment and independence 
The committee has satisfied itself that the external auditor, PKF (Jhb) Inc., was independent of the company, which includes consideration 
of previous appointments of the auditor, the extent of other work undertaken by the auditor for the company and compliance with criteria 
relating to independence or conflicts of interest as prescribed by the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors. Requisite assurance 
was sought and provided by the auditor that internal governance processes within the audit firm support and demonstrate its claim to 
independence. The committee ensured that the appointment of the auditor complied with the Act, and any other legislation relating to the 
appointment of auditors. 

The committee, in consultation with executive management, agreed to the engagement letter, terms, audit plan and budgeted audit fees 
for the 2012 year. There is a formal procedure that governs the process whereby the auditor is considered for non-audit services. The 
committee approved the terms of a master service agreement for the provision of non-audit services by the external auditor and approved 
the nature and extent of non-audit services that the external auditor may provide in terms of the agreed pre-approval policy. The committee 
has satisfied itself that the audit firm and designated auditor are accredited as such on the JSE List of Auditors and their advisors. 

Financial statements and accounting practices 
The committee has reviewed the accounting policies and the financial statements of the company and is satisfied that they are appropriate 
and comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

A committee process has been established to receive and deal appropriately with any concerns and complaints relating to the reporting 
practices of the company. No matters of significance have been raised in the past financial year. 

Internal financial controls 
The committee has overseen a process by which internal audit performed a written assessment of the effectiveness of the company’s 
system of internal control and risk management, including internal financial controls. This written assessment by internal audit formed the 
basis for the committee’s recommendation in this regard to the board, in order for the board to report thereon. The board report on the 
effectiveness of the system of internal controls is included elsewhere in the integrated report. The committee supports the opinion of the 
board in this regard. 
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
CONTINUED

Duties assigned by the board 
In addition to the statutory duties of the committee, as reported above, and in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, the 
board has determined further functions for the committee to perform, as set out in the committee’s terms of reference. These functions 
include the following: 

Integrated reporting and combined assurance 

The committee fulfils an oversight role regarding the company’s integrated report and the reporting process. The committee considered 
the company’s sustainability information as disclosed in the integrated report and has assessed its consistency with operational and 
other information known to committee members, and for consistency with the annual financial statements. The committee discussed the 
sustainability information with management and the chairman of the social and ethics committee (formerly the sustainability committee). 
The committee is satisfied that the sustainability information is reliable and consistent with the financial results. 

The committee is satisfied that the Group and company has optimised the assurance coverage obtained from management, internal and 
external assurance providers in accordance with an appropriate combined assurance model. 

Going concern 

The committee has reviewed a documented assessment, including key assumptions prepared by management, of the going concern 
status of the company and has accordingly made recommendation to the board. The board’s statement on the going concern status of the 
Group and company, as supported by the committee, is covered elsewhere in the integrated report. 

Governance of risk 

The committee ensures that the board’s oversight of the risk management function is properly implemented by management and that it 
is integrated with the committee’s functions where appropriate. The committee fulfils an oversight role regarding financial reporting risks, 
internal financial controls, fraud risk as it relates to financial reporting and information technology risk as it relates to financial reporting. 

Internal audit 

The committee is responsible for ensuring that the company’s internal audit function is independent and has the necessary resources, 
standing and authority to enable it to discharge its duties. Furthermore, the committee oversees co-operation between the internal and 
external auditors, and serves as a link between the board and these functions. 

The committee considered and recommended the internal audit charter for approval by the board. The internal audit function has been 
outsourced to Grant Thornton. The internal audit function’s annual audit plan was approved by the committee. The internal audit function 
reports centrally with responsibility for reviewing and providing assurance on the adequacy of the internal control environment across all of 
the Group’s operations. Grant Thornton is responsible for reporting the findings of the internal audit work against the agreed internal audit 
plan to the committee on a regular basis. Grant Thornton has direct access to the committee, primarily through its chairman. 

The committee is also responsible for the assessment of the performance of the internal audit function. The committee is satisfied with 
the high quality and effectiveness of the service provided by Grant Thornton. During the year, the committee met with both the external 
auditors and internal auditors without management being present. To the best of the committee’s knowledge the Group has complied with 
all relevant and material legal, regulatory or other responsibilities. 

Evaluation of the expertise and experience of financial director and finance function 

The committee has satisfied itself that the financial director has appropriate expertise and experience. The committee has considered, 
and has satisfied itself of the appropriateness of the expertise and adequacy of resources of the finance function and experience of the 
senior members of management responsible for the financial function within the Group. The committee has a good working relationship 
with the financial director.

AD Dixon 
CA(SA), Finst D 
Chairman 

21 February 2013
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To the shareholders of Consolidated Infrastructure Group Ltd

REPORT ON THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We have audited the annual financial statements of Consolidated Infrastructure Group Ltd, set out on pages 44 to 100 including 
the shareholders’ analysis as set out on pages 97 to 100, which comprise the consolidated and separate statements of 
financial position as at 31 August 2012, and the consolidated and separate statements of comprehensive income, statements 
of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes, comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these annual financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of annual financial statements that are free from material misstatements, 
whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these annual financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance whether the annual financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the annual financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the annual 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the annual financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the annual financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION
In our opinion, the annual financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate financial position of 
Consolidated Infrastructure Group Ltd as at 31 August 2012, and its consolidated and separate financial performance and cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

OTHER REPORTS REQUIRED BY THE COMPANIES ACT
As part of our audit of the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2012, we have read the directors’ report, the audit 
and risk committee’s report and the declaration of the company secretary for the purpose of identifying whether there are material 
inconsistencies between these reports and the audited financial statements. These reports are the responsibility of the respective 
preparers. Based on reading these reports we have not identified material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited financial 
statements. However, we have not audited these reports and accordingly do not express an opinion on these reports.

PKF (Jhb) Inc. 
Registered Auditors 
Chartered Accountants (SA)
Registration number 1994/001166/21

Director: Sone Kock

Johannesburg
21 February 2013

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 August

GROUP COMPANY

Notes
2012

R’000
2011

R’000
2012

R’000
2011

R’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 3 313 704 307 528 91 114
Goodwill 4 462 220 462 220 – –
Intangible assets 5 31 825 35 308 – –
Investments in subsidiaries 6 – – 549 427 544 360
Financial assets 7 3 152 2 250 – –
Deferred tax 8 8 250 10 118 – –

819 151 817 424 549 518 544 474
Current assets
Inventories 9 65 972 40 228 – –
Loans to Group companies 10 – – 209 925 203 246
Current tax receivable 368 7 811 479 307
Amounts due from contract customers 11 635 412 569 624 – –
Trade and other receivables 12 57 086 51 103 4 048 5 996
Cash and cash equivalents 13 404 389 138 763 288 424 9 931

1 163 227 807 529 502 876 219 480
Total assets 1 982 378 1 624 953 1 052 394 763 954

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Equity attributable to equity holders of parent
Share capital 14 726 908 676 015 726 908 676 015
Foreign currency translation reserve (3 074) (3 925) – –
Share-based payment reserve 11 545 – 11 545 –
Accumulated income 411 112 274 220 15 481 19 016

1 146 491 946 310 753 934 695 031
Non-controlling interest 12 – – –

1 146 503 946 310 753 934 695 031
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities 15 328 787 70 469 290 000 20 000
Instalment sale liabilities 16 13 799 11 182 – –
Deferred tax 8 45 402 43 038 – 20
Provisions 17 8 065 7 881 – –

396 053 132 570 290 000 20 020
Current liabilities
Loans from Group companies 10 – – – 41 525
Financial liabilities 15 17 711 10 029 – –
Current tax payable 36 048 9 914 – –
Instalment sale liabilities 16 9 975 6 852 – –
Trade and other payables 18 232 569 299 816 8 460 7 378
Amounts received in advance 34 589 45 883 – –
Amounts due to contract customers 11 108 930 170 851 – –
Bank overdraft 13 – 2 728 – –

439 822 546 073 8 460 48 903
Total liabilities 835 875 678 643 298 460 68 923
Total equity and liabilities 1 982 378 1 624 953 1 052 394 763 954
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STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 August

GROUP COMPANY

Notes
2012

R’000
2011

R’000
2012

R’000
2011

R’000

Revenue 20 1 553 522 1 445 556 – –

Cost of sales (1 116 409) (1 036 075) – –

Gross profit 437 113 409 481 – –

Other income 1 690 1 274 5 600 9 307

Operating expenses (281 414) (244 339) (14 537) (14 942)

Foreign exchange gains/(loss) 27 990 (7 096) – –

Operating profit/(loss) 21 185 379 159 320 (8 937) (5 635)

Investment revenue 23 18 457 3 627 10 610 5 709

Finance costs 24 (15 786) (8 546) (5 630) (16)

Profit/(loss) before taxation 188 050 154 401 (3 957) 58

Taxation 25 (51 146) (43 313) 422 (16)

Profit/(loss) for the year 136 904 111 088 (3 535) 42

Other comprehensive income/(loss):
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 851 (546) – –

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 137 755 110 542 (3 535) 42

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the parent 137 743 110 542 (3 535) 42

Non-controlling interest 12 – – –

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 137 755 110 542 (3 535) 42

Profit/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the parent 136 892 111 088 (3 535) 42

Non-controlling interest 12 – – –

Profit/(loss) for the year 136 904 111 088 (3 535) 42

Earnings per share (cents) 27

Basic 116,46 97,76

Fully diluted 114,95 97,76

Headline 116,11 100,51

Fully diluted headline 114,60 100,51
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 August

Share
 capital

R’000

Share
 premium

R’000

Total 
share

 capital
R’000

Foreign
 currency

 trans-
lation

 reserve
R’000

Share-
 based

 payment
 reserve

R’000

Total
 reserves

R’000

Accumu-
lated 

income
R’000

Total
 attri-

butable
 to equity

 holders 
of the 

parent/
 company

R’000

Non-
 control-

ling
 interest

R’000

Total 
equity
R’000

GROUP
Balance at 1 September 2010 11 676 153 676 164 (3 379) – (3 379) 163 132 835 917 – 835 917

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – – (546) – (546) 111 088 110 542 – 110 542

Share issue costs – (149) (149) – – – – (149) – (149)

Balance at 1 September 2011 11 676 004 676 015 (3 925) – (3 925) 274 220 946 310 – 946 310
Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – – 851 – 851 136 892 137 743 12 137 755
Issue of shares – 50 893 50 893 – – – – – – 50 893
Transfer to equity from trade and 
other payables – – – – 5 421 5 421 – 5 421 – 5 421
Share-based payments – – – – 6 124 6 124 – 6 124 – 6 124
Balance at 31 August 2012 11 726 897 726 908 (3 074) 11 545 8 471 411 112 1 146 491 12 1 146 503

COMPANY
Balance at 1 September 2010 11 676 153 676 164 – – – 18 974 695 138 – 695 138

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – – – – – 42 42 – 42

Share issue costs – (149) (149) – - – – (149) – (149)

Balance at 1 September 2011 11 676 004 676 015 – – – 19 016 695 031 – 695 031
Total comprehensive loss  
for the year – – – – – – (3 535) (3 535) – (3 535)
Issue of shares – 50 893 50 893 – – – – 50 893 – 50 893
Transfer to equity from trade and 
other payables – – – – 5 421 5 421 – 5 421 – 5 421
Share-based payments – – – – 6 124 6 124 – 6 124 – 6 124
Balance at 31 August 2012 11 726 897 726 908 – 11 545 11 545 15 481 753 934 – 753 934
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 August

GROUP COMPANY

Notes
2012

R’000
2011

R’000
2012

R’000
2011

R’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash (used in)/generated from operations 28 (311) 10 995 614 (7 721)

Interest income 18 457 3 627 10 610 5 709

Finance costs (14 020) (8 546) (5 630) (16)

Tax (paid)/refunded 29 (13 845) (39 986) 230 –

Net cash flows from operating activities (9 719) (33 910) 5 824 (2 028)

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 3 (45 500) (70 023) (20) (11)

Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment 3 3 613 12 128 – –

Repayment of loans receivable from Group companies – – 4 400 50 080

Repayment of loans payable to Group companies – – (52 604) –

Acquisition of financial assets (902) (672) – –

Net cash flows from investing activities (42 789) (58 567) (48 224) 50 069

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds on share issue 14 50 893 – 50 893 –

Transaction costs allocated to share premium 14 – (149) – (149)

Increase in financial liabilities 266 000 – 270 000 –

Repayment of financial liabilities – (10 934) – (46 320)

Movement in instalment sale liabilities 3 977 5 827 – –

Net cash flows from financing activities 320 870 (5 256) 320 893 (46 469)

Total cash and cash equivalents movement  
for the year 268 362 (97 733) 278 493 1 572

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 136 035 233 860 9 931 8 359

Effect of foreign currency translation reserve movement on 
cash balances (8) (92) – –

Total cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 13 404 389 136 035 288 424 9 931
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
  The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and the 

Companies Act of South Africa, 2008 (as amended), the JSE Listings Requirements and the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as 
issued by the Accounting Practices Board. The annual financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, unless 
otherwise stated in the policies, and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below.

 The accounting policies are consistent with the prior year.

 1.1 Significant judgements
   In preparing the annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 

amounts represented in the annual financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available information and the 
application of judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these estimates 
which may be material to the annual financial statements. Significant judgements include:

  Property, plant and equipment
   Judgement is required in determining the residual value and estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment. The 

estimation is done at each reporting date and revised accordingly.

  Trade receivables
   The Group assesses its trade receivables for impairment at each reporting date. In determining whether an impairment 

loss should be recorded in the statement of comprehensive income, the Group makes judgements as to whether there is 
observable data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a financial asset.

   The impairment for trade receivables is calculated on a portfolio basis, based on historical loss ratios, adjusted for national 
and industry-specific economic conditions and other indicators present at the reporting date that correlate with defaults on the 
portfolio. These annual loss ratios are applied to loan balances in the portfolio and scaled to the estimated loss emergence 
period.

  Allowance for slow moving, damaged and obsolete stock
   An allowance for stock to write stock down to the lower of cost or net realisable value is made at each reporting date. 

Management have made estimates of the selling price and direct cost to sell on certain inventory items. The write down is 
included in the operating profit note.

  Share options
   Management used the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the value of the options at issue date. Additional 

details regarding the estimates are included in note 38 – Share-based payments.

  Impairment testing
   The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets have been determined based on the higher of 

value-in-use calculations and fair values less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. 
It is reasonably possible that the future cash flows may be different to the current projections which may then impact our 
estimations and may then require a material adjustment to the carrying value of goodwill, tangible and intangible assets.

   The Group reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. In addition, goodwill is tested on an annual basis for impairment. Assets are grouped at 
the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of cash flows of other assets and liabilities. If 
there are indications that impairment may have occurred, estimates are prepared of expected future cash flows for each 
group of assets. Expected future cash flows used to determine the value in use of goodwill, tangible and intangible assets  
are inherently uncertain and could materially change over time. Additional disclosure of impairments is included in  
note 4 – Goodwill.

  Provisions
   Provisions were raised and management determined an estimate based on the information available. Additional disclosure 

of these estimates of provisions is included in note 17 – Provisions.

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 August 2012
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 1.1 Significant judgements (continued)

  Taxation
   Judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes due to the complexity of legislation. There are many 

transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. 
The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. 
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will 
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

   The Group recognises the net future tax benefit related to deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is probable that the 
deductible temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. Assessing the recoverability of deferred income tax 
assets requires the Group to make significant estimates related to expectations of future taxable income. Estimates of future 
taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application of existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. 
To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of the Group to realise 
the net deferred tax assets recorded at the reporting date could be impacted.

 1.2 Property, plant and equipment
  The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:

  • it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the company; and

  • the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

   Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred 
subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of 
property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

   The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located is also 
included in the cost of property, plant and equipment.

  Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

   Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis over their expected useful lives to their estimated 
residual value.

   The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item Average useful life

Land Indefinite 

Buildings 20 years 

Leasehold property Lease period 

Plant and machinery

• Earthmoving equipment 6 years

• Plant and equipment 4 – 15 years 

Furniture and fixtures 3 – 5 years 

Motor vehicles 4 – 5 years 

Office equipment 3 – 5 years 

IT equipment 3 years 

Computer software 1 year 

Leasehold improvements 2 years

   The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset is reviewed at the end of each reporting period. If the 
expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.



50
CONSOLIDATED INFRASTRUCTURE GROUP LIMITED 
INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2012

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 August 2012
CONTINUED

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 1.2 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

   Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is 
depreciated separately.

   The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of 
another asset.

   The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in profit or loss when 
the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.

 1.3 Goodwill
   Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the company’s interest 

of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities.

  Subsequently goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment.

   The excess of the company’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the 
cost of the business combination is immediately recognised in profit or loss.

  Internally generated goodwill is not recognised as an asset.

 1.4 Intangible assets
  An intangible asset is recognised when:

  • it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and

  • the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

  Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

   Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an internal project) is recognised as an expense when it is incurred. 
An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised when:

  • it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

  • there is an intention to complete and use or sell it;

  • there is an ability to use or sell it;

  • it will generate probable future economic benefits;

  •  there are available technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the asset; and

  • the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can be measured reliably.

  Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

   An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is no foreseeable 
limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows. Amortisation is not provided for these 
intangible assets. For all other intangible assets amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over their useful life.

   The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed at every period-end.

   Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a finite useful life after it was classified as indefinite is an indicator that 
the asset may be impaired. As a result the asset is tested for impairment and the remaining carrying amount is amortised over 
its useful life.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 1.4 Intangible assets (continued)

   Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and items similar in substance are not recognised 
as intangible assets.

   Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight-line basis other than for the order book which is 
done on a percentage of completion method, to their residual values as follows:

Item Useful life

Mining rights 20 years 

Brand names 10 years

Order book Percentage of completion

 1.5 Investments in subsidiaries
  Group annual financial statements
   The Group annual financial statements include those of the holding company and its subsidiaries. The results of the 

subsidiaries are included from the effective date of acquisition. Subsidiaries are de-consolidated on the date that the Group 
ceases to control.

   The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost of an acquisition is the 
sum of:

  (i) the consideration transferred measured in accordance with IFRS 3;

  (ii) the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree measured in accordance with IFRS 3; and

  (iii)  in a business combination achieved in stages, the acquisition-date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity 
interest in the acquiree.

  All acquisition related costs are expensed when incurred.

   On acquisition the Group recognises the subsidiary’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at fair value, 
except for assets classified as held-for-sale, which are recognised at fair value less costs to sell.

   Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated on 
consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated but considered an impairment indicator of the asset transferred.

   The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with minority interest as transactions with parties external to the Group. 
Disposals to minority interest result in gains or losses for the Group that are recorded in the income statement. Purchases 
from minority interest result in goodwill, being the difference between any consideration paid and the relevent share acquired 
of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary.

  Company annual financial statements
   In the company’s separate annual financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any accumulated 

impairment. The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries.

   The cost of an investment in a subsidiary is the fair value, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or 
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the company.

   An adjustment to the cost of a business combination contingent on future events is included in the cost of the combination if 
the adjustment is probable and can be measured reliably.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 1.6 Financial instruments
  Initial recognition and measurement
   Financial instruments are recognised initially when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. 

Financial instruments are derecognised when the Group ceases the control or obligation relating to the financial instrument.

   The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers 
the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or 
retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

  The Group derecognises a financial liability when the obligations expire or are discharged or cancelled.

   Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only 
when, the company has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously.

   The Group classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial 
liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

   Where the carrying value of short-term financial instruments measured at amortised cost approximate their amortised cost 
values, discounting is not applied as the effects thereof are considered immaterial.

  Impairment of financial assets
   At each statement of financial position date the Group assesses all financial assets, other than those at fair value through 

profit or loss, to determine whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets has been 
impaired.

   For amounts due to the Group, significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy 
and default of payments are all considered indicators of impairment.

  Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

   Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in the financial asset’s recoverable amount can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the financial asset 
at the date that the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the impairment 
not been recognised.

  Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

   Impairment losses are also not subsequently reversed for available-for-sale equity investments which are held at cost 
because fair value was not determinable.

   Where financial assets are impaired through use of an allowance account, the amount of the loss is recognised in profit 
or loss within operating expenses. When such assets are written off, the write off is made against the relevant allowance 
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against operating expenses.

  Loans to/(from) Group companies
   These include loans to and from subsidiaries, and are recognised initially at fair value plus direct transaction costs.

   Loans to Group companies are classified as loans and receivables which are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method.

   Loans from Group companies are classified as financial liabilities measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method.

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 August 2012
CONTINUED
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 1.6 Financial instruments (continued)

  Environmental Rehabilitation Trust Fund
   These financial assets are classified as loans and receivables and measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

rate method.

  Trade and other receivables
   Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value plus transaction costs, and are subsequently measured 

at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are 
recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant financial difficulties of the 
debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments 
(more than 90 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The allowance recognised 
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

   The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income within operating expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, 
it is written off against the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off 
are credited against operating expenses in the income statement.

  Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables.

  Trade and other payables
   Trade payables are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, 

using the effective interest rate method.

  Cash and cash equivalents
   Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments 

that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These are 
initially and subsequently recorded at fair value.

  Bank overdrafts and borrowings
   Bank overdrafts and borrowings are initially measured at fair value, including transaction costs, and are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction 
costs) and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with the 
Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs.

 1.7 Tax
  Current tax assets and liabilities
   Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in respect 

of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

   Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered 
from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting 
date.

  Deferred tax assets and liabilities
   A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax liability 

arises from:

  • the initial recognition of goodwill; or

  • the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which:

   – is not a business combination; and

   – at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 1.7 Tax (continued)

  Deferred tax assets and liabilities (continued)

   A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except 
to the extent that both of the following conditions are satisfied:

  • the parent, investor or venturer is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference; and

  • it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

   A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised, unless the deferred tax asset arises from 
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that:

  • is not a business combination; and

  • at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

   A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, to the 
extent that it is probable that:

  • the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future; and

  • taxable profit will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

   A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of unused tax losses and unused STC credits to the extent that  
it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses and unused STC credits can  
be utilised.

   Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
reporting date.

  Tax expenses
   Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except to 

the extent that the tax arises from:

  • a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, directly in equity; or

  • a business combination.

   Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates to items that are 
credited or charged, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income.

   Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, 
in the same or a different period, directly in equity.

 1.8 Leases
   A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the 

lessee. A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership to the lessee.

  Operating leases – lessee
   Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between 

the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease asset or liability 
which is not discounted.

  Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are incurred.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 1.9 Instalment sale liabilities
   Instalment sale liabilities are recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position at amounts equal to the 

fair value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to 
the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as an instalment sale liability. The assets are depreciated over the 
shorter of the their useful lives and the term of the instalment sale liability.

   The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the minimum instalment sale payments is the interest rate implicit 
in the agreement.

   The instalment sale payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. The 
finance charge is allocated to each period during the term of the agreement so as to produce a constant periodic rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

 1.10 Inventories
   Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value on the first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis.

   Inventories are disclosed net of any allowances for slow moving, damaged and obsolete inventories. The allowance is based 
on management estimates made by management of the net realisable value of certain inventory items.

   Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion 
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

   The cost of inventories comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories 
to their present location and condition.

 1.11 Amounts due from contract customers
   Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and costs are recognised by 

reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the reporting date, as measured by the proportion that contract 
costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total contract costs.

   Amounts due from contract customers are measured at initial recognition at fair value plus transaction costs, and are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated 
irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired.

   Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are included to the extent that they have been agreed with the 
customer.

   When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent that 
contract costs incurred are recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

   When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense 
immediately.

   Advance payments received are assessed on initial recognition to determine whether it is probable that it will be repaid in 
cash or another financial asset. In this instance, the advance payment is classified as a non-trading financial liability that is 
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. If it is probable that the advance payment will be repaid with 
goods or services, the liability is carried at historic cost.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 1.12 Impairment of assets
   The Group assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any 

such indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

   Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the Group also:

  •  tests intangible assets with an indefinite useful life or intangible assets not yet available for use for impairment annually by 
comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable amount. This impairment test is performed during the annual period and 
at the same time every period; and

  •  tests goodwill acquired in a business combination for impairment annually.

   If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it is 
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 
to which the asset belongs is determined.

   The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value  
in use.

   If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.

   An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss.

   Goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the cash-generating units, or 
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

   An impairment loss is recognised for cash-generating units if the recoverable amount of the unit is less than the carrying 
amount of the units. The impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets of the unit in the following 
order:

  • first, to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit; and

  • then, to the other assets of the unit, pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

   An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods 
for assets other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amounts of those assets are estimated.

   The increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior 
periods.

   A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other than goodwill 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

 1.13 Share capital and equity
   An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 

liabilities.

 1.14 Share-based payments
   The costs of goods or services received in a share-based payment transaction are recognised as the goods or services are 

received.

   A corresponding increase in equity is recognised if the goods or services were received in an equity-settled share-based 
payment transaction or a liability if the goods or services were acquired in a cash-settled share-based payment transaction.
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 1.14 Share-based payments (continued)

   For equity-settled share-based payment transactions, the goods or services received are measured, as well as the 
corresponding increase in equity, at the fair value of the goods or services received unless that fair value cannot be estimated 
reliably.

   If the fair value of the goods or services cannot be estimated reliably, their value and the corresponding increase in equity, 
are measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted.

   For cash-settled share-based payment transactions, the goods or services received and the liability incurred are measured 
at the fair value of the liability. Until the liability is settled, the fair value of the liability is remeasured at each reporting date 
and at the date of settlement, with any changes in fair value recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for the 
period. The estimate of the number of options expected to vest is carried out at each reporting date. Any adjustments are 
made through the statement of comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

   If the share-based payments granted do not vest until the counterparty completes a specified period of service, the company 
accounts for those services as they are rendered by the counterparty during the vesting period, or on a straight-line basis over 
the vesting period.

 1.15 Employee benefits
  Short-term employee benefits
   The cost of short-term employee benefits (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid vacation 

leave and sick leave and bonuses) are recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and are not discounted.

   The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase 
their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

   The expected cost of profit sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive 
obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.

  Defined contribution plans
  Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense as they fall due.

   Payments made to industry-managed (or State plans) retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as defined contribution plans 
where the Group’s obligation under the schemes is equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit 
plan. The Group has no further obligation once the payments due have been settled.

 1.16 Provisions and contingencies
  Provisions are recognised when:

  • the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event;

  • it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and

  • a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

   The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation. The 
discount rate used is in line with the length of the particular mining operation. Discounting is only performed when the effects 
of time value of money are considered to be material.

   Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the 
reimbursement shall be recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the entity 
settles the obligation.

   The reimbursement shall be treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement shall not exceed the 
amount of the provision.

  Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 1.16 Provisions and contingencies (continued)

   After their initial recognition contingent liabilities recognised in business combinations that are recognised separately are 
subsequently measured at the higher of:

  • the amount that would be recognised as a provision; and

  • the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation.

 1.17 Revenue
  Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied:

  • the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

  •  the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective 
control over the goods sold;

  • the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

  • it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

  • the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

   Revenue associated with construction contracts is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the construction 
contract at the reporting date. The outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably when all the following conditions are 
satisfied:

  • the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

  • it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group;

  • the stage of completion of the transaction at the end of the reporting period can be measured reliably; and

  • the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably.

   Stage of completion is determined by the proportion of costs incurred to date relative to the total estimated costs of the 
construction contract.

   Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents the amounts receivable  
for goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of trade discounts and volume rebates, and value 
added tax.

  Interest is recognised, in profit or loss, using the effective interest rate method.

 1.18 Cost of sales
   When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which 

the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of 
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any 
write down of inventories, arising from an increase in net realisable value, is recognised as a reduction in the amount of 
inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write 
down of inventories is limited to the original carrying amount had no write down been recognised.

 1.19 Borrowing costs
   Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised 

as part of the cost of that asset until such time as the asset is ready for its intended use. The amount of borrowing costs 
eligible for capitalisation is determined as follows:

  •  actual borrowing costs on funds specifically borrowed for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset less any temporary 
investment of those borrowings; or

  •  weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to the entity on funds generally borrowed for the purpose of obtaining 
a qualifying asset. The borrowing costs capitalised do not exceed the total borrowing costs incurred.
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 1.19 Borrowing costs (continued)

  The capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when:

  • expenditures for the asset have occurred;

  • borrowing costs have been incurred; and

  • activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.

  Capitalisation is suspended during extended periods in which active development is interrupted.

   Capitalisation ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale 
are complete.

   All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

 1.20 Translation of foreign currencies
  Foreign currency transactions
   A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial recognition in Rands, by applying to the foreign currency amount the spot 

exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the date of the transaction.

  At each balance sheet date:

  • foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate; and

  •  non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rate at the date of the transaction.

   Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates different from 
those at which they were translated on initial recognition during the period or in previous annual financial statements are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

   Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency are recorded in Rands by applying to the foreign currency amount 
the exchange rate between the Rand and the foreign currency at the date of the cash flow.

  Foreign operations
   The results and financial position of foreign operations (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that 

have a functional currency different from the Group’s presentation are translated into the functional currency as follows:

  •  assets and liabilities for each reporting period presented are translated at the closing rate ruling at the financial year-end 
date; and

  •  income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income item are translated at average exchange rates for the 
year to the extent that such average rates approximate rates ruling at the date of transactions.

   Exchanged differences arising on the translation are recognised directly in a separate component of other comprehensive 
income (foreign currency translation reserve). When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in 
profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on sale.

 1.21 Earnings per share
   Earnings per share is based on the attributable profit for the year divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 

in issue during the year. Fully diluted earnings per share is presented when the inclusion of potential ordinary shares has a 
dilutive effect on earnings per share.

 1.22 Headline earnings per share
   Headline earnings per share is based on the same calculation as in earnings per share above except that attributable 

profit specifically excludes items as set out in Circular 03/2012 ‘Headline Earnings’ issued by the South African Institute for 
Chartered Accountants. Fully diluted headline earnings per share is presented when the inclusion of potential ordinary shares 
has a dilutive effect on headline earnings per share.
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2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
 2.1 Standards and interpretations not yet effective
   At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing 

standards have been published but are not yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the Group.

   Management anticipates that all of the pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policies for the first period 
beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information on new standards, amendments and interpretations 
that are expected to be relevant to the Group’s financial statements is provided below. Certain other new standards and 
interpretations have been issued but are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Standard Details of amendment Effective date

IAS 1 amendment Presentation of Financial Statements:
Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income

Annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

   All standards and interpretations will be adopted at their effective date (except for those standards and interpretations that are 
not applicable to the entity).

    The directors are of the opinion that the impact of the application of the remaining standards and interpretations will be as 
follows:

  IAS 1 amendment
   The amendment to IAS 1 will be adopted by the Group for the first time for its financial reporting period ending 31 August 2013.

   The Group will present those items of other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to profit or loss in the future 
separately from those that would never be reclassified to profit or loss. The related tax effects for the two sub-categories will 
be shown separately.

   This is a change in presentation and will have no impact on the recognition or measurement of items in the financial statements.

   This amendment will be applied retrospectively and the comparative information will be restated. 

  IFRS 9
   IFRS 9 will be adopted by the Group for the first time for its financial reporting period ending 31 August 2014. The standard 

will be applied retrospectively, subject to transitional provisions.

   IFRS 9 addresses the initial measurement and classification of financial assets and will replace the relevant sections of IAS 39.

   Under IFRS 9 there are two options in respect of classification of financial assets, namely, financial assets measured at 
amortised cost or at fair value. Financial assets are measured at amortised cost when the business model is to hold assets in 
order to collect contractual cash flows and when they give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest 
on the principal outstanding. All other financial assets are measured at fair value.

   Embedded derivatives are no longer separated from hybrid contracts that have a financial asset host. 

  The impact on the financial statements has not yet been estimated.

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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 2.1 Standards and interpretations not yet effective (continued)

  IFRS 10
   IFRS 10 will be adopted by the Group for the first time for its financial reporting period ending 31 August 2014. The standard 

will be applied retrospectively if there is a change in the control conclusion between IAS 27/SIC 12 and IFRS 10.

   IFRS 10 introduces a single control model to assess whether an investee should be consolidated. This control model requires 
entities to perform the following in determining whether control exists:

  • identify how decisions about the relevant activities are made;

  • assess whether the entity has power over the relevant activities by considering only the entity’s substantive rights;

  • assess whether the entity is exposed to variability in returns; and

  • assess whether the entity is able to use its power over the investee to affect returns for its own benefit

   Control should be assessed on a continuous basis and should be reassessed as facts and circumstances change. The 
impact on the financial statements has not yet been estimated.

  IFRS 11
   IFRS 11 will be adopted by the Group for the first time for its financial reporting period ending 31 August 2014. The standard 

will be applied prospectively and comparatives will not be restated.

   IFRS 11 outlines the accounting by entities that jointly control an arrangement. Joint control involves the contractual agreed 
sharing of control and arrangements subject to joint control are classified as either a joint venture (representing a share of 
net assets and equity accounted) or a joint operation (representing rights to assets and obligations for liabilities, accounted 
for accordingly). The key principles in IFRS 11 are as follows:

  •  Changes in the definitions have reduced the ‘types’ of joint arrangements to two: joint operations and joint ventures.

  •  The existing policy choice of proportionate consolidation for jointly controlled entities has been eliminated.

  •  Equity accounting is mandatory for participants in joint ventures.

  •   Entities that participate in joint operations will follow accounting much like that for joint assets or joint operations today.

  IFRS 13
   IFRS 13 will be adopted by the Group for the first time for its financial reporting period ending 31 August 2014. The standard 

will be applied prospectively and comparatives will not be restated.

   IFRS 13 introduces a single source of guidance on fair value measurement for both financial and non-financial assets and 
liabilities by defining fair value, establishing a framework for measuring fair value and setting out disclosure requirements for 
fair value measurements. The key principles in IFRS 13 are as follows:

  • Fair value is an exit price.

  • Measurement considers characteristics of the asset or liability and not entity-specific characteristics.

  • Measurement assumes a transaction in the entity’s principal (or most advantageous) market between market participants.

  • Price is not adjusted for transaction costs.

  • Measurement maximises the use of relevant observable inputs and minimises the use of unobservable inputs.

  • The three-level fair value hierarchy is extended to all fair value measurements.

   The aggregate impact of the initial application of the statements and interpretations on the Group’s annual financial statements 
has not yet been assessed by the directors.

   The aggregate impact of the initial application of the statements and interpretations on the Group’s annual financial statements 
has not yet been assessed by the directors.
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2012 2011

Cost
R’000

Accumulated 
depreciation

R’000

Carrying
value
R’000

Cost
R’000

Accumulated
depreciation

R’000

Carrying 
value
R’000

GROUP
Land and buildings 130 883 (4 593) 126 290 125 174 (3 084) 122 090
Plant and machinery 211 303 (66 448) 144 855 203 058 (46 116) 156 942
Furniture and fixtures 3 597 (1 915) 1 682 2 564 (1 408) 1 156
Motor vehicles 51 381 (29 031) 22 350 41 837 (21 821) 20 016
Office equipment 2 775 (1 174) 1 601 1 417 (957) 460
IT equipment 16 722 (9 675) 7 047 10 990 (6 782) 4 208
Computer software 13 347 (3 468) 9 879 3 836 (1 180) 2 656
Leasehold improvements 88 (88)  – 88 (88)  –
Total 430 096 (116 392) 313 704 388 964 (81 436) 307 528

COMPANY
Furniture and fixtures 196 (128) 68 196 (97) 99
Office equipment 20 (17) 3 20 (13) 7
IT equipment 182 (162) 20 162 (154) 8
Leasehold improvements 88 (88)  – 88 (88)  –
Total 486 (395) 91 466 (352) 114

 Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment

GROUP

Opening
balance

R’000
Additions

R’000
Disposals

R’000
Depreciation

R’000

Closing
balance

R’000

2012
Land and buildings 122 090 5 709  – (1 509) 126 290
Plant and machinery 156 942 9 958 (1 437) (20 608) 144 855
Furniture and fixtures 1 156 1 051 (17) (508) 1 682
Motor vehicles 20 016 12 169 (1 661) (8 174) 22 350
Office equipment 460 1 408  – (267) 1 601
IT equipment 4 208 5 743 (11) (2 893) 7 047
Computer software 2 656 9 462  – (2 239) 9 879

307 528 45 500 (3 126) (36 198) 313 704

2011
Land and buildings 112 758 10 823  – (1 491) 122 090
Plant and machinery 145 973 35 180 (11 088) (13 123) 156 942
Furniture and fixtures 1 408 191 (21) (422) 1 156
Motor vehicles 13 350 15 612 (2 451) (6 495) 20 016
Office equipment 2 320 190 (1 862) (188) 460
IT equipment 1 686 4 882 (549) (1 811) 4 208
Computer software 473 3 145 (505) (457) 2 656

277 968 70 023 (16 476) (23 987) 307 528

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 August 2012
CONTINUED



63
CONSOLIDATED INFRASTRUCTURE GROUP LIMITED 

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2012

3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

 Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment (continued)

COMPANY

Opening
balance

R’000
Additions

R’000
Depreciation

R’000

Closing
balance

R’000

2012
Furniture and fixtures 99  – (31) 68
Office equipment 7  – (4) 3
IT equipment 8 20 (8) 20

114 20 (43) 91

2011
Furniture and fixtures 131  – (32) 99

Office equipment 11  – (4) 7

IT equipment 26 11 (29) 8

168 11 (65) 114

 Assets subject to instalment sale liabilities (net carrying amount)

GROUP

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Plant and machinery 2 684  –  –  –

Motor vehicles 16 366 13 621  –  –

Office equipment 3 971 2 713  –  –

23 021 16 334  –  –

 Refer to notes 15 and 16 for details of property, plant and equipment given as security to the Group’s lenders.

 Option on certain land and buildings
  Elderberry (Pty) Ltd has the option to acquire the land and buildings held by Drift Supersand (Pty) Ltd. The carrying value 

of the land and buildings is R69,1 million (2011: R69,1 million). The agreement requires that Elderberry leases the land 
and buildings to Drift Supersand should the option be exercised. Drift Supersand has the option to renew the lease to  
30 September 2022. Certain directors of Drift Supersand are shareholders of Elderberry.
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4. GOODWILL
GROUP

2012 2011

Cost
R’000

Accumulated 
impairment

R’000

Carrying
value
R’000

Cost
R’000

Accumulated
impairment

R’000

Carrying 
value
R’000

Goodwill 500 361 (38 141) 462 220 500 361 (38 141) 462 220

 Impairment testing
  The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units (CGUs) have been determined based on value in use calculations. The 

assumptions applied for each of the variables are conservative and match those applied in the preparation of Group budgets and 
forecasts. Assumptions are supported by past experience. Future cash flows were discounted at a rate of 15% to 20% over a  
10-year period and assuming a growth rate of 8,5%. A period of 10 years was used as it is in line with the minimum investment 
period envisaged at the acquisition date. The value of goodwill determined on this basis significantly exceeds the carrying value at 
year-end for Drift Supersand, West End Claybrick and Conco.

 Allocation of goodwill

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Drift Supersand 22 717 22 717

West End Claybrick 41 565 41 565

Conco 397 938 397 938

Total 462 220 462 220
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5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
GROUP

2012 2011

Cost
R’000

Accumulated 
depreciation

R’000

Carrying
value
R’000

Cost
R’000

Accumulated
depreciation

R’000

Carrying 
value
R’000

Mining rights 21 743 (5 436) 16 307 21 743 (4 349) 17 394

Brand names 23 959 (8 441) 15 518 23 959 (6 045) 17 914

Order book 21 951 (21 951) – 21 951 (21 951) –

Total 67 653 (35 828) 31 825 67 653 (32 345) 35 308

 Reconciliation of intangible assets

GROUP

Opening 
balance

R’000
Amortisation

R’000

Closing
balance

R’000

2012
Mining rights 17 394 (1 087) 16 307

Brand names 17 914 (2 396) 15 518
35 308 (3 483) 31 825

2011
Mining rights 18 482 (1 088) 17 394

Brand names 20 310 (2 396) 17 914

38 792  (3 484) 35 308

 Remaining useful lives of intangible assets (years)

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Mining rights 15  16

Brand names 6 7
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5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

 Synopsis of mining rights

Drift Supersand
Mining

West End 
Claybrick Regal Brick Regal Brick

Reference number ML06/1998 ML07/2003 MR78/2007 MR68/2007

Mineral Sand, gravel and 
igneous rock

Clay Sand occurring in the 
slimes dam

Clay

Properties Portion 116, a portion  
of portion 79 of 
Roodekrans No. 183, 
District Krugersdorp, 
Gauteng measuring 
26,8480 hectares in 
extent

Portion 80 of 
Roodekrans No. 183, 
District Krugersdorp, 
Gauteng measuring 
38,86 hectares in 
extent

Portion 79 of 
Roodekrans No. 183, 
District Krugersdorp 
Gauteng measuring 
26,84 hectares in 
extent

Remaining portion 1  
of the farm Waterspan 
292 – 1Q Westonaria

Mine residue deposit 
RMT 273/77 located on 
portion 3 of the farm 
Witpoortjie 245 – IQ 
Mogale City District, 
measuring 18,1590 
hectares in extent

Remaining portion of 
portion 1 and a portion 
of portion 32 of the 
farm Waterspan 292 
– IQ Westonaria, 
measuring 49,9934 
hectares in extent

Issue date 24 February 2012 18 May 2010 6 March 2007 6 March 2007

Expiration date 24 March 2013 17 May 2040 5 March 2017 5 March 2037

Status New order mining right
approved*

New order mining right
approved

New order mining right 
approved

New order mining right 
approved

 *  Additional regulatory information has been requested by the DMR to validate the new order mining right for an additional 25 years. This information 
was submitted on 25 January 2013 and the Group anticipates the extension will be granted.

  No land is owned, leased or is adjacent to any protected areas and areas of high biodiversity value outside protected areas. 

 As at year-end no impairment indicators existed.
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6. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

GROUP COMPANY

Name of company

2012
%

holding

2011
%

holding

2012
Cost

R’000

2011
Cost

R’000

Drift Supersand (Pty) Ltd 100 100 28 841 28 841

West End Claybrick (Pty) Ltd 100 100 61 558 61 558

Consolidated Power Projects (Pty) Ltd 100 100 459 027 453 960

Consolidated Power Maintenance and Investments (Pty) Ltd 100 100 1 1

549 427 544 360

 All subsidiaries are incorporated in South Africa.

7. FINANCIAL ASSETS

GROUP COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Loans and receivables carried at amortised cost
Environmental Rehabilitation Trust Fund 3 152 2 250 – –

 The carrying value of the financial assets approximate their fair 
value. Discounting was not applied as the effect thereof is not 
considered to be material.

Non-current assets
At amortised cost 3 152 2 250 – –
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 August 2012
CONTINUED

8. DEFERRED TAX

GROUP COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Deferred tax breakdown
Property, plant and equipment (25 318) (24 596) – (20)

Deferred taxation on intangible assets (17 155) (8 694) –  –

Debtors and income received in advance (38 273) (33 529) –  –

Tax losses available for set off against future taxable income 41 672 33 171 – –

Other provisions 1 177 908 – –

Temporary differences arising on property, plant and 
equipment (8 382) (7 842) – –

Provision for doubtful debts 1 424 1 703 – –

Accrual for leave pay and bonus 7 703 5 959 – –

(37 152) (32 920) – (20)

Reconciliation of deferred tax
At beginning of the year (32 920) (23 970) (20) (20)

(Originating)/reversing temporary difference on property, plant 
and equipment (722) 507 20 –

(Originating)/reversing temporary difference on intangible 
assets (8 461) 107 – –

Originating temporary difference on debtors and income 
received in advance (4 744) (12 812) – –

Increase in tax losses available for set off against future 
taxable income 8 501 2 672 – –

Reversing/(originating) temporary difference on other 
provisions 269 (432) – –

Originating temporary differences arising on property, plant  
and equipment (540) (463) – –

Originating/(reversing) temporary difference on provision for 
doubtful debts (279) 169 – –

Reversing temporary difference on accrual for leave pay  
and bonus 1 744 1 302 – –

(37 152) (32 920) – (20)

Disclosure of the statement of financial position
Deferred tax asset 8 250 10 118 – –

Deferred tax liability (45 402) (43 038) – (20)

(37 152) (32 920) – (20)

 Recognition of deferred tax asset
  A deferred tax asset of R41,7 million (2011: R33,2 million) was raised based on tax losses available for set off against future taxable 

income. The projected future taxable income is in excess of the tax losses.
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9.  INVENTORIES

GROUP COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Raw materials, components 33 488 16 415 – –

Work in progress 13 475 12 189 – –

Finished goods 19 009 11 624 – –

65 972 40 228 – –

  Inventory is carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. There were no write downs of inventory during the current financial 
year.

 Inventory pledged as security
  R38,4 million (2011: R31,7 million) of inventory in West End Claybrick was pledged as security for overdraft facilities in the form of 

a notarial bond. At year-end the overdraft amounted to Rnil (2011: R2,7 million).

10.  LOANS TO/(FROM) GROUP COMPANIES

GROUP COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Subsidiaries
Drift Supersand (Pty) Ltd –  – 59 456 58 856

The loan is unsecured, bears interest at prime interest rate 
plus 0,5% and has no fixed terms of repayment.

 The Group has subordinated R20 million (2011: R20 million) in 
favour of the subsidiary’s bankers, Nedbank Ltd, in accordance 
with the terms of the loan granted.

West End Claybrick (Pty) Ltd – – 139 390 144 390

 The loan is unsecured, bears interest at prime interest rate  
and has no fixed terms of repayment.

 The Group has subordinated the loan in favour of the 
subsidiary’s bankers.

Consolidated Power Projects (Pty) Ltd – – 11 079 (41 525)

 The loan is unsecured, bears interest at prime interest rate  
and has no fixed terms of repayment.

–  – 209 925 161 721

Current assets – – 209 925 203 246

Current liabilities – – – (41 525)

– – 209 925 161 721

  The carrying value of the loans to and from Group companies approximate their fair value due to the short-term nature of these 
instruments. Discounting is only performed when the effects of the time value of money are considered material.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 August 2012
CONTINUED

11. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) CONTRACT CUSTOMERS

GROUP COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Cost incurred plus recognised profits/(less recognised losses) 
on contracts in progress at year-end 166 945 113 328 – –

Amounts receivable on contracts (net of impairments) 324 585 336 407 – –

491 530 449 735 – –

Advances received in excess of work completed (108 930) (170 851) – –

Amounts receivable/(payable) from contracts 382 600 278 884 – –

Retentions receivable (net of impairments) 143 882 119 889 – –

526 482 398 773 – –

Amounts due from contract customers 635 412 569 624

Amounts due to contract customers (108 930) (170 851)

526 482 398 773 – –

Amounts due from contract customers past due  
but not impaired
Amounts due from contract customers which are less  
than 90 days past due are not considered to be impaired.  
At 31 August 2012, R53,8 million (2011: R50,9 million) was past 
due but not impaired.

A provision of R30,4 million (2011: R31,4 million) was raised for 
past due amounts receivable from contract customers.

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

61 – 90 days 53 765 50 897 – –

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of amounts due  
from contract customers

Opening balance 31 438 30 087 – –

Movement in provision (1 000) 1 351 – –

30 438 31 438 – –

  R635,4 million (2011: R569,6 million) amounts due from contract customers in Conco have been ceded to the bank as security for 
facilities granted.

  The carrying value of amounts due from contract customers approximate their fair value due to the short-term nature of these 
instruments. Discounting is only performed when the effects of the time value of money are considered material.
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12. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

GROUP COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Trade receivables 40 869 39 061 – –

Prepayments 3 940 2 032 3 561 169

Deposits 784 301 430 –

VAT 2 002 3 273 29 –

Professional indemnity fund 4 404 4 404 – –

Other 5 087 2 032 28 5 827

57 086 51 103 4 048 5 996

Trade and other receivables pledged as security
 R18,2 million (2011: R10,7 million) trade receivables in West 
End Claybrick (Pty) Ltd have been ceded to the bank as 
security for facilities granted.

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired
 Trade and other receivables which are less than 90 days past 
due are not considered to be impaired. At 31 August 2012, 
R1,2 million (2011: R0,5 million) was past due but not 
impaired.

A provision of R2,3 million (2011: R1,7 million) was raised for 
past due trade and other receivables.

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

31 – 60 days 981 – – –

61 – 90 days 205 459 – –

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade and 
other receivables
Opening balance 1 700 2 985 – –

Movement in provision 632 (1 285) – –

2 332 1 700 – –

  The carrying value of the trade and other receivables approximate their fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments. 
Discounting is only performed when the effects of the time value of money are considered material.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 August 2012
CONTINUED

13. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

GROUP COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash on hand 5 726 2 967 – –

Bank balances 398 663 135 796 288 424 9 931

Bank overdraft – (2 728) – –

404 389 136 035 288 424 9 931

Current assets 404 389 138 763 288 424 9 931

Current liabilities – (2 728) – –

404 389 136 035 288 424 9 931

  The carrying value of the cash and cash equivalents approximate their fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments. 
Discounting is only performed when the effects of the time value of money are considered material.

  Certain inventory (refer note 9), certain amounts due from contract customers (refer note 11), certain trade and other receivables 
(refer note 12) and an R8,0 million (2011: R8,0 million) surety by Consolidated Infrastructure Group Ltd were pledged as security 
for unutilised overdraft facilities.

14. SHARE CAPITAL

GROUP COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Authorised
150 million (2011: 150 million) ordinary shares of  
R0,0001 each 15 15 15 15

Reconciliation of number of shares issued:
Reported as at 1 September 113 641 113 641 113 641 113 641

Issue of shares – ordinary shares 5 200 – 5 200 –

Closing balance as at 31 August 118 841 113 641 118 841 113 641

The authorised share capital was increased by 20 million 
shares to 150 million during the prior financial year.

 On 30 November 2011 5,2 million ordinary shares  
were issued to selected institutions. A further 31,2 million 
(2011: 36,4 million) unissued ordinary shares are under the 
control of the directors. This authority remains in force until  
the next annual general meeting.

Issued share capital and share premium
Ordinary 11 11 11 11

Share premium 726 897 676 004 726 897 676 004

726 908 676 015 726 908 676 015
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15.  FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

GROUP COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Held at amortised cost

15.1  Bank loan 8 525 16 441 – –

  The loan is secured over land and buildings held by 
Drift Supersand (Pty) Ltd valued at R68 million, bears 
interest at prime less 1,5% and was repayable in  
60 instalments of R0,7 million. At year-end  
12 instalments remain outstanding.

15.2  IDC suspensive sale agreement 24 601 24 057 – – 

  The loan is secured by a first mortgage bond over  
all land and buildings and by a general notarial bond 
over all moveable assets held by West End Claybrick 
(Pty) Ltd.

  The loan required interest payments in arrears 
compounded monthly until 30 May 2012. Thereafter 
capital and interest repayments became payable on  
1 June 2012.

  The loan was repayable in 71 monthly instalments of  
R357 650 with a final instalment of R356 850. At 
year-end 69 instalments remain outstanding.

  Interest charged is at prime less 3% compounded 
monthly in arrears from drawing date to 29 February 
2016, thereafter at the variable rate of 0,4% below 
prime until repaid in full.

15.3  IDC Portion A of working capital loan 9 584 10 000 – –

  The loan is secured by a first mortgage bond over  
all land and buildings and by a general notarial bond 
over all moveable assets held by West End Claybrick 
(Pty) Ltd.

  The loan required interest payments in arrears 
compounded monthly until 30 May 2012. Thereafter 
capital and interest repayments became payable on  
1 June 2012.

  The loan was repayable in 47 monthly instalments  
of R208 350 with a final instalment of R207 550.  
At year-end 45 instalments remain outstanding

 

  Interest at the rate of 3% below prime from drawing 
date until 29 February 2016. Thereafter at the variable 
rate of 0,4% below prime until repaid in full.



74
CONSOLIDATED INFRASTRUCTURE GROUP LIMITED 
INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2012

15.  FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued)

GROUP COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Held at amortised cost (continued)

15.4  IDC Portion B of working capital loan 9 375 10 000 – –
  The loan is secured by a first mortgage bond over all 

land and buildings and by a general notarial bond  
over all moveable assets held by West End Claybrick 
(Pty) Ltd.

  The loan required interest payments in arrears 
compounded monthly until 30 May 2012. Thereafter 
capital and interest repayments became payable on  
1 June 2012.

  The loan was repayable in 71 monthly instalments of 
R138 900 with a final instalment of R138 100. At 
year-end 45 instalments remain outstanding.

  Interest charged at fixed rate of 6,3% compounded 
monthly in arrears from drawing date of 31 March 
2015, thereafter at the normal rate of 0,7% below  
prime until repaid in full.

15.5  Bank loans – other 20 000 20 000 20 000 20 000
  The loan is interest free and is payable over an 

extended period based on the free cash flow generated 
by West End Claybrick (Pty) Ltd.

15.6  Mortgage loan 4 413 – – –
  The mortgage loan is secured over certain land and 

buildings held by Lugbell Investments (Pty) Ltd, a 
subsidiary of Consolidated Power Projects (Pty) Ltd. 
The loan bears interest at the prime overdraft rate and 
was repayable in 60 monthly instalments of R90 000. 
At year-end 50 instalments remain outstanding.

 15.7  Senior unsecured floating rate notes 270 000 – 270 000 –
   The authorised programme size of the notes is  

R500 million. As at 31 August 2012 the total notes 
issued amounted to R270 million.

   Interest charged is 3-month JIBAR plus 3,25% and is 
paid quarterly commencing on 6 June 2012.

   The maturity date of the notes is 6 June 2015 at which 
time the full capital amount will be repaid.

  Certain financial covenants are in place, all of which 
have been met at year-end.

346 498 80 498 290 000 20 000

Non-current liabilities
At amortised cost 328 787 70 469  290 000 20 000

Current liabilities
At amortised cost 17 711 10 029 – –

346 498  80 498 290 000 20 000

 

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 August 2012
CONTINUED
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16. INSTALMENT SALE LIABILITIES

GROUP COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Minimum payments due
– within one year 11 484 12 343 – –

– in second to fifth year inclusive 14 977 7 981 – –

26 461 20 324 – –

Less: Future finance charges (2 687) (2 290) – –

Present value of minimum payments 23 774 18 034 – -

Present value of minimum payments due
– within one year 9 975 6 852 – –

– in second to fifth year inclusive 13 799 11 182 – –

23 774 18 034 – –

Non-current liabilities 13 799 11 182 – –

Current liabilities 9 975 6 852 – –

23 774 18 034 – –

 It is Group policy to acquire certain plant and machinery, motor vehicles and office equipment under instalment sale liabilities.

 The average term was three to five years and the average effective borrowing rate was 9% (2011: 10%).

  Interest rates are linked to prime at the contract date. All instalment sales have fixed repayments and no arrangements have been 
entered into for contingent rent.

  The Group’s obligations under instalment sale agreements are secured by the lessor’s charge over the assets subject to instalment 
sales. Refer note 3.

17.  PROVISIONS

Opening
 balance

R’000
Additions

R’000

Reversed 
during the 

year
R’000

Total
R’000

Reconciliation of provisions
Environmental rehabilitation – Group – 2012 7 881 184 – 8 065
Environmental rehabilitation – Group – 2011  8 283 151 (553) 7 881

  The provision has been raised due to the Group’s obligation to rectify environmental damage on the mine situated at remaining 
portion 1 of the farm Waterpan 292 – IQ Westonaria and the Drift Supersand quarry situated at Muldersdrift.

  In accordance with legislation, the land contaminated by the company must be restored to a condition as prescribed by the 
Department of Minerals (DMR), when mining activities come to an end. During the current year the company provided for this 
purpose. Because of the long-term nature of the liability, the biggest uncertainty in estimating the provision is the costs that will be 
incurred. In particular, the company has assumed that the site will be restored using technology and materials that are available 
currently. Estimated costs are based on current tariffs and guidelines. It is forecast that, due to continuing operations, the land will 
not have to be rehabilitated within the next 25 years, but as part of continuing operations portions of land are rehabilitated as part 
of ongoing operations from time to time.
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18.  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

GROUP COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Trade payables 148 411 181 953 – –

VAT 1 400 534 – 76

Accrued leave pay 10 510 9 676 – –

Accrued bonus 16 670 12 380 880 1 200

Accrued audit fees 2 196 1 597 410 400

Accrued expenses 53 183 93 519 7 170 1 675

Other payables 199 157 – 4 027

232 569 299 816 8 460 7 378

  The carrying value of the trade and other payables approximate their fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments. 
Discounting is only performed when the effects of the time value of money are considered material.

19. RETIREMENT BENEFITS

GROUP COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Defined contribution plan
 It is the policy of the Group to provide retirement benefits to all 
its employees. A defined contribution provident fund, which is 
subject to the Pensions Fund Act, exists for this purpose.

The Group is under no obligation to cover any unfunded 
benefits.

The total Group contribution to such schemes 12 459 9 226 – –

20. REVENUE

GROUP COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Sale of goods 272 898 202 890 – –

Construction contracts 1 280 624 1 242 666 – –

1 553 522 1 445 556 – –

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 August 2012
CONTINUED
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21. OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS)

GROUP COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Operating profit/(loss) for the year is stated after accounting  
for the following:

Operating lease charges
– Premises  7 269 5 162 342 298

– Equipment 173 301 – –

7 442 5 463 342 298

(Profit)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (487) 4 348 – –

(Profit)/loss on exchange differences (27 990) 7 096 – –

Employee costs 170 434 150 445 9 540 7 090

22. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Salary
R’000

Bonus and
 performance

 related 
payments

R’000

Retirement
 contri-
butions

R’000

Medical 
aid 

contri-
butions

R’000

Subsistence 
and travel 
allowance

R’000

Share- 
based

 payment
R’000

Total
R’000

Executive
2012
Paid by the company
RD Gamsu 2 830 2 650 – – 120 3 315 8 915
IM Klitzner 1 751 1 650 – – 84 1 014 4 499
Paid by subsidiaries
B Berelowitz 2 630 500 535 108 512 – 4 285

7 211 4 800 535 108 716 4 329 17 699

  686 845 and 213 620 performance based share options were awarded to the CEO and CFO respectively at the commencement of 
the current financial year, at a strike price of R8,59. Based on the fair value of the options that vested at the reporting date, the cost 
of the share-based payment to the directors for those options that vested in the current financial year are included in the directors’ 
emoluments table above.
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22. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Salary
R’000

Bonus and
 performance

 related 
payments

R’000

Retirement
 contri-
butions

R’000

Medical 
aid 

contri-
butions

R’000

Subsistence 
and travel 
allowance

R’000

Share- 
based

 payment
R’000

Total
R’000

Executive
2011
Paid by the company
RD Gamsu 2 630 2 475 – – 120 1 472 6 707

IM Klitzner 1 616 1 360 – – 84 644 3 704

Paid by subsidiaries
B Berelowitz 2 583 500 466 100 471 – 4 120

6 829 4 335 466 100 675 2 116 14 531 

  The board of directors confirmed the proposal of the remuneration committee to award the CEO and CFO 1 964 912 and  
598 246 performance based share options respectively on 10 December 2010 at a strike price of R5,34 and R5,47 respectively.

  Based on the fair value of the options that vested at reporting date, the cost of the share-based payment to the directors at  
31 August 2011 is included in the directors’ emoluments table above

Board fees
R’000

Total
R’000

Non-executive
2012
Paid by the company
F Boner 193 193
AD Dixon 235 235
N Mintah 164 164
A Darko 219 219
R Horton 132 132

943 943

2011
Paid by the company
AD Dixon 115 115
P Voutyritsas 120 120
N Mintah 120 120
A Geisser 28 28
F Boner 120 120
P Baird 158 158
A Darko 163 163
R Horton 20 20

844 844

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 August 2012
CONTINUED
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23. INVESTMENT REVENUE 

GROUP COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Interest revenue
Bank 15 069 3 172 5 209 169
Other 3 388 455 – –
Loans to subsidiaries – – 5 401 5 540

18 457 3 627 10 610 5 709

24. FINANCE COSTS

GROUP COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Financial liabilities 4 061 6 058 – –
Instalment sale liabilities 1 766 1 185 – –
Bank and other 9 959 1 303 5 630 16

15 786 8 546 5 630 16

25. TAXATION

GROUP COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Major components of the tax expense/(income)
Current
Local income tax – current period 47 208 34 360 (402) 16

Prior period under provision 215 – – –-

47 423 34 360 (402) 16

Deferred
Originating and reversing temporary differences 3 723 (3 283) (20) –

Other deferred tax – 12 236 – –

3 723 8 953 (20) –

51 146 43 313 (422) 16
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for the year ended 31 August 2012
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25. TAXATION (continued)

GROUP COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Reconciliation of the tax expense
Reconciliation between accounting profit and tax expense

Accounting profit/(loss) 188 050 154 401 (3 957) 58

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28% 52 654 43 232 (1 108) 16

Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income
Non-deductible expenditure 101 64 686 –

Deferred tax under provision prior periods (1 835) – – –

Prior period under provision 215 – – –

Tax losses carried forward 11 – – –

Exempt income – 17 – –

51 146 43 313 (422) 16

 The estimated tax loss available for set off against future taxable income is R158,1 million (2011: R133,9 million).

26. AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

GROUP COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

External audit fees (local and foreign operations) 1 651 1 442 440 326

Internal audit fees 917 1 031 59 96

Consulting, taxation and secretarial fees 766 267 256 160

3 334 2 740 755 582
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27. EARNINGS PER SHARE

GROUP COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Basic earnings per share
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 136 892 111 088 – –

Shares in issue at year end (’000) 118 841 113 641 – –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose 
of basic earnings per share (’000) 117 548 113 641 – –

Basic earnings per share (cents) 116,46 97,76 – –

Fully diluted earnings per share
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 136 892 111 088 – –

Shares in issue at year-end (’000) 118 841 113 641 – –

Dilutive options – share schemes 252 – –
Fully diluted number of ordinary shares for the purpose of fully 
diluted earnings per share (’000) 119 093 113 641 – –

Fully diluted earnings per share (cents) 114,95 97,76 – –

Headline earnings per share
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 136 892 111 088 – –

(Less)/add IAS 16 (profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant 
and equipment (407) 3 131 – –

Headline earnings for the year attributable to equity holders of 
the parent 136 485 114 219 – –

Fully diluted number of ordinary shares for the  
purpose of headline earnings per share (’000)  
(Refer basic earnings per share) 117 548 113 641 – –

Headline earnings per share (cents) 116,11 100,51 – –

Fully diluted headline earnings per share
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 136 892 111 088 – –

(Less)/add IAS 16 (profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant 
and equipment (407) 3 131 – –

Headline earnings for the year attributable to equity holders of 
the parent 136 485 114 219 – –

Shares in issue at year-end (’000) 118 841 113 641 – –

Dilutive options – share schemes 252 – – –

Fully diluted number of ordinary shares for the purpose of fully 
diluted headline earnings per share (’000) 119 093 113 641 – –

Fully diluted headline earnings per share (cents) 114,60 100,51 – –

 Share consolidation
 CIG consolidated the share capital on a 10 for 1 basis with effect from 20 June 2011.



82
CONSOLIDATED INFRASTRUCTURE GROUP LIMITED 
INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2012

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 August 2012
CONTINUED

28. CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

GROUP COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Profit/(loss) before taxation 188 050 154 401 (3 957) 58

Adjustments for: 
Depreciation and amortisation 39 681 27 470 43 65

(Profit)/loss on sale of assets (487) 4 348 – –

Interest received (18 457) (3 627) (10 610) (5 709)

Finance costs 15 786 8 546 5 630 16

Movements in provisions 184 (402) – –

Changes in working capital:
Inventories (25 744) (5 840) – –

Trade and other receivables (2 996) 8 291 1 948 (5 976)

Amounts due from contract customers (65 788) (240 941) – –

Amounts due to contract customers (61 921) (70 868) – –

Trade and other payables (57 325) 129 688 7 560 3 825

Advance payments (11 294) (71) – –

(311) 10 995 614 (7 721)

29. TAX (PAID)/REFUNDED

GROUP COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Balance at beginning of the year (2 103) (7 825) 307 323

Current tax for the year recognised in statement of 
comprehensive income (47 423) (34 360) 402 (16)

Effect of foreign currency translation reserve movement tax 
balance 1 96 – –

Balance at end of the year 35 680 2 103 (479) (307)

(13 845) (39 986) 230 –
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30. COMMITMENTS

GROUP COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Authorised capital expenditure
Not yet contracted for and authorised by directors
Existing operations 17 452 27 454 – –

Renewable energy (New business) 10 000 – – –

Motor vehicles* 33 262 – – –
*  A decision was taken to move from hiring motor vehicles to purchasing 

the motor vehicles. There would therefore be a corresponding decline 
in the operating lease charge expense in future periods.

Operating leases – as lessee (expense)
Minimum lease payments due
– within one year 6 762 4 733 – –

– in second to fifth year inclusive 27 453 15 453 – –

34 215 20 186 – –

 No contingent rent is payable.

31. CONTINGENCIES
 The Group has procured the following performance bonds:

 • Lombards Insurance: R204,1 million (2011: R237,7 million) for 99 bonds (2011: 93 bonds).

 • Standard Bank: R191,5 million (2011: R128,8 million) for 42 bonds (2011: 42 bonds).

 • First National Bank: Rnil (2011: R68,5 million) for nil bonds (2011: 3 bonds).

 • Construction guarantee: R3,8 million (2011: R3,8 million) for 1 bond (2011: 1 bond).

 The Group has issued letters of intent to the value of R36,2 million (2011: R53,0 million).
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32. RELATED PARTIES

Relationships
Subsidiaries Refer to note 6

Company controlled by director of subsidiary Consolidated Power Properties (Pty) Ltd

Company controlled by former director of subsidiary West End Cement Plant (Pty) Ltd 

Members of key management RD Gamsu
IM Klitzner
J Hooman
IM Hambridge
F Aveling
B Reynecke
W Rossouw 
T Ferreira
H Thomas
B Berelowitz
S Gesha
D van Zyl
L Heymans
A Richelman
M Mulligan 
R de Villiers 
A Clacher
M Farmer
M Prasti
R Dijkstra
L Bushney 
M Grobler 
S Zondi
M Mabaso
C Pillay
P Gumbi 
R Bekker 
B Kimmel
V Bahlekazi
A de Bruyn
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32. RELATED PARTIES (continued)

GROUP COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Related party balances (refer note 10)

Related party transactions
Interest paid to/(received from) related parties
Drift Supersand (Pty) Ltd – – (5 401) (5 540)

West End Claybrick (Pty) Ltd – – (16 996) (16 704)

The amount receivable has been impaired by Consolidated 
Infrastructure Group Ltd.

Rent paid to related party
Consolidated Power Properties (Pty) Ltd 4 053 3 684 – –

Management fees paid to/(received from) related parties
West End Claybrick (Pty) Ltd – – (540) (480)

Consolidated Power Projects (Pty) Ltd – – (14 127) (8 827)

Drift Supersand (Pty) Ltd – – (600) –

West End Cement Plant (Pty) Ltd – (4 487) – –

Compensation to directors and other key managment
Emoluments 50 141 46 414 13 414 10 401

33. RISK MANAGEMENT
 Capital risk management
  The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to 

provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost 
of capital.

  The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in notes 10, 15 and 16, cash and cash 
equivalents disclosed in note 13, and equity as disclosed in the statement of financial position.

  Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt:equity ratio.

  This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total equity. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including ‘current and non-
current borrowings’ as shown in the statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total equity is represented in 
the statement of financial position.

  There are no externally imposed capital requirements.

  There have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital, the strategy for capital maintenance or externally imposed 
capital requirements from the previous year.
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33. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

 Capital risk management (continued)

GROUP COMPANY

Notes
2012

R’000
2011

R’000
2012

R’000
2011

R’000

The debt:equity ratio at 2012 and 2011 respectively 
were as follows:

Total borrowings
Instalment sale liabilities 16 23 774 18 034 – –

Financial liabilities 15 346 498 80 498 290 000 20 000

370 272 98 532 290 000 20 000

Less: Cash and cash equivalents 13 404 389 136 035 288 424 9 931

Net (cash)/debt (34 117) (37 503) 1 576 10 069

Total equity 1 146 503 946 310 753 934 695 031

Total capital 1 112 386 908 807 755 510 705 100

Debt:equity ratio (%) (3) (4) – 1

 Liquidity risk
  The Group’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The Group manages liquidity risk through 

an ongoing review of future commitments and credit facilities.

  The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the 
reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 
Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

GROUP

Within 
1 year
R’000

2nd to 
5th year

inclusive
R’000

 Over 
5 years

R’000

At 31 August 2012
Financial liabilities 17 711 328 787 –
Instalment sale liabilities 11 484 14 977 –
Trade and other payables 231 169 – –

At 31 August 2011
Financial liabilities 10 029 70 469 –

Instalment sale liabilities 12 343 7 981 –

Trade and other payables 299 282 – –

Bank overdraft 2 728 – –
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33. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

 Liquidity risk (continued)

COMPANY

Within 
1 year
R’000

2nd to 
5th year

inclusive
R’000

 Over 
5 years

R’000

At 31 August 2012
Financial liabilities – 290 000 –
Trade and other payables 8 460 – –

At 31 August 2011
Financial liabilities – 20 000 –

Loans from Group companies 41 525 – –

Trade and other payables 7 302 – –

 Interest rate risk
  The Group analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis. Various scenarios are simulated taking into consideration 

refinancing, renewal of existing positions, alternative financing and hedging. Based on these scenarios, the Group calculates the 
impact on profit and loss of a defined interest rate shift.

  At 31 August 2012, if interest rates on rand-denominated borrowings had been 1% higher/lower with all other variables held 
constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been R0,2 million (2011: R0,3 million) lower/higher, mainly as a result of higher/
lower interest expense on floating rate borrowings.

 Credit risk
  Credit risk consists mainly of loans to Group companies, financial assets,amounts due from contract customers, cash deposits, 

cash equivalents and trade debtors. The Group only deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits 
exposure to any one counter-party.

  Amounts due from contract customers and trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluates credit 
risk relating to customers on an ongoing basis. If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there 
is no independent rating, risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past 
experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the 
board. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored. Sales to retail customers are settled in cash or using major credit cards. 
Credit guarantee insurance is purchased when deemed appropriate. Other receivables are evaluated on a portfolio basis.

 Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year-end were as follows:

GROUP COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Financial instrument
Loans to Group companies – – 209 925 203 246

Financial assets  3 152 2 250 – –

Amounts due from contract customers 635 412 569 624 – –

Trade and other receivables 50 360 45 497 28 5 827

Cash and cash equivalents 404 389 138 763 288 424 9 931
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33. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

 Foreign exchange risk
  The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with 

respect to the US dollar, euro and Botswana pula. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions or recognised 
assets or liabilities which are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.

 Foreign currency exposure to financial instruments is as follows:

GROUP

Total
R’000

Rand
R’000

US dollar
R’000

Euro
R’000

Botswana 
pula

R’000

Uganda
 shilling

R’000
Other
R’000

2012
Financial instrument
Amounts due from contract 
customers 635 412 416 552 162 064 22 033 15 463 18 753 547
Other receivables 57 086 52 488 – – 4 514 – 84
Cash and cash equivalents 404 389 363 598 29 697 2 463 4 141 158 4 332
Trade and other payables (232 569) (213 519) (13 283) (138) (2 129) (1 806) (1 694)
Amounts due to contract 
customers (108 930) (99 065) (8 308) – (392) (1 165) –
Net exposure 755 388 520 054 170 170 24 358 21 597 15 940 3 269

2011
Financial instrument
Amounts due from contract 
customers 569 624 391 143 78 040 34 498 58 678 – 7 265

Other receivables 51 103 35 791 –  – 12 649 – 2 663

Cash and cash equivalents 138 763 40 582 72 893 9 585 10 818 – 4 885

Trade and other payables (299 816) (243 455) (27 831) (4 375) (22 400) – (1 755)

Amounts due to contract 
customers (170 851) (162 585) – – (3 487) – (4 779)

Net exposure 288 823 61 476 123 102 39 708 56 258 – 8 279

 The Group does not hedge foreign exchange fluctuations.

  The Group has certain investments in foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risk. 
Currency exposure arising from the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations is managed primarily through the earnings in the 
relevant foreign currencies.

  At 31 August 2012, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 1% against the US dollar with all other variables held constant, 
post-tax profit for the year would have been R1,2 million (2011: R0,9 million) higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains 
or losses on translation of US dollar denominated amounts due from contract customers, other receivables, and cash and cash 
equivalents and foreign exchange losses or gains on translation of US dollar denominated trade and other payables and amounts 
due to contract customers.
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33. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

 Foreign exchange risk (continued)

  At 31 August 2012, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 1% against the euro with all other variables held constant, post-
tax profit for the year would have been R0,2 million (2011: R0,3 million) higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/
losses on translation of euro denominated amounts due from contract customers, other receivables, and cash and cash equivalents 
and foreign exchange losses/gains on translation of euro denominated trade and other payables and amounts due to contract 
customers.

  At 31 August 2012, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 1% against the Botswana pula with all other variables held 
constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been R0,2 million (2011: R0,4 million) higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign 
exchange gains/losses on translation of Botswana pula denominated amounts due from contract customers, other receivables, 
and cash and cash equivalents and foreign exchange losses/gains on translation of Botswana pula denominated trade and other 
payables and amounts due to contract customers.

  At 31 August 2012, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 1% against the Uganda shilling with all other variables held 
constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been R0,1 million (2011: Rnil) higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchange 
gains/losses on translation of Uganda shilling denominated amounts due from contract customers, other receivables, and cash and 
cash equivalents and foreign exchange losses/gains on translation of Uganda Shilling denominated trade and other payables and 
amounts due to contract customers.

 Exchange rates used for conversion of foreign items were:

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

US dollar 8,430 7,013

Euro 11,570 10,105

Botswana pula 1,084 1,050

Uganda shilling 0,0034 –
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34. FINANCIAL ASSETS BY CATEGORY
 The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

GROUP

Loans and 
receivables

R’000

Held to 
maturity

R’000

Available 
for sale

R’000

Non-
financial 

assets
R’000

Total
R’000

2012
Property, plant and equipment – – – 313 704 313 704
Goodwill – – – 462 220 462 220
Intangible assets – – – 31 825 31 825
Financial assets 3 152 – – – 3 152
Deferred tax – – – 8 250 8 250
Inventories – – – 65 972 65 972
Current tax receivable – – – 368 368
Amounts due from contract customers 635 412 – – – 635 412
Trade and other receivables 50 360 – – 6 726 57 086
Cash and cash equivalents 404 389 – – – 404 389

1 093 313 – – 889 065 1 982 378

2011
Property, plant and equipment – – – 307 528 307 528

Goodwill – – – 462 220 462 220

Intangible assets – – – 35 308 35 308

Financial assets 2 250 – – – 2 250

Deferred tax – – – 10 118 10 118

Inventories – – – 40 228 40 228

Current tax receivable – – – 7 811 7 811

Amounts due from contract customers 569 624 – – – 569 624

Trade and other receivables 45 497 – – 5 606 51 103

Cash and cash equivalents 138 763 – – – 138 763

756 134 – – 868 819 1 624 953
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34. FINANCIAL ASSETS BY CATEGORY (continued)

COMPANY

Loans and 
receivables

R’000

Held to 
maturity

R’000

Available 
for sale

R’000

Non-
financial 

assets
R’000

Total
R’000

2012
Property, plant and equipment – – – 91 91
Investments in subsidiaries – – – 549 427 549 427
Loans to Group companies 209 925 – – – 209 925
Current tax receivable – – – 479 479
Trade and other receivables 28 – – 4 020 4 048
Cash and cash equivalents 288 424 –  – – 288 424

498 377 –  – 554 017 1 052 394

2011
Property, plant and equipment – – – 114 114

Investments in subsidiaries – – – 544 360 544 360

Loans to Group companies 203 246 –  –  – 203 246

Current tax receivable – –  – 307 307

Trade and other receivables 5 827 – – 169 5 996

Cash and cash equivalents 9 931 – – – 9 931

219 004 –  – 544 950 763 954

35. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY
 The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

GROUP

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised 
cost

R’000

Non-
financial

 liabilities
R’000

Total
R’000

2012
Financial liabilities 346 498 – 346 498
Instalment sale liabilities 23 774 – 23 774
Deferred tax  – 45 402 45 402
Provisions  – 8 065 8 065
Current tax payable – 36 048 36 048
Trade and other payables 231 169 1 400 232 569
Amounts received in advance – 34 589 34 589
Amount due to contract customers – 108 930 108 930

601 441 234 434 835 875
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35. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY (continued)

GROUP

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised 
cost

R’000

Non-
financial

 liabilities
R’000

Total
R’000

2011
Financial liabilities 80 498 – 80 498
Instalment sale liabilities 18 034 – 18 034
Deferred tax – 43 038 43 038
Provisions – 7 881 7 881
Current tax payable  – 9 914  9 914
Trade and other payables 299 282 534 299 816
Amounts received in advance  – 45 883 45 883
Amount due to contract customers  – 170 851 170 851
Bank overdraft  2 728  – 2 728

400 542 278 101 678 643

COMPANY

Financial
 liabilities at

 amortised 
cost

R’000

Non-
financial

 liabilities
R’000

Total
R’000

2012
Financial liabilities 290 000 – 290 000
Trade and other payables 8 460 – 8 460

298 460 – 298 460

2011
Financial liabilities 20 000 – 20 000

Loans from Group companies 41 525 – 41 525

Deferred tax – 20 20

Trade and other payables 7 302 76 7 378

68 827 96 68 923

36. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
  On 3 December 2012 CIG announced the acquisition of a 30,5% interest in Angola Environmental Serviços Limitada (AES), 

an Angolan based company providing waste management services to the oil and gas sector for US$15,25 million. Through its 
operations, AES introduces CIG to another thriving business that can harvest the opportunities that the African continent presents. 
The Group is confident that the acquisition will be earnings enhancing over time as AES continues to thrive in a buoyant market. 
Although it is anticipated that the required Angolan regulatory approvals may take in excess of a year to be fulfilled, CIG will be 
actively involved in the management of the business from signature date.

 The directors are not aware of any other significant subsequent events.
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37. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

GROUP

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Operating segments
Revenue

Heavy building materials 272 898 202 890

Power 1 280 624 1 242 666

Power – local operations 534 020 807 236

Power – foreign operations 746 604 435 430

Total 1 553 522 1 445 556

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments
Heavy building materials 17 765 11 792

Power 18 390 12 130

Corporate 3 526 3 548

Total 39 681 27 470

EBITDA
Heavy building materials 57 840 28 299

Power 179 264 165 866

Corporate (12 044) (7 375)

Total 225 060 186 790

Reconciliation of EBITDA to profit before tax
EBITDA 225 060 186 790

Gain on settlement of instalment sale liabilities – –

Depreciation and amortisation (39 681) (27 470)

Net interest received/(paid) 2 671 (4 919)

Profit before tax 188 050 154 401

Assets acquired
Heavy building materials 3 007 28 523

Power 42 473 41 489

Corporate 20 11

Total 45 500 70 023

 Total assets
Heavy building material 448 705 422 956

Power 868 846 848 016

Corporate 1 442 983 1 137 134

Total assets including Group loan accounts 2 760 534 2 408 106

Inter-group elimination (778 156) (783 153)

Total 1 982 378 1 624 953
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37. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

GROUP

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Liabilities
Heavy building material 363 029 336 104

Power 419 397 515 704

Corporate 316 426 60 630

Inter-group elimination (262 977) (233 795)

Total 835 875 678 643

38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
  During the reporting period the terms of the three share option schemes were amended which resulted in a change from a cash-

settled to an equity-settled share option scheme. This was a result of management’s decision to issue shares in the company as 
opposed to cash to the members of the share option scheme. The amendment was effective from 1 September 2011.

  Accordingly the share-based payment liability was transferred to a share-based payment reserve in the statement of changes in 
equity.

Director share option scheme First grant Second grant

Grant date 10 December 2010 1 September 2011

Number of options granted 2 563 158 900 465

Vesting period 4 years 4 years

Vesting conditions  16% real growth in earnings 
to be achieved for 100% of 
options to vest

 16% real growth in earnings 
to be achieved for 100% of 
options to vest

Expiry date 10 years 10 years

Fair value of options vested at reporting date R6,60 million R1,03 million

The fair value of the options was calculated using the Black 
Scholes Option Model and was based on the following inputs:

Weighted average share price at issue/reporting date R8,34 R13,15

Expected volatility 30% 30%

Exercise price R5,38 R8,59

Expected dividends Nil Nil

Risk-fee interest rate 5% 5%

Remaining vesting period 2 years 3 years

Expected volatility was based to a large extent on historical volatility.
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Non-director share option scheme First grant

Grant date 11 April 2011

Number of options granted 1 050 000

Vesting period 4 years

Vesting conditions Continued employment required during vesting period

Expiry date 10 years

Fair value of options vested at reporting date R2,38 million

The fair value of the options was calculated using the Black 
Scholes Option Model and was based on the following inputs: 

Weighted average share price at issue/reporting date R8,34

Expected volatility 30%

Exercise price R7,00

Expected dividends Nil

Risk-fee interest rate 5%

Remaining vesting period 2 years

Expected volatility was based to a large extent on historical volatility.

Conco employee option scheme First grant

Grant date 11 April 2011

Number of options granted 1 010 000

Vesting period 4 years

Vesting conditions  15% real growth in Conco EBITDA to be achieved for 100% 
of options to vest

Expiry date 10 years

Fair value of options vested at reporting date R3,30 million

 The fair value of the options was calculated using the Black 
Scholes Option Model and was based on the following inputs: 

Weighted average share price at reporting date R8,34

Expected volatility 30%

Exercise price R8,00

Expected dividends Nil

Risk-fee interest rate 5%

Remaining vesting period 2 years

Expected volatility was based to a large extent on historical volatility.
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

 Reconciliation of share options

GROUP COMPANY

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 4 623 157 – 2 563 157 –

Granted during the year 900 465 4 623 157 900 465 2 563 157

Outstanding at the end of the year 5 523 622 4 623 157 3 463 622 2 563 157

Equity-settled share option recognised in investment in 
subsidiary – – 5 067 –

Equity-/cash-settled share option payment expense recognised 
in employee costs 6 124 5 421 2 451 4 027

Value of the equity-settled share options included in the 
share-based payment reserve at year-end 11 545 – 11 545 –

Value of the cash-settled share option liability at year-end 
incorporated into trade and other payables – 5 421 – 4 027

Intrinsic value of the options 11 840 2 555 6 011 2 117

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 August 2012
CONTINUED
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MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS
Shareholders that are, directly and indirectly, beneficially interested in 5% or more of the company’s issued ordinary shares,as far as is 
known to the company are as follows:

Number
of shares

Percentage
of shares

2012
Pan African Investment Partners II  27 726 429 23,33
Nala Empowerment Inv Co. (Pty) Ltd  13 051 643 10,98
PGR2 Investment (Pty) Ltd  11 797 708 9,93
Consolidated Power Holdings  11 321 451 9,53
Peregrine Equities (Pty) Ltd  7 722 496 6,50
Yonbor Nominees (Global Capital)  7 179 483 6,04

 78 799 210 66,31

2011
Pan African Investment Partners II  27 726 429 24,40

Consolidated Power Holdings  16 731 028 14,72

Firefly Investments  9 887 383 8,70

Phatsima Industrial  8 900 000 7,83

Yonbor Nominees (Global Capital)  7 179 483 6,32

Phatsima Brick & Clay  7 060 957 6,21

 77 485 280 68,18

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDERS
as at 31 August 2012
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PUBLIC AND NON-PUBLIC SHAREHOLDERS

2012

Number 
of

shareholders

Percentage 
of

shareholders
Number 

of  shares
Percentage 

of shares

Non-public shareholders
Directors and associates
PAIP 11 1 0,07  27 726 429 23,33
Consolidated Power Holdings 1 0,07  13 051 643 10,98
Yonbor Nominees (Global Capital) 1 0,07  7 179 483 6,04
Sweetman Siluleko 1 0,07  3 665 482 3,08
Chantilly Trading 1 0,07  1 977 329 1,66
RBG Trust 1 0,07  1 366 359 1,15
Hooman Family Trust 1 0,07  623 107 0,52
Hambridge Family Trust 1 0,07  623 107 0,52
Raoul Gamsu 1 0,07  383 000 0,32
Ivor Klitzner Family Trust 1 0,07  300 000 0,25
Ivor Klitzner 1 0,07  153 000 0,13
Anthony Dixon 1 0,07  49 500 0,04
Frank Boner 1 0,07  18 600 0,02

 13 0,87  57 117 039 48,06
Public shareholders 

General public  1 475 99,13  61 723 890 51,94
Total  1 488 100,00  118 840 929 100,00

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDERS
for the year ended 31 August 2012
CONTINUED
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PUBLIC AND NON-PUBLIC SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

2011

Number 
of

shareholders

Percentage 
of

shareholders
Number 

of  shares
Percentage 

of shares

Non-public shareholders
Directors and associates
PAIP 11 1 0,24  27 726 429 24,40
Consolidated Power Holdings 1 0,24  16 731 028 14,72
Yonbor Nominees (Global Capital) 1 0,24  7 179 483 6,32
Sweetman Siluleko 1 0,24  3 665 482 3,23
Chantilly Trading 1 0,24  2 357 491 2,07
RBG Trust 1 0,24  1 366 359 1,20
Hooman Family Trust 1 0,24  623 107 0,55
Hambridge Family Trust 1 0,24  623 107 0,55
Raoul Gamsu 1 0,24  383 000 0,34
Ivor Klitzner Family Trust 1 0,24  300 000 0,26
Ivor Klitzner 1 0,24  153 000 0,13
Anthony Dixon 1 0,24  49 500 0,04
Frank Boner 1 0,24  18 600 0,02
Phatsima Industrial 1 0,24  8 900 000 7,83
Phatsima Brick & Clay 1 0,24  7 060 957 6,21
Phatsima Quarries 1 0,24  3 071 252 2,70
Peter Baird 1 0,24  25 550 0,02

 17 4,15  80 234 345 70,60
Public shareholders 
General public  393 95,85  33 406 584 29,40
Total  410 100,00  113 640 929 100,00

The direct and indirect, beneficial and non-beneficial interests of the directors in the company’s securities as at the financial year-end, as 
far as could be determined is, as follows:

2012 2011

 

Beneficial 
direct 

and indirect
(including

their
associates)

Total 
beneficial

percentage

Beneficial 
direct 

and indirect
(including

their
associates)

Total 
beneficial

percentage

B Berelowitz  6 840 675 5,76  8 840 675 7,78
R Gamsu  1 749 359 1,47  1 749 359 1,54
I Klitzner  453 000 0,38  453 000 0,40
F Boner  557 061 0,47  557 061 0,49
A Dixon  49 500 0,04  49 500 0,02
P Baird  –  –  25 550 0,04

 9 649 595 8,12  11 675 145 10,27
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SHAREHOLDER SPREAD

2012

Number 
of

shareholders

Percentage 
of

shareholders
Number 

of  shares
Percentage 

of shares

Strate
 0 –  1 000  169 044 0,14 658 44,22
 1 001 – 10 000  1 559 809 1,31 413 27,76
 10 001 – 100 000  4 649 805 3,91 155 10,42
 100 001 – 500 000  9 703 262 8,16 41 2,76
 500 001 – 1 000 000  4 168 724 3,51 6 0,40
1 000 001 and more  98 573 207 82,95 18 1,21

 118 823 851 99,99  1 291 86,76

Certificated 
0 –  10 000 16 978 0,01 197 13,24
Total  118 840 929 100,00 1488 100,00

2011

Number 
of

shareholders

Percentage 
of

shareholders
Number 

of  shares
Percentage 

of shares

Strate
 0 –  1 000  48 286 0,03 94 22,93

 1 001 – 10 000  715 564 0,63 175 42,68

 10 001 – 100 000  1 935 692 1,70 72 17,56

 100 001 – 500 000  6 004 580 5,28 25 6,10

 500 001 – 1 000 000  3 460 336 3,04 7 1,71

1 000 001 and more  101 476 281 89,30 18 4,39

 113 640 739 99,99  391 95,37

Certificated 
0 –  10 000 190 0,01 19 4,63

Total  113 640 929 100,00 410 100,00

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDERS
for the year ended 31 August 2012
CONTINUED



COMPANY INFORMATION

GLOSSARY OF TERMS
ABET Adult Basic Education and Training
AES  Angola Environmental Services Ltd
ASPASA  Association of Sand and Aggregate Producers of 

South Africa
CIG Consolidated Infrastructure Group Ltd
Conco Consolidated Power Projects (Pty) Ltd
CSI Corporate Social Investment
CSR Corporate Social Responsibility
DSS Drift SuperSand (Pty) Ltd
EBITDA  Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and 

amortisation
EPC Engineering, procurement and construction
FAT Factory Assessment Testing
GRI  Global Reporting Initiative
HEPS  Headline earnings per share
IDC  Industrial Development Corporation (of South Africa)
IFC  International Finance Corporation
IoDSA Institute of Directors South Africa
IRAS Integrated Reporting and Assurance Services
JSE Johannesburg Stock Exchange

LTI  Lost time injury
LTIP Long-term incentive plan
NUM National Union of Mineworkers
O&M Operations and maintenance
PIDA  Programme for Infrastructure Development in Africa
PPE Personal protective equipment
REIPP  Renewable Energy Independent Power Producers 

(programme)
SABS South African Bureau of Standards
SAIEE South African Institute of Electrical Engineers
SANAS South African National Accreditation System
SAT Site Assessment Testing
SENS Stock Exchange News Service
SHERQ Safety, health, environment, risk and quality
SMME Small, medium and micro enterprises
STIP Short-term incentive plan
UASA United Association of South Africa
VCT Voluntary Counselling and Testing
VWAP Volume weighted average price
WECB West End Claybrick (Pty) Ltd

COUNTRY OF INCORPORATION AND DOMICILE
South Africa

COMPANY REGISTRATION NUMBER
2007/004935/06

NATURE OF BUSINESS AND PRINCIPAL 
ACTIVITIES
 Turnkey constructor for the electricity supply industry and supplier 
of heavy building materials to the construction industry

REGISTERED OFFICE
Commerce Square, Building 2
39 Rivonia Road, Cnr Melville Road
Sandhurst 2196

PO Box 651455, Benmore 2010

DIRECTORS 
RD Gamsu (Chief executive officer)
IM Klitzner (Executive director (finance and strategy))
B Berelowitz (Chairman of Consolidated Power Projects)
F Boner (Chairman)*
K Bucknor#

A Darko* #

AD Dixon*
R Horton*
J Nwokedi*

COMPANY SECRETARY
Probity Business Services (Pty) Ltd
Registration number 2000/002046/07
11 Cradock Avenue, Rosebank 2196

AUDITORS
PKF (Jhb) Inc.
Chartered Accountants (SA) 
Registered Auditors
Registration number 1994/001166/21
42 Wierda Road West, Wierda Valley 2196

SPONSOR
Java Capital Trustees and Sponsors (Pty) Ltd
Registration number 2006/005780/07
2 Arnold Road, Rosebank 2196

TRANSFER SECRETARIES
Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd
Registration number: 2004/003647/07
70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001

For further information regarding this report and its contents, 
please contact Ivor Klitzner, chief financial officer of CIG,  
on +27 11 280 4040 or ivor@ciglimited.co.za

* Independent
# Ghanaian



Diversified capabilities, strength to deliver
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